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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADAZ
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff,
-vs- CASE NO: CR8355
DEPT NO: VIl
NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS,
aka Norman Harold Flowers,
#1179383
Defendant.
GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT

1 hereby agree to plead guilty, pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25
(1970), to: COUNTS 1 & 2 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER (Category A Felony), as more

fully alleged in the charging document attached hereto as Exhibit "1".

My decision to plead guilty by way of the Alford decision is based upon the plea
agreement in this case which is as follows:

Both parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prison without the possiblility of parole
on Count 1. The parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prison with the possiblilty of parole
on Count 2, Count 2 to run concurrent to Count 1. Defendant stipulates that the sentence in
this case will run consecutive to C228755. Defendant agrees to withdraw his appeal in SC
Case Nos. 53159 and 55759.

I agree to the forfeiture of any and all weapons or any interest in any weapons seized
and/or impounded in connection with the instant case and/or any other case negotiated in
whole or in part in conjunction with this piea agreement.
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I understand and agree that, if 1 fail to interview with the Department of Parole and
Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent
maglstrate, by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new cnmmal chargcs
including reckless driving or DUI, but excluding minor traffic violations, that the State wnll
have the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable
for the crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions I
may have to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, life
without the possibility of parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a
definite twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.

Otherwise I am entitled to receive the benefits of these negotiations as stated in this
plea agreement.

CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA
By pleading guilty pursuant to the Alford decision, it is my desire to avoid the

possibility of being convicted of more offenses or of a greater offense if [ were 1o proceed to
trial on the original charge(s) and of also receiving a greater penalty. 1 understand that my

decision to plead guilty by way of the Alford decision does not require me to admit guilt, but

is based upon my belicf that the State would present sufficient evidence at trial that a jury
would return a verdict of guilty of a greater offense or of more offenses than that to which |
am pleading guilty.

I understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty by way of the Alford decision

the Court must sentence me, on each count, to a term of LIFE without the possibility of

parole or LIFE with the possiblity of parole, with parole eligibility beginning after twenty
(20) years has been served. 1 understand that the law requires me to pay an Administrative
Assessment Fee.

I understand that, if appropriate, I will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of
the offense(s) to which 1 am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is
being dismissed or not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement. [ will als;) be ordered to

reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.

App 0244
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I understand that 1 am not eligible for probation for the offense to which I am
pleading guilty.

I also understand that I must submit to blood and/or saliva tests under the Direction of
the Division of Parole and Probation to determine genetic markers and/or secretor status. -

I further understand that if I am pleading guilty to charges of Burglary, Invasion of
the Home, Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Scll, Salc of a Controlled
Substance, or Gaming Crimes, for which 1 have prior felony conviction(s), I will not be
eligible for probation and may receive a higher sentencing range.

I understand that if more than one sentence of imprisonment is imposed and 1 am
eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judge has the discretion to order
the sentences served concurrently or consecutively.

T also understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges, or
charges to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered by the judge at

sentencing.

1 have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. 1 know
that my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute.

I understand that if my attorney or the Stale of Nevada or both recommend any
specific punishment to the Court, the Court is not obligated to accept the recommendation.

I understand that if the State of Nevada has agreed to recommend or stipulate a
particular sentence or has agreed not to present argument regarding the sentence, or agreed
not to oppose a particular sentence, or has agreed to disposition as a gross misdemeanor
when the offense could have been treated as a felony, such agreement is contingent upon my
appearance in court on the initial sentencing date (and any subsequent dates if the sentencing
is continued). 1 understand that if I fail to appear for the scheduled sentencing date or |
commit a new criminal offense prior to sentencing the State of Nevada would regain the full
right to argue for any lawful sentence.

i
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1 understand if the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty to was committed while |

was incarcerated on another charge or while I was on probation or parole that I am not
eligible for credit for time served toward the instant offense(s).
] understand that if I am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will

likely result in scrious negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:

1. The removal from the United States through deportation;

2 An inability to reenter the United States;

3 The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

4, An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
5

An indeterminate term of confinement, with the United States Federal
Govemment based on my conviction and immigration status.

Regardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this
conviction will not result in negative immigration consequences and/or impﬁct my ability to
become a United States citizen and/or a legal resident.

I understand that the Division of Parole and Probation will prepare a report for the
sentencing judge prior to sentencing. This report will include matters relevant to the issue of
sentencing, including my criminal history. This report may contain hearsay information
regarding my background and criminal history. My attorney and I will each have the
opportunity to comment on the information contained in the report at the time of sentencing.
Unless the District Attorney has specifically agreed otherwise, then the District Attorney
may also comment on this report.

WAIVER OF RIGHTS

By entering my plea of guilty, | understand that I am waiving and forever giving up

the following rights and privileges:

.  The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including the
right to refuse to testify at trial, in which event the prosecution would
not be allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal (o testify.

2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,
free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which
trial I would be entitled to the assistance of an attorney, either appointed
or retained. At trial the State would bear the burden of proving beyond

4
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a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3.  The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses
who would testify against me.

4, The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.

5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney,
either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and
agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). | understand this means [
am unconditionally waiving my right 10 a direct appeal of this
conviction, including any challenge based wupon reasonable
constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality
of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, 1 remain free

to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies
including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA

| have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my
attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.

T understand that the State would have to prove each element of the charge(s) against
me at trial.

1 have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, defense strategies and
circumstances which might be in my favor.

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been
thoroughly explained to me by my attomey.

[ believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest,
and that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attomey, and I am
not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those
set forth in this agreement. _

I am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or
other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this
agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

i
H

App 0247




00 =2 O A W

MR R R RN N RN R e o e e e e o e bt
0 ~Jd O th AW N = O YN R W N = O

My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreement and

its consequences to my satisfaction and [ am satisfied with the services provided by my

attomey.
DATED this {/D day of June, 2011.

e L

AKA NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS
Defendant

AGREED TO BY:

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL:

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of
the court hereby certify that:

1. I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contained in the
charge(s) to which Alford pleas are being entered.

2. I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the
restitution that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

3. Thave in%uired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant’s immigration
status and explained to Defendant that if Defendant is not a United
States citizen any criminal conviction will most hkelig result in serious
negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:

a The removal from the United States through deportation;
b. An inability to reenter the United States;

c. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

d. An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status;
and/or

e.  An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States

- . Federal Government based on the conviction and immigration
status.

Morcover, | have explained that regardless of what Defendant may have
been told by any attorney, no one can promise Defendant that this
conviction will not result in negative immigration consequences and/or
impact Defendant’s ability to become a United States citizen and/or
legal resident.

4, All pleas of Alford offered by the Defendant pursuant to this agreement
are consistent with the facts known to me and are made with my advice
to the Defendant.

5. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant:

a. Is competent and understands the charges and the consequences
of pleading Alford as provided in this agreement,

b. Executed this a%rtement and will enter all Alford pleas pursuant
hereto voluntarily, and

C. Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled
substance or other drug at the time | consulted with the
Defendant as certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above.

Dated: This IO day of June, 2011.

hjc/SVU
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DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781
PAMELA WECKERLY
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163
200 South Third Street
Las Ve as, Nevada 89155-2212
g]OZ) 4 5-4711

ttorney for Plamtlff
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. DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA _,
| | |

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
. Plaintiff, ' ' !
vs- ' Case No. C216032
Dept. No. VIII
NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka,
Norman Harold Flowers, 111, Lo
#1]793_83 , _ ' AMENDED
INDICTMENT
Defendant.
STATE OF NEVADA
§8.
COUNTY OF CLARK

The Defendant above named, NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka, Norman
Harold Flowers, 111, accused by the Clark County Grand Jury of the crimes of FIRST
D‘EGREE MURDER (Category A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030); committed at and
within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or about the 3rd day of May, 2005, as

follows:
"
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COUNT 1 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER

did then and there wilfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with
premeditation and deliberation, and with malice aforetbought, kill victim, a human being,
MARILEE COOTE, by manual strangulation with his hands and/or an unknown object;
Defendant being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by Kkilling MARILEE COOTE with premeditation, deliberation and
malice aforethought; and/or (2) by killing MARILEE COOTE during the perpetration or
attempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or burglary.
COUNT 2 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER

did then and there wilfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with
prcmcdita.tion and deliberation, and with malice aforethought, kill RENA GONZALES, a
human being, by manual strangulation, Defendant being responsible under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by killing RENA GONZALES with
premeditation, deliberation and malice aforethought, and/or (2) by killing RENA
GONZALES during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or

burglary.
DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781
BY
Chief Deg;uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163
05BGJ016X/05F 10466 X/ic/SVU
LVMPD EV# 0505030926/0505032974
(TRK11)
2 PAWPDOC SUNDAS 1008 1046603 doc
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CLERS OF THE COLRT
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
)
STATE OF NEVADA,
CASE NO. C216032
Plaintiff, DEPT. VIl
vs. ; oo >
Truudp! of Precasdings

(RIS

Defendant.

BEFORE THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS E. SMITH, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

FRIDAY, JUNE 10, 2011
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

CALENDAR CALL
APPEARANCES:
For the State: ELISSA LUZAICH, ESQ.
PAM WECKERLY, ESQ.
Chief Deputy District Attorneys
For the Defendant: DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ.

Special Public Defender

CLARK W. PATRICK, ESQ.
Deputy Special Public Defender

RECORDED BY: JILL JACOBY, COURT RECORDER

- P

App 0252

i




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

21

23

24

25

FRIDAY, JUNE 10, 2011 AT 8:39 A M.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor.
THE COURT: Yeah.
MR. PATRICK: May we approach?
THE COURT: Yeah.
[Bench Conference Begins]
MR. PATRICK: Good morning. | think we have this negotiated.
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. PATRICK: There's one small sticking point. Mr. Flowers would like to

speak to his mom for about five minutes to make sure he's doing the right thing.

MS. LUZAICH: She's right there.
THE COURT: | don't care.
MS. WECKERLY: Yeah, we don't care either.
MS. LUZAICH: No.
MR. PATRICK: Let me -
THE COURT: Where's the officer?

We can all leave here.
MR. PATRICK: Yeah.
MS. LUZAICH: Yeah, we're going upstairs to get paperwork anyway. So.
THE COURT: Okay.

[Bench Conference Conciudes)

THE COURT: Mr. Flowers wants to talk to his mother. This is his mother.
THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Uh-huh.
THE COURT: You can't touch him. Do you understand that, ma'am? You

App 0253
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can’'t hug him, can't -- in fact, if you want to sit Mr. Flowers here, she can —- we're
going to move everybody out of the courtroom so that they — you obviously will stay.

THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Uh-huh.

THE COURT: | don't get involved in that. But if there’s anything you feel
uncomfortable about, you pull him out. Okay?

THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Okay.

THE COURT: Don't touch him, hug him. You talk to her.

MR. SCHIECK: You understand you'll be in the front row and he'll be on the
other side there in the front. They'll sit in the front.

THE COURT: It just be you and him and this officer. | can't do anything
about that. But I'll pull my staff out.

[Matter trailed at 8:40 a.m.]
[Matter recalled at 9:46 a.m.]

THE COURT: C216032, Norman Flowers. 1s this resolved?

MR. PATRICK: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Then we’ll go to trial. You understand you're looking at
the death penalty.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Twice. And once we walk out the door, there's no negotiation,
we're going to trial.

THE DEFENDANT: | want it resolved, but they want me to waive my right --

THE COURT: There won't —

THE DEFENDANT: — my appeal on —

THE COURT: There won't be another negotiation. Do you understand? No

chance.
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THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive -

THE COURT: None.

. THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive my right, Your Honor, on another
case.

THE COURT: You know what? That's up to you.

MR. PATRICK: Norman, there's no chance you're going to get any action on
the direct appeal. Okay?

THE COURT: There is no chance that you're going to get a better offer than
today.

THE DEFENDANT: If I'm not going to get no action on direct appeal, why do
| have to waive that right, then? It shouldn’t matter.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PATRICK: Okay.

THE COURT: That's your privilege to — 'm not -- | don’t have a dog in the
fight, | don’t care one way or the other, I'm here for the next three weeks anyway.
I've got it set trial. But understand, you have to take the decision that you've made.
Do you understand? No deals once | leave this room. That’s okay.

Monday mommning at 9:30.

MS. WECKERLY: Your Honor -

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, a couple of things, please. We need
Mr. Flowers remanded today to CCDC.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. PATRICK: Also, do we have a schedule as — are we going to be dark
next Thursday or how is that going to work?

THE COURT: We're going to try and find a courtroom.
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here.

MR. PATRICK: Okay.
THE COURT: For the moming.

MR. PATRICK: Very good.

THE COURT: The aftemoon we'll probably be able to try it from 1 o'clock on

MR. PATRICK: Okay. So 9:30 Monday?
THE COURT: Monday at 9:30.
MR. PATRICK: The last thing and | talked to the State about this. | have a

DNA expert, his only available day would be Monday the 20" to testify. So even if

we might have to call him out of order --

MS. WECKERLY: That's fine.

THE COURT: |don't care.

MS. WECKERLY: That's fine. So 9:30, Monday.

MS. LUZAICH: Can we just get a tentative schedule for your hours?

THE COURT; We start at 9:30. Tuesday, | vacated all of my civil except two

cases so we should be ready by 9 o'clock on Tuesday.

MS. WECKERLY: Okay. Thank you.
THE COURT: Wednesday, 9:30. And we stop at 4:30, of course. Thursday,

probably 1 o'clock, unless | can find a courtroom. And Friday, we could actually

start at 8 o'clock, but that would difficult for -

MS. LUZAICH: No, no, no, no, no.

MR. PATRICK: That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Lisa -

MS. WECKERLY: No.

THE COURT: Lisa can't even get up that early.
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MS. LUZAICH: I've got kids, I'm up, I'm just not here.

THE COURT: ['ve got kids, I'm up too. So.

MS. LUZAICH: Can we just start at 9 on Friday?

THE COURT: Yeah. Friday, we'll start at 9.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you. And if the Court remembers, the second week,
my daughter -- you were going to give me Wednesday moming off, the 22",

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you.

THE COURT; Or you -- maybe you don’t have to be here.

MS. LUZAICH: No, no, no.

MR. SCHIECK: Judge, can you sit for one second? Just - please. Thank
you very much, Your Honor.

[Pause in proceeding]

MS. LUZAICH: Judge, do you bring in 65 in Monday and 65 Tuesday?

THE COURT: [Nods head yes.]

MS. LUZAICH: Oh. Oh, okay.

MR. PATRICK: Oh, do we want to put together a -- I've got a list of ours that
we would excuse for cause without even bringing them in.

Oh, okay. Never mind.

MS. LUZAICH: But there were two jurors that you had copies of one --

MR. PATRICK: Right. Right.

MS. LUZAICH: - had travel plans and the other something.

THE CLERK: | have copies right here. | have one for — one for each side.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you.

[Colloquy among counsel]
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MS. LUZAICH: | had two jurors that were going, like, planning on being out of

town on Monday. Like, are they already excused? One was leaving town on the

12", No?

THE COURT: | haven't excused anybody.
MS. LUZAICH: Okay. |just - | had one that was leaving town on the 12
THE COURT: | gave you the two documents that | got. That’s all ['ve done.

| haven't -

MS. WECKERLY: Okay. We -- if we have a list of agreed-upon people -
THE COURT: Yeah.
MS. WECKERLY: - and we get it to the Court this aftemoon.
THE COURT: Yep.
[Colloquy among Counsel]
MR. PATRICK: Judge, I'm sorry, this case has been negotiated.
MS. LUZAICH: Oh, okay.
THE COURT: Okay. What's the negotiation?
MR. PATRICK: Could we have five minutes to go over —
THE COURT: Yep.
MR. PATRICK: -- the Guilty Plea Agreement with Mr. Flowers, please.
THE COURT: Yep. I'll just sit right here. You tell me when you're ready. Or

do you want me to leave?

MS. LUZAICH: I'm going to give Kathy the Amended Indictment -
THE COURT: If you want me to leave, ['ll leave.
MS. LUZAICH: - just so that she has it.
THE CLERK: Iwon'tfile it yet.
[Pause in proceedings]

.7-
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MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, may | approach and have these filed in open
court?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE CLERK: Amended Indictment.

MR. PATRICK: Oh, for me?

THE CLERK: One for you and one for the State.

THE COURT: This is C216032, State of Nevada versus Norman Flowers. Is
this resolved?

MR. PATRICK: itis, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Negotiations.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, today Mr. Flowers is going to plead guilty
pursuant to North Carolina v Alford on Counts 1 and 2 of the Amended Indictment
charging first-degree murder. The parties have stipulated to sentence on Count 1 of
life in prison without the possibility of parole. On Count 2, the parties have
stipulated to a sentence of life in prison with the possibility of parole. Count 2 to run
concurrent to Count 1. And Count 1 to run consecutive to C228755.

MS. WECKERLY: That's correct, Your Honor. [t'll be the sentence in this
case that'll run consecutive to C228755. And the Defendant --

MR. PATRICK: Oh, I'm sorry.

MS. WECKERLY: Go ahead.

MR. PATRICK: Okay. And the Defendant is withdrawing his appeal under
Supreme Court Case Numbers 53159 and 55759.

THE COURT: Is that your understanding of the negotiations, sir? -

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you accept those negotiations after discussing the matter
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fully with your three attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You read, write, and understand English?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've had a chance to read through your Guilty Plea
Agreement and your Amended indictment, discuss that fully with your attorney and
you understand them?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: The Amended Indictment indicates on or about May 3", 2005,
that you committed Count 1, first-degree murder where you did then and there
willfully, feloniously, without authority of law with premeditation, deliberation, or with
malice aforethought to kil a victim, a human being, Marilee Coote, by manual
strangulation with hands and/or an unknown object. Defendant being responsible
on one or more of the following principles or criminal liability: (1) by killing Marilee
Coote with premeditation, deliberation, and malice aforethought; and/or (2) by killing
Marilee Coote during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a sexual assauit
or burglary.

And Count 2, first-degree murder, did then and there willfully,
feloniously, without authority of law and with premeditation and deliberation with
malice aforethought kill Rena Gonzales, a human being, by manual strangulation.
Defendant being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability to wit: (1) by killing Rena Gonzales with premeditation, deliberation,
and malice aforethought; and/or Number 2, by killing Rena Gonzales during the
perpetration or attempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or burglary.

You've read that and discussed that fully with your attomey. And do
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you have any questions for the Court about your Amended Indictment?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Now, it's my understanding that you wish to plead guilty
pursuant to the Alford plea; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

THE COURT: That means you're not admitting guilt, but you have heard the
evidence as the State's going to present it and you believe that they will meet their
burden of proof and to avoid a harsher sentence on one or more counts, you've
agreed to enter this plea; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: What would the State prove?

MS. WECKERLY: Your Honor, on May the 3™ at 2005 at the Silver Pines
Apartments some -

THE COURT: Listen to what she says because I'm going to ask if that's what
they prove, not that you're pleading guiity to it, but you think that's what she would
prove.

MS. WECKERLY: Silver Pines Apartment employees discovered the body of
Marilee Coote lying in her living room. She was lying face up and she was
completely nude. Inside of her belly button were ashes from burned incense. The
skin between her upper thighs and pubic area was burned. Her apartment was
locked, but her purse and keys were missing. Inside of her washing machine and
inside of her bathtub, police found personal photos, bills, and identification belonging
to Ms. Coote. The items appeared to have gone through a wash cycle.

At autopsy, the doctor concluded that she died as a result of

strangulation. He also noted tearing in the area of her labia and anal area

-10-
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consistent with the sexual assault that was antemortem. Ms. Coote also had
contusions on her forearms and upper arms.

Another lady who was at the apartment complex that day is named
Juanita Curry. Between 7 and 10 a.m., Mr. Flowers was seen by Ms. Cunry and had
several conversations with her. Ms. Curry had a conversation with Mr. Flowers
about police and paramedics going in and out of Coote’s apartment, and Curry
described Mr. Flowers as turning away and avoiding looking at the police when they
come — when they came down the stairs. In his interactions with Juanita Curry, he
repeatedly asked to use her phone, he came back and asked for water, he asked to
use her bathroom. She agreed with all these requests, but she always stepped out
of her apartment when he stepped inside of it. During their final encounter, he
commented that the police made her — made him nervous. And he also tried to kiss
her when he separated from her.

Ms. Curry observed Mr. Flowers in the area of the doorway to another
lady's apartment at the complex that moming and that's a woman by the name of
Rena Gonzales. At 4 o'clock that aftemoon, Rena Gonzales's two school-aged
daughters returned home and found their mother on her knees leaning across her
bed in the master bedroom. Her apartment was completely clean but there was a
broken plastic hairpiece in the doorway and one of her shoes indicating there was
an area struggle near the doorway.

A black phone cord and black lanyard were around the neck of Rena
Gonzalez, She was dressed in shorts which were'slightly pulled down and then the
pair or the matching hairclip from the one in the doorway was found on her head.

At autopsy, Dr. Simms noted extensive bruising to her right breast, her

right arm, her right leg. He concluded that she died as a result of strangulation. He

11-
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also noted tearing to her vaginal and anal area.

It was a woman who lived in the apartment complex by the name of
Mawusi Ragtand who Mr. Flowers had socialized with in the past. He called her on
the evening that the two homicides were discovered and Ms. Ragland brought up
the fact that the two women had been killed and that she was acquainted with them
and Mr. Flowers commented as to Rena Gonzales: | didn’t kill her.

Mr. Flowers' DNA was found in the vaginal swabs taken from Marilee
Coote at autopsy. His DNA was also found in the piece of carpet under which - or,
well, that Marilee Coote was lying upon. And his DNA was specifically found in the
area where her legs and pubic area would have been.

The State also had evidence that three months earlier, and this was
admitted as a result of a bad acts motion, Mr. Quarles — or Mr. Flowers’ DNA was
found in the vaginal area of a young woman 18 years old by the name of Sheila
Quarles. Ms. Quarles actually had two DNA samples found in her when she was
killed and she also had indications of sexual assault. The one DNA source was an
individual by the name of George Brass, but he had an alibi and had checked into
work by the time of the murder. The other individual whose DNA was identified was
Mr. Flowers. And the police later leamed through investigation that Mr. Flowers was
acquainted with Sheila Quarles because he had dated her mother.

As a result of these facts as to the instant case, the State would be able
to estabiish as to Marilee Coote, charges of murder, sexual assault, burglary, and
robbery. As to Rena Gonzales, the charges, because of the lanyard, would be
murder with a deadly weapon, sexual assault, burglary, and robbery.

THE COURT: This happened in Clark County, Nevada.
MS. WECKERLY: That's correct.

-12-
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THE COURT: Is that your understanding what the State probably would
prove at trial?

THE DEFENDANT: | can't really say.

THE COURT: Do you have any quarrel with them proving that at trial?
You've talked to your attomeys.

THE DEFENDANT: Al I know, Your Honor, is | want to do this, but -

THE COURT: Ask - talk -~

[Colloquy between Counsel and Defendant]

THE DEFENDANT: One of their cases alone forensic evidence says | wasn't
even in —

THE COURT: All right.

THE DEFENDANT: - the resident.

THE COURT: All right. | understand. You've talked to your attorneys. The
State had to give an offer of proof what they would prove at trial. And you're going
to plead guilty not because you are guity because they would prove that at trial and
you're trying to avoid a harsher penalty; is that right?

[Colloquy between Counsel and Defendant]

MR. SCHIECK: | think the question is: Do you understand that that's the
evidence that the State would intend to present at trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Both parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prison
without the possibility of parole on Count 1. Parties stipulate to a sentence of life in
prison with the possibility of parole in Count 2. Count 2 to run concurrent to
Count 1. Defendant stipulates that the sentence will in this case will run consecutive

to C228755. Defendant agrees to withdraw his appeal in Supreme Court

App 0264




10

1L

12

13

4

15

18

17

18

18

20

21

23

24

25

Case 53159 and 5§57589.
[s that your stipulation?

MR. PATRICK: Yes, Your Honor.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you agree to forfeit any and all weapons that of -- or
interest in any weapons seized in conjunction with the instant case or cases that will
be dismissed?

| don’t think any weapons were taken, were there?

MS. LUZAICH: That's correct.

THE COURT: Okay. We can probably do this from a PSI from that other
case in a week.

MS. WECKERLY: Yeah, | think that would work.

THE COURT: You understand we could do this from a PSI from that other
case that we wouldn't have to go to another interview with Department of Parole and!
Probation.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor -

THE COURT: Do you want a new PSI?

MR. PATRICK: We don’t necessarily want a new PSI, but —

MR. SCHIECK: Maybe an amended one. So.

MR. PATRICK: Maybe an amended one, so could we have 30 days?

THE COURT: Yes. By pleading guilty pursuant to the Aiford decision, it is
your desire to avoid the possibility of being convicted of more offenses or of a
greater offense if you were to proceed to trial on the original charges and of also
receiving a greater penaity. You understand that your decision to plead guilty by

way of the Afford decision does not require you to admit guilt, but is based upon

-44-
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your belief that the State would present sufficient evidence at trial that a jury would
return a verdict of greater — of a greater offense or of more offenses in that to which
you are pleading guilty; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand that as a consequence of your plea of guilty
by way of the Alford decision, the Court must sentence you on each count to a term
of life without the possibility of parole or life with the possibility of parole with parole
eligibility beginning 20 years - after 20 years has been served. And you understand|
the law requires you to pay an administrative assessment fee.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand, if appropriate, the Court will order you to
make restitution for the victims of the offenses?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand you're not eligible for probation for the offense
to which you are pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You also understand if you haven't -- you probably have
submitted to a blood or saliva test under the direction of P&P to determine the
genetic markers or secretor status and pay for that.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Probably already done that.

MR. PATRICK: It has been, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You further understand that if more -- well, I'm going to follow
the recommendation. But if more than one sentence is imposed, it's up to the

Judge. I'm telling you by this negotiation, I'm going to follow the recommendation of

-15-

App 0266




10

1

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

the parties.

You understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed
charges, or charges to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered
by the Judge at sentencing.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've not been promised or guaranteed any particular
sentence by anyone other than what's been mentioned here in court?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you a citizen of the United States?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: We're going to order a P&P report update of the PSI from
C228755 and ask them to do that within a 30-day period.

By entering your - and that may include hearsay information that | can
rely on. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: The PSI. By entering a plea of guilty, you understand or
waiving and forever giving up the following privileges: Number 1, the constitutional
privilege against self-incrimination, including the right to refuse to testify at trial in
which event prosecution would not be ailowed to comment to the jury about your
refusal to testify.

MR. PATRICK: Excuse me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sure.

[Colloquy between Counsel and the Defendant]
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Number 2, the constitutional right to a speedy and a public trial

-16-
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by an impartial jury free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense at
which trial you would be entitled to the assistance of an attomey either appointed or
retained. At trial, the State would bear the burden of proof beyond a reasonable
doubt each element of the offenses charged. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You're giving up the constitutional right to confront and cross-
examine any witnesses who would testify against you, constitutional right to
subpoena witnesses to testify on your behalf. And the right — excuse me - to testify
in your own defense. You understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You're also giving up the right to appeal your conviction with
the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specificalty
reserved in writing and upon agreed as provided by NRS 174.035.

You understand this means that you are unconditionally waiving your
right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any chailenge based upon
reasonable, constitutional, jurisdictional, or other grounds that challenge the legality
of these proceedings as stated in NRS 177.051. However, you will remain free to
challenge any conviction through post-conviction remedies including a habeas
corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've discussed the elements of the original charges against
you with your attorneys, and you understand the nature of the charges today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand the State would have to prove each element

of the charge against you at trial beyond a reasonable doubt to convict you?
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've discussed with your attomey any possible defenses,
defense strategies, and circumstances which might be in your favor?

THE DEFENDANT: Y es.

THE COURT: All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and
waiver of rights have been thoroughly explained to you by your attomey?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You believe that pleading guilty through the Alford decision
and accepting this plea bargain is in your best interest and that a trial would be
contrary to your best interest?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You signed this Guilty Plea Agreement voluntarily after
consultation with your attorney and you weren't acting under duress or coercion by
virtue of any promises of leniency except for those set forth in this agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You are not under the influence of anything now that would
impair your ability to comprehend or understand this agreement for the proceeding
surrounding your entry of plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Your attorneys have answered all your questions regarding
this Guilty Plea Agreement and its consequences to your satisfaction and you're
satisfied with their services?

THE DEFENDANT: Can you say that again, please?

THE COURT: Your attorney has answered all of your questions regarding
this Guilty Plea Agreement that I'm showing you that you signed to your satisfaction
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and its consequences to your satisfaction and your satisfied with the services
provided by all three of your attormeys?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. I'll acceptthe plea. We'll set it down for sentence.
We'll ask the Department of Parole and Probation to do an updated PSI.

Thank you, Mr. Flowers. Thank you, Counsel.

MR. SCHIECK: Your Honor, | believe we'll also be contacting the department
to point out some areas --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHIECK: - that we think need to be corrected. So that -

THE COURT: Under that new case that's come down.

MR. SCHIECK: — we'll copy -

THE COURT: Ali right.

MR. SCHIECK: We’'ll copy the DA on that.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SCHIECK: Right. Because we can't correct it later.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SCHIECK: And also we need to rescind the order of remand, he can go
ahead and go back up to the --

THE COURT: And go back to the prison. Okay. Thank you.

THE CLERK: That's July 13", 8 a.m.

MR. PATRICK: You know, I'm going to be out of the jurisdiction. Can we do
it, like, two weeks past that?

THE CLERK: Two weeks past?

MR. PATRICK: Please. Or no, just one week.

-19-
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THE CLERK: One week?
MR. PATRICK: Yeah.

THE DEFENDANT: Two weeks is fine.

THE CLERK: July 20™.

MR. PATRICK: July 20™? That's fine.

THE CLERK: A Wednesday.
THE COURT: Thank you.
MR. PATRICK: Very good.

[Proceeding concluded at 10:22 a.m ]

ATTEST: 1 hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the audio/visual

recording in the above-entitled case.

Court Recorder

-20-

App 0271




.

N e =~ O b B W N

10
11 |
12
13
14
15
16
17
13
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

L
NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, CASE NO. 531
¥ ectronically Filed
Agppellant, CASENO.55730n 13 2011 04:55 p.m.
vs. Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent

MOTION TO VOLUNTARILY DISMISS APPEALS

Appellant NormanFlowers, by and through his counsel David M. Schieck, Special Public
Defender and JoNell Thomas, Deputy Special Public Defender, and moves this Court to dismiss
his appeals docketed in this Court under Case No. 55759 and 53159 (consolidated by Order of
this Court) pursuant to a Guilty Plea Agreement filed in District Court Case No. C216032.

Appellant requests that this Court dismiss this appeal on or after July 20, 2011, which is
the date set for the sentencing hearing and imposition of judgment in the related district court
case (Case No. C216032); and requests that this Court stay all proceedings in these two appeals
(Case No. 55759 and 53159 ) until that date.

This request is based on the Declaration of Counsel attached hereto and the filed copy of
the Guilty Plea Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Dated this 13th day of June, 2011.

RES ULLY S D:

DAVID M. SCHIECK

Sgecial Public Defender
JONELL THOMAS

Deputy Special Public Defender
Neva ar No. 4771

330 S. Third St., No. 800

Las Vegas NV 89101
702-455-6270

Docket 53159 DocuméhBI 0RA2
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DECLARATION OF CLARK W, PATRICK

CLARK W. PATRICK makes the following declaration:

I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada. Iam one of the
Deputy Special Public Defender’s assigned to handle Mr, Flowers’ capital trial which was set
to commence June 13, 2011 (Eighth Judicial District Case No. C216032). Randall H. Pike, the
other Deputy assigned, was out of town on the day of the calendar call, June 10, 2011, and
therefore I appeared along with Mr. Schieck.

In addition, Mr. Schieck accompanied me when 1 went to meet with Mr. Flowers at High
Desert State Prison on June 9, 2011, to discuss his negotiations and the consequences of waiving
his appeais should he plead guilty and the consequences of dismissing the consolidated appeals
in the instant matter. JoNell Thomas, appellate attorney for Mr. Flowers, wrote him a letter
setting forth the issues involved with dismissing the appeal and we brought same with us to the
prison and discussed its contents with Mr, Flowers &t some length.

Having discussed this matter with Mr. Flowers, 1 believe that he fully understands the
consequences of dismissing these appeals and believe that doing so is in his best interest.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (NRS 53.043).

EXECUTED this 13th day of June, 2011.

CLARK W.PATRICK

App 0273

e ey 4y



e =) 9 o B e B e

NN R RN RN RN N = — —_ - —_
% 2 S th e BN NS 0V W tE W R o=

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned does hereby certify that on the 13th day of June, 2011 a copy of the
foregoing Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss Appeals was served as follows:
BY ELECTRONIC FILING TO
District Attorney’s Office
200 Lewis Ave., 3" Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89155

Nevada Attomney General

100 N. Carson St.
Carson City NV 89701 Q_D @O

David M. Schieck
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FILED IN OPEN COURT

. : ETEVEN D. GRIERSON
SAVDROGER | OLERK OF THE COURT
Clark County District Attomey - JUN 10 2011
Nevada Bar 781 -
ey .
tt
cvacla ot omey KA TERIE STRETEE DERUTY
200 Lewis Avenue :
Las Vegas, NV 80155-2212
&702) 1- 2500
ttorney for Plaintiff s
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Pleinaf H1003 3~
Vg~ CASE NO: G355
: DEPT NO: vl
NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS,
aka Norman Harold Flowers,
#1179383
Defendant.
GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT

I hereby agree to plead guilty, pursuant to North Carolina v, Alford, 400 U.S. 25

(1970), to: CQUNTS 1 & 2 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER (Category A Felony), as more

fully alleged in the charging document attached hereto as Exhibit "1".

My decision to plead guilty by way of the Alford decision is based upon the plea
agreement in this case which is as follows:

- Both parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prnson wnhout the possiblility of parole
on Count 1. The parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prison with the possiblilty of parole
on Count 2, Count 2 to nm concurrent to Count 1. Defendant snpulates that the sentence in
this case will run consecutive to C228755. Defendant agrees to withdraw his appeal m SC
Case Nos, 53159 and 55759.

I agree to the forfeiture of any and all weapons or any interest in any weapons seized
and/or impounded in connection with the instant case and/or any other case negotiated in
whole or in part in conjunction with this plea agreement.

i
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1 understand and agrec that, if I fail to interview with the Department of Parole and
Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent
magistrate, by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new criminal charges
inchuding recKless driving or DUL, but excluding minor traffic violations, that the State will
have the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable
for the crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions 1
may have to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, life
without the possibility of parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a
definite twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.

Otherwise I am entitled to receive the benefits of these negotiations as stated in this
plea.agreemmt. ' .
| CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA

By pleading guilty pursuant to the Alford decision, it is my desire to avoid the
possibility of being convicted of more offenses or of a greater offense if I were to proceed to
trial on the original charge(s) and of also receiving a greater penalty. I understand that my
decision to plead guilty by way of the Alford decision does not require me to admit guilt, but
is based upon my belicf that the State would present sufficient evidence at trial that a jury
would return a verdict of guilty of a greater offense or of more offenses than that to Whicil I
am pleading guilty.

[ understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty by way of the Alford decision
the Court must sentence me, on each count, to a term of LIFE without the possibility of
parole or LIFE with the possiBlity of parole, with parole eligibility beginning after twenty
(20) years has been served. - I understand that the law requires me to pay an Administrative
Assessment Fee. '

I understand that, if appropriate, I will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of
the offense(s) to which 1 am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is -
being dismissed or not prosecuted pﬁsuant to this agreement. [ will also be ordered to
reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.

2 App 0277




o0 - Ot B W N e

NORON NN RN NN N
O A A L B W RN = S W00 AR @ e -3

1 understand that I am not eligiblie for probatlon for the offense to. -which I am
pleading guilty. S

I also understand tha | must subsnit to blood and/or saliva tests under the Direction of
the Division of Parole and Probation to determine genetic markers and/or secretor status.

I further understand that if I am pleading guilty to charges of Burglary, Invasion of
the Home, Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Sell, Sale of a Coatrolled

Substance, or Gaming Crimes, for which I have prior felony conviction(s), I will not be

eligible for probation and may reccive a higher sentencing range.

I understand that if more than one sentence of imprisonment is imposed and I am
eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judge has the discretion to order
the sentences served concurrently or consecutively.-

I also understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges, or
charges to be dismissed pursuant to this agrccment may be considered by the judge at
sentencing, _ '

I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyonec. I know
that my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute.

IunderstandthatlfmyattomeyorﬂlesmteofNevadaorbothrecommcndany
spe(:lﬁc punishment 1o the Court, the Court is not obligated to accept the recommendation.

1 understand that if the State of Nevada has agreed to recommend or stipulate a
particular sentence or has agreed not to present argument regarding the sentence, or agreed
not to oppose a particular sentence, or has agreed to disposition as a gross misdemeanor
when the offense could have been treated as a felony, such agreement is contingent upon my
appearance in court on the initial sentencing date (and any subsequent dates if the sentencing
is continued). I understand that if I fail to appear for the scheduled sentencing date or I
commit a new criminal offense prior to sentencing the State of Nevada would regain the full
right to argue for any lawful sentence.

H
lf
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1 understand if the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty to was committed while [
was incarcerated on another charge or while I was on probation or parole that T am not
cligible for credit for time served toward the instant offense(s). - .

I understand that if I am not  United States citizen, any criminal conviction will
likely result in serious negative immigration consequences includingbut not limited to: .. |}

1. . .The removal from the United States through deportation; '

2. An insbility to recnter the United States;

3. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

4 An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or

5. .. Anindeterminate term of confinement, with the United States Federal
Government based on my conviction and immigration status. _

Regardless of what [ have been told by any attorncy, no one can promise me that this
conviction will not result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact my ability to
become a United States citizen and/or & legal resident.

I understand that the Division of Parole and Probation will prepare a report for the
sentencing judge prior to sentencing. This report will include matters relevant to the issue of
sentencing, mcludmg my criminal hlstory This report may contnin hearsay information
regarding my background and criminal history. My attorney and I will each have the
opportunity to comment on the information contained in the report at the time of sentencing.
Unless the District Attm;ney has specifically agreed otherwise, then the District Attorney

may also comment on this report.
W F RIGHTS |
By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up
the following rights and privileges: |
1.  The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including the

right to refuse to testify at trial, in which cvent the prosecution would
not be allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal to testify.

2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,
free of excessive prgth;'ia] publicity prejll:dicial to thcydcfense, at vf"hulrgh
trial | would be entitled to the assistance of an eftorney, either appointed
or retained. At trial the State would bear the burden of proving beyond
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a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses
-who would testify against me.

"4."  Theconstitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.
5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.

6.  The right' to the conviction with the assistance of an attorney
either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and
agreed 'wpnmded in NRS 174, 035(3) understand this means I

ammmhonnl wmvmgm nght aduectappea]ofth:s
n reasonable

conviction, inc c%

constitutional, jurisdi onal or other §roun ge the legnhty
of the as stated in NRS 177.0 (4) However,lremmn

to ¢ ¢ my conviction through -conviction remedies
including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to Chapter 34.

I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my
attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.

I understand that the State would have to prove oach eclement of the charge(s) against
me at trial.

I have discussed with my attorney any possible defcnses, defense strategies and
circumstances which might be in my favor.

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been
tharoughly explained to me by my attorney. '

I belicve that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best intcrét,
and that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attorney, and I am
not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except fof those

set forth in this agreement.
I am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or

other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this
agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

17
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My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guiity plea agreement and

4 its corisequences to my satisfaction and 1 am satisfied with the services provided by my

DATEDm.s(/ day of June, 2011. 7, %\

y . | AKA NORMAN HAROLDFLOWERS

Defendant

AGREED TO BY:

Chlef Dﬁ"%%‘m’u}? Attorney
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'CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL:
I, the undersign

as the attomey for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of |.

the court hereby certify that;

1.

Dated: This [O _day of June, 2011.

hje/SVU

I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contamed in the
charge(s) to which Alford pleas are being entered. -

I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the
restitution that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

I have inquired of Defendant facts conomﬁngeDefendant's immi%axion
status explained to Defendant that if Defendant is not & United
States citizen any criminal conviction will most Iikel?[ result in serious
negative immigration consequences including but not limited to: .

a The removal from the United States through deportation;
b.  An inability to reenter the United States; N
c. The inability to gain United States citizenship or Jegal residency;

d. % inability to renew and/or retain any legal residéncy status;
or

e.  An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States
- Federal Government based on the conviction and immigration

Moreover, | have explained that regardless of what Defendant may have

been told by any attorney, no one ¢an promis¢ Defendant that this

conviction will not result in ne%e immigration consequences and/or

}gg;lea [)defendant’s ability to me a United States citizen and/or
resident.

All pleas of Alford offered by the Defen%wsuant to this agreement
are consistent with the facts known to me are made with my advice

to the Defendant.
To the best of my knowledge and belicf, the Defendant:

a. Is com tandlmderstandsd:echargmaﬂdtheconsequences
of pleading Alford as provided in this agreement,

b. Executed this a,?reemcnl and will enter all Alford pleas pursuant
hereto voluntarily, and peesp

c. Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled
substance or other drug at the time [ consulted with the
Defendant as certified in paragraphs, 1 and 2 abo
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Chief District Attorney
Nevada Bar 163
200 South Third Street .
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
702) 435-4711
ttorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, - : )
Plaintff,
-vs- Case No. C216032

Dept. No. VIO
NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka, o
Norman Harold Flowers, II1,
#1179383 : . AMENDED

o AINDICTMENT
Defendant.

STATE OF NEVADA |
: a8,
COUNTY OF CLARK

The Defendant above named, NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka, Norman

Harold Flowers, III, accused by the Clark County Grand Jury of the crimes of FIRST

' DEGREE MURDER (Category A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030); committed at and

within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or about the 3rd day of May, 2005, as
follows:

i

/i

I
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COUNT 1 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER

" did then and there wilfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with
premeditation and deliberation, and with malice aforethought, kill victim, a human being,
MARILEE COOTE, by manual strangulation with his hands and/or an unknown object;
Defendant being responsible under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by killing MARILEE COOTE with premeditation, deliberation and
malice aforethought; and/or (2) by killing MARILEE COOTE during the perpetration or
attempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or burglary.
COUNT 2 - FIRST DEGREE MURDER

did then and there wilfully, feloniously, without authority of law, and with
premeditation and deliberation, and with malice aforethought, kill RENA GONZALES, a
human being, by manual strangulation, Defendant being responsible under onc or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by killing RENA GONZALES with
premeditation, deliberation and malice aforethought; and/or (2) by killing RENA
GONZALES during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or
burglary. S
DAVID ROGER

DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

BY

Chief District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163

05BGJ016X/05F 10466 X/Mjc/SYU
LVMPD EV# 0505030926/0505032974

(TRK11)
2 n\wvoisbuaslwm
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS A/K/A
NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS, I1I,
Appellant,

vs.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent.

NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS, III,
Appellant,
V8.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

ORDER

No. 53159

No. 55759

FILED

JUN 15 201

ItACIE % L NDEMAN

CLERK,CF SUPREME COURT
Y :
€ ‘ t ,E%EEE;

Appellant has filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss these

appeals. He indicates that he has entered a plea agreement in another

district court case (no. C216032) with one of the terms of the agreement

being that he withdraws these appeals. To comply with that agreement,

he asks this court to stay resolution of these appeals pending sentencing

pursuant to the plea agreement, which is scheduled for July 20, 2011.

Upon sentencing in that case, he asks that we dismiss these appeals.

We will take no action on the motion or these appeals at this

time. Appellant shall file a written report with the clerk of this court on or

before July 21, 2011, regarding the status of the proceedings and

sentencing in district court case no. C216032.

It is so ORDERED.

Chan
%%ﬁ Chzrry Y?/plm d.

Pickering

App 028842 |
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Special Public Defender
Attorney General/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS A/K/A No. 53159
NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS, III,
Appellant,

V8.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent,

NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS, III, No. 55759
Appellant,

FILED

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent. SEP 28 2011

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN

ORDER DISMISSING APPEALS CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

B — &P uTY CLERK
These are consolidated appeals from a judgment of conviction

and an order denying a motion for a new trial. Eighth Judicial District
Court, Clark County; Kathy A. Hardcastle, Judge. Appellant has filed a
motion to dismiss these appeals pursuant to a plea agreement in another
case. Counsel represents that the consequences of dismissing these

appeals have been explained to appellant and that appellant understands

those consequences. Cause appearing, the motion is granted and we
ORDER these appeals DISMISSED.!

Gibbons

1Because no remittitur will issue in this matter, see NRAP 42(b), the
one-year period for filing a post-conviction habeas corpus petition under
NRS 34.726(1) shall commence to run from the date of this order.
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Hon. Linda Marie Bell, District Judge
Special Public Defender

Attorney General/Carson City

Clark County District Attorney
Eighth District Court Clerk

Norman Keith Flowers
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Karen A, Connolly

5800 W, Charesten Bivd,, Ste. 124.Las Vegss. Nevada 89146

Telephone: {702) 8T5-E700 Facsimie. (702) 673-6767

KAREN A. ConNOLLY, L.

Elecironically Filed
02/12/2016 02:57:48 PM

L[| KAREN A, CONNOLLY m i} ) X v—

LI ]

Nevada Bar No. 4240

KAREN A, CONNOLLY, LTD. CLERK OF THE COURT
6600 W. Charleston Bivd., Ste. 124

l.as Vegus, NV 89146

Telephone: (702) 678-6700

Facsimile: (702) 678-6767

E-Mail: advocatef@keonnollylawyers.com

Attorney for Petitioner

DISTRICT COURT, CRIMINAL DIVISION
CLARK COUNTY,NEVADA

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS
11D #39975, CASE NO.: 05C216032

DEPT.NO.: VI
Petitioner,
¥S.

STYATE OF NEVADA,
ng“dmltb—_mﬁ

SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

(POST CONVICTION)

COMES NOW Petitioner Norman Flowers by and through his attorney of record, KAREN
A. CONNOLLY, of the law firm of KAREN A. CONNOLLY, L.TD., and submits this Supplement
to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction).

DATED this Jzyy of February 2016.

-

=t e,

QI(—NF&.IM\L'(,CH\I?\IOL{ Y
Nevada Bar Nor4240
6600 W. Charleston Blyd., Ste. 124
[.as Vegas, NV 89146.7
Telephone (702) 6786700
Attorney for Petitioner

L

supp.wid
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Telephone: (707) 6786700 Faosimie: (702) 676-6767
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MEMORANDUM

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 14, 2005. NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka Norman Harold Flowers was
charged by way of Indictment as fotlows: COUNT | -5 Burglary (Felony- NRS 205.060), COUNT
2- Murder (Felony- NRS 200.010, 200.030); COUNTS 3 & 4- Sexual Assauit (Felony- NRS
200.364, 200.366); COUNT § -Robbery (Felony- NRS 200.380); COUNT 6- Burglary while in
Posscssion of a Deadly Weapon (Felony- NRS 205.060, 193.165); COUNT 7 - Murder With Usc
of & Deadly Weapon (Felony- NRS 200.016,200.030, 193,165); COUNTS B & 9- Sexual Assaull
With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Fefony -NRS 200.364, 200.366, 193.165); COUNIS 10 & 1t-
Unlawful Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body (Felony - NRS 201.450); and COUNT
Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony-NRS7 200.380, 1 93.165). Appellant was armigned
and plead not guilty on October, 18,2005. The State filed Notice of Intent to Seek Ihe Death Penalty
on November 8, 2005 and an Amended Notice of Intent to Seek Deuthl5 Penalty on February 4,
2009, The victims in the instani case were Marilee Coote und Reny Gonzales.
Case 6C2289755

On December 26, 2006, the State sought to consolidate the instant mater with District Court
Casc Number 6C228755 in wiich Flowers was charged with the murder of Sheila Quarles. The
motion was denied, Flowers proceeded to trial in that capital case and was convicted of first degree
murder, sexual assault, burglary and not puilty of rubbery. 1le was sentenced to life without the
possibility of parolc on the murder charge. He appealed that conviction. The appeal was dismissed
as per negotiations in the instant maiter. Flowers then pursued post conviction relief. A copy of
the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). Supplemental Petition for Writ of Hubeas
Corpus (Post-Conviction), State’s Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendunt's Supplemental
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), Reply to Siaie’'s Response atd Mation fo
Dismiss Defendant’s Supplemental Petition for Writ uf Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), and
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying post conviction relief filed in that case
on May 28, 2015, are attached hereto as Exhibil 1,23, 4. and 5 and mre adopted sl incorporated

herein by reference. Since Flowers™ request for post conviction relief in that case has been litigated,

suppavpd 2
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Karen A, Connotty
65G0 W. Chareston Bd_, Ste. 124, Las Vegas, Nevaca 89145
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undersigned counsel has not addressed any post conviction issues in that case hercin but adopts the

arguments made by Flowers in that matter.
Case C216032

As previously stated, in the instant matter Flowers negotiated both the instant case which
involved the deaths of Marilee Coot and Rena Gonzales and the companion case involving the death
of Sheila Quarles. On June 10, 2011, he entered a plea of by way of Alford 10 an Amended
Indictment, charging him with two (2) counts of First Degree Murder (Felony- NRS 200.010,
200.030). The parties stipulated to a sentence of tife without the possibility of parolc on coumt 1,
and lifc with the possibility of parole on count 2, to run concurrent (o count 1. Defendant
additionally agreed lo withdraw his appeals in Supreme Court Case Numbers 53159 and 55759,

On August 18, 2011, Appellant was sentenced as follows - as o count 1 - life without the
possibilily of parole; and as to count 2 - twenty-five (25) to life, to run concurrent with coumt 1. The
Court ordered Defendant’s scntence to run consecutive to Case Number 06C228755,

Flowers filed a Notices of Appeal on September 15, 2011, On December 13, 2012, the
Supreme Court of Nevada affirmed Defendant's conviction. Remittitur issued on January 2, 2013,

On June 28, 2011, Flowers moved to withdraw his plea. On July 13, 2011, conflict free
counsel was appointed to represent him on his request to withdraw his plea. Anevidentiary hearing
was held on July 27,201 1. Flowers alleged that he was coerced into accepting the plea negotiations
and that he did not reatize that his plea agreement involved waiving his right to appeal in his other
murder case. On August 23, 2011, the court eniered an order denying the request A motion to
reconsider was Tiled on Augast 23. 2011 which was subsequently denied on Qctober 25, 2011,
Flowers' appeal to the Nevada Supreme Coutt was denied on Deeember 13,2012,

ARGUMENT

AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING 1S REQUIRED TO ADDRESS WHETHER OR NOT

THE STATE COMPLIED WITH PLEA NEGOTIATIONS

As part of the plea negotiations, the State agreed to contact the Inspector General to request

that Flowers be placed at Lovelock. See, pages 37-38 of EI Transcript, July 27, 2011, attached

supp.wpd
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hereto as Exhibit 6. Flowers does not believe that the State complied in this regord fhereby
violaling the terms of the plea negotiations.

During post conviction proceedings, indersigned attempted (o ascertain whether or not the
State had fnlfilled its obligations to Flowers in this regard. Attached hereto as Fxhibit 7 is anemail
from Chief Deputy District Attorney Lisa Luzaich dated June 15, 2015, wherein Ms.Luzaich
addresses inguires she made in regards to Flowers® placement at Lovelock.

It the State did not make contact the Inspector General’s Office o request that Flowers be
placed at Lovielock, it will be a material violatian of the lerms of plea negotiations, [lowers
requesls permission to conduct discovery in regard to this issue.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "when a plea rests in any signilicant degree

on a promise or agrecment of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be pari of the inducement or

consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.” Santobello v. New Yurk, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92
S.Ct. 495, 499, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971). Wen the stale enters a plea agreement, it is held to the most
meticulous standards of both pronise and performance. Cilti v. State, 107 Nev. 89, 91, 807 P.2d
724, 726 (1991}, Statz_v. Staic. 113 Nev. 987, 944 P.2d 813 (1997). Violation of cither the terms
or the spirit of the agreement requires reversal. Id.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that a posi-conviction habeas petitioner “‘is entitled to
a post-conviction evidentiary hearing when he asseris claims supported by specific factual
allegations not belied by the record that, if true, would entitle him to refief.” McConnell, 125 Nev.
Adv. Rep. 24, 212 P.3d at 314 (quoting Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 353, 46 P.3d 1228, 1229
(2002)) In the instant matter, Flowers submits that the slate did not follow through with its promise
in regard to his placement at Lovelock Therefore, 1he court should hold an evidentiary hearing to
determine the extent of the State's efforts to comply with plca negotiations.

SINCE THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY INTERJECTED ITSELF INTO PLEA

NEGOTIATIONS IN VIOLATION OF STATE AND FEDERAL LAW, THE GUILTY

PLEA IS INVOLUNTARY AS A MATER OF LAW

In order 1o be valid. a guilty plea must be voluntary and intclligent, and cannol be the result

of threats, misrepresentations, or improper promises. 1ill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985); Mahry

supp.wpd
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guilty plea, it was not addressed in the context ol the court’s improper intcrvention in plea
negotialions which render the plea involuntary as a matter of law.

The Ninth Circuit has ruled that where comments by the district court regarding plea
negotiations are ail on the record, there is no factual dispule reparding their nature and challenge
thereto is a question of law. United States v. Bruce 976 F.2d 552 (9™ Cir. 1992)

At calendar call, the court asked the parties if the case had been resolved. Defense counsel
responded in the ncpative. This promoted the district court to improperly interject itself into plea
negotiations as follows:

THE COURT: You understand that you are looking at the death penaity.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes

THE COURT: Twice. And once we walk out the dour there’s no negotiation, we’re going

to triai.

THE DEFENDANT: [ want it resotved, but they want me to waive my fight-

THE COURT: There won't-

THE DEFENDANT: ~ my appeal on—

THE COURT: There won’t he another negotiation. Do you understand? No chance.

THE DEFENDANT: They want me 1o waive-

THE COURT: None.

THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive my right, Your Honor, on anuther case.

THE COURT: You know what? That’s up 1o you.

MR . PATRICK: Norman, there’s no chance you're going to get any action on that direct

appeal. Okay?

THE COURT: There is no chance that you're going fo get a better offer than toduy.

THE DEFENDANT: If F'in not going to get no action on direct appeal, why do [ have to

waive that right, then? If shouldn’( matter.

THE COURT: Okay-

MR. PATRICK: Okay

sapp.vpd 5
App 0293




KAREN A. CONNOLLY, LTD.

Karen A. Connolly
8800 W Charieston Bivd., Ste. 124 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

Talephone, (702) 6TR-5700 Facsenie: (702) BTR-8767

wm e W N

LI

10
1t
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
28
26
27
28

THE COURT: That's your privifege to -1'm not- { don’t have a dog in the fight, I don’t

carc one way or another, I'm here for the next three weeks anyway. U've got it set for trial,

But understand, you have to take a decision that you’ made. Do you understand ? No

deals once I leave this ream, That's okay. Exhibit 8, pages 3-4.

fmiediately after that cxchange, Me. Patrick advised the court thal Flowers wanted to plead.
As a matter o I law, the district caurt improperly pressured Flowers into taking a deal thereby
rendering his guilty plea involuntary.

Under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedurc 11{c) the cowrt cannot participate in piea
discussions. In federal practice there is a bright line prohibition of judicial participation in plea
negotiations. United Sates v. Bruce, 976 ¥.2d 552 (9" Cir. 1992} Bnce holds that if the judge
pressures the defendant into taking a deal, it is improper judicial intervention and the defendant is
entitled to have the plea sel aside,

In Cripps v. State, 122 Nev. 1187, 137 P.3d 1 187 (2006) the Nevada Supreme Court adopled
the federal bright-line rule prohibiting the district court from participating in plea negotiations
between the State and the defense. The single exception carved out by the Nevada Supreme Court
permits the district court to indicate whether or not it is inclined to follow the pariies' sentencing
recomnmendaion.' Id.

Judicial involvement in the plea negotiations may constitute harmless error.” 14. Cripps. Sec
also NRS 178.598 (“Any crror, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial
rights shall be disregarded.”). When conducting harmless error review, the focus is on “whether the
district court's {erroneous participation} may reasonably be viewed as having been a material factor
affecting the defendant’s decision 1o plead gaitty.” The defendant carries the burden of establishing
that any reversible error oceurred.” Id. Cripps.

There is no doubt the district cowrt acicd improperly under Cripps. The district court’s actions
were matcrial in Flowers® decision to plead guilty. He had indicated that he was not pleading and

changed his mind mere minutes after the court improperly interjected itself inlo the negotiations

!
’ y Sentencing in state and federal court differs significantly in that in federal court,
scntencing is dictated by the Federal Sentencing Guidelines.

H supp.wpd 6
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warning Flowers that he was facing the death penalty, that he had been offered the best deal he

[

would get,? that there was no chance of a beter deal and that there would be no further plea
negotiations even though no such representations had not been made by the state. The district
courl’s intervention was material in Flower’s decision lo picad puilty.

At the start of the hearing which took placc at calender catl, the parties advised the court they
belicved the case had been negotiated, According to defense counscl, there was one smail “sticking
point.”” Flowers wanted to speak with his mother. Ie was permitted to do so. The judge icft the

hench, prosecutors lefl and Flowers spoke with his mother privately in the court raom. He did so

O =~ & iy e W

for over an hour (8:40AM until 9:46 AM). When court resumed, defense counse] indicated that {he

matter was not resolved. Afier the eolloguy between the court and Flowers, he changed his mind.

[y
-

The cause and affect is readily apparent: Flowers pled guilty because of pressure from the bench.

[ ed
e

But for the court's improper interjection into plea negotiations, he would not have pled guilty. The

—
[ 3]

arror is not harmless because it is clear from the record that the district court’s participation was a

—
L™

material factor in Flowers’ decision lo plead guilly. Sce, Cripps, 122 Nev. at 771, 137P.3dat 1192,

ot
N

A plea agreement is a contract between the prosecutor and the defendant, United States v,

Tk
tn

Streich, 560 F.3d 926, 929-30 (9tb Cir.2009), with the district conrt acting only as ‘& neutral arbiter
of the criminal prosecution,” United States v. Bruce, 976 F.2d 552, 557 (9th Cir.1992).

The risk of coercion is especially high where a district court pressures a defendant for an

e e T
[- TS B -

immediate change of his or her pica. In Linited States v. Anderson, the Ninth Circuit noled:

J—
-4

The judge's apening pronouncement that he would not after {the date of the
heuring] acuept a plea to fower than all thirty counts of the indictment and admonishment
that the govemment was nol 1o “muke any deals,” asidc from conslituting improper
judicial intervention in the plea negotiation process, ... meant that Anderson had to decide
immediately whether he wished to change the not guilty plea he had just entered to one of
guilty.... [I]tis difficult to imagine how Anderson could not have felt pressured when
confronted with the court’s “now or never” tactics at the ... hearing. Id.

SR R B

This is precisely what occurred in the case at bar; the district court told Flowers that “there

[ad
e

won't be another negotiation ....No chance.” Page 2 The court repeated this statement three times

3]
th

and stated *No deals once I Jeave this room.” The risk of coercion is even higher when u defendant

g
_

bt

2 The offer had not yet been piaced on the record so the cowr was not even aware of
the terms of the offcr when this statement was made.

»a
"

supp.wpd 7
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must immediatcly respond to the judge’s intervention on in plea negotiations. {inited Staies v.
Gonzalez-Meichor, 648 F.3d 959, (9" cir. 201 1) The circuit court in Anderson determiined that the
judge placed unrensonable restraints on Anderson’s decision making process and that those
consiraints rendered his guilty plea invaluntary. Likewise in the instant matter, the districl court’s
intervention caused Flowers to plead guilty and rendered his Alford plea involuntary. This s
cvident by the fact that within days of his plca, Flowers moved to withdraw the plea. The plea was
entered on June 10, 2011, he filed a motion to withdraw plea and to dismiss counsel on Junc 28,
2011.

Flowers previously attempted to withdraw his plen claiming it was not voluntary due to
actions by defense counsel who he claimed had provided ineffective assistance of counsel. The
same judge who accepted the ples canvass denied that moticn.

Not only were the commenls from the bench improper, likewise, the comment from defense
counscl on the merits of Flowers’ appeat in the companion case as follows were improper and added
to the coercive nature of the plea:

MR. PATRICK: "Norman. there's no chance you're going to get any action on the direct

appeal. Okay?"

As a matter of law the guilty plea was coerced and this writ should be granted.

FLOWERS WAS NOT FFFECTIVELY REPRESENTED ON HIS MOTION TO

WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA AND APPEAL THEREFROM

independent counsel James Oronoz’ was appointed to represent Flowers on his mation to
withdraw his guilty plea which took place prior to sentencing. He failed to address the cowt’s
improper intervention in plea negotiations. Flowers did not reccive effective assistance of counscl
on his motion to withdraw his guailty plea in violation af his constitutional rights.

Ag g result of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel. Flowers® Fifth, Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process, 1o counsel, and Lo present a defense. as well as his

correlative rights under the Nevada Constitution, articic 1, section 8 were viotated. To prevail on

3 M. Oronoz currently represents Flowers in the companion case which is on appeal
from the denial of post conviction relief.

supp.wd 8
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4 claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, “a defendant must demmonstrate (1) that counsel's
performance was deficient and (2) that counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the defense.”
Strickland v. Washington, 466 11.S. 668,697, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); McConneli v. State, 125 Nev.
243,212 P.3d 307, 313 (2009). A defendant is enlitled to relief where "counsel's errors were 50
serious as [o deprive the defendant of a fair trigl, a trial whose resultis reliable." Sirickland, 466
U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064.

As indicated herein sbove, the court improperty interjected itself into plea negotiatians.
Nevertheless, counsel failed to address this issue when be was representing Flowers on his motion
to withdraw his guilty plea. There can be no strategic reason [or his fathure 1o do so. Based upon
the autharities set forth herein above, had he raised the issues, Flowers would have been permitted
{o withdraw his guilty plea.

Counsel was /lso ineffective for failing to raise the issue on appeal. To state a valid claim of
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner must demonslrate that counsel's performance
fell below an objective standard of reasonablencss, and resulting projudice such that any omitled
issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey v, State, { 12 Nev, 980,
998,923 P.2d 1102, 1113-14 (1996) Additionully, hie should have filed a motion requesting that the
motion be heard by a different judge given the nature of the claim.

Additionally, defense counscl Patrick was ineffective when while the court was interjecting
itself into plea ncgotiations he announced that Flowers had no chance on his appeal in the
companion case thereby applying additional pressure which only worsened the already cocrcive
situation.

11!
rii

i

supp.wpd 9
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A petitioner is entitled to a post-conviction evidentiary hearing when he asserts claims

supported by specific factual allegations not belied by the record that, if true, would entitle him to

retief. McConnell, 212 P.3d at 309. A petitioner must demonstrate the disputed factual allcgations

underlying his claims by a preponderance of the evidence. Hernandez v, State. 124 Nev. 978, 194

P.2d 1235, 1241 (2008).

POTENTIAL BRADY VIOLATIONS

It is believed thit disgraced former | . VMPD crime lab technician Kristina Paulelte was

involved in the DNA forensic examination of evidence in this case. She was fired after she was

chught covering up a mistake made during the process of analyzing DNA. Accordingly , Flowers

is roquesting pernission to conduct discovery in regard to Pauletie’s involvement ini the instant

matter pursuant to NRS 34.780 which states as follows.

1. The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, (o the extent that they ave pot inconsistent with NRS
34.360 to 34.830, inclusive, apply to proceedings pursuant 1o NRS 34.720 to 34.830,
inclusive.

2. After the writ has been granted and a date set for the hearing, & party may invoke any
method of discovery available under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure if, and to the extent
that, the judge or justice for good catisc shown grants leave lo do so.

3. A request for discovery which is available under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure must
be accompanied by a slatement of the interrogatories or requests for admission and a list of
any documents sought to be produced.

I['the were issues with Pauletle’s involvement in the instant matler which were not disclosed

pre-plea, the state committed n Brady violation.

DATED this ¥—ay of February 2016.
KAREN A. CONNOLLY, LTD.

Nevada Bar No., 4

6600 W. Charleston Bivl, Ste. 124
Las Vegas, NV 89146
Telephone:  (702) 678-6700
Attorney for Peliti

Iy

1t

supp.wpd 10
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| | HEREBRY CERTIFY that [ am an cmployee of KAREN A. CONNOLLY, L.TD., and on the

|2, day of February 2016, T served a truc and correct copy of the above and foreguving Pelition for
‘ Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) purseani o NRCP 5 by the methad or methods indicated
H below:

Kl by depositing the same in the U.S. Mail, First Class Mail, with postage [ully prepaid. at

Las Vegas, Nevada, addressed as follows:

Steven B. Wolfson
Clark Counly District Attorney
OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY

200 E. Lewis Ave.
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Attarney for Respundent
O by facsimile to the below-listed number:
Steven B. Wollson
Facsimile No..  (702) 868-2415

ﬂ by electronic mail to the below-listed email address:

Steven B. Wolfson
Email: mlmuiinusr’a@_lgrkgouu;y_glg._g:__c}n}_

)

an Employee o AREN A‘C‘ﬁi\ﬂmtl Y, 0.

" w..\
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Electronicaly Filed
10/09/2012 02:22:18 PM

PWHB .
THOMAS A. FRICSSON, ESQ. (m; i M’

Nevada Bar No, 4982

ORONOZ & ERICSSON, L.L.C. CLERK OF THE COURY
700 SOUTIH 3RD STREET
T.as Vegas, Neveda 89101
Tolephone: (702) 878-2889
Facsimile: (702) 522-1542
jom@oronoziawyers.com
Attorney for Pelitioner
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
NORMAN FI,OWERS
Petitioner, CASIENO: C228755
DEPT. NO: IX
Vs.
THE STATE OF NEVADA, RENEE Date of Hearing: 1 1-26-2012
Tine of Hearing: 9:00 AM
BAKER, Wurden
Respondent.
PETITION FOR WRIT O HABEAS C US (POST- 1
1, Nasic of the institution and county in which you are preseatly imprisoned

or wherc and how you are presently restrained of your liberty: Ely State Prison, Whito

Pine Coamty, Nevada,

2. Name and focation of court which entered the judgment of conyiction
under attack: Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada.

3. Date of Judgment of Conviction: Febiruary 12, 2009.

4, Case number: C228755.
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(8)  Length of sentence: Aa to Count 1 ~ A minimma of 48 months
wifh » maximum of 120 months; As 10 Count 2 — Life without the possibility
of parolc to rou consceutive to Count 13 As to Count 3 - Lifc with the
possibility of parolo with a minimum pavole cligibility after 120 months te
run consccutive to Count 2.

(b)  If sentence is deall, stalc any datc upon which excecution is
scheduled: N/A
6. Are you presently serving a seatence for conviction other that the

couviction under attack in this motion? Yes.

If yes, list crime, case number, and senfoncing being served af this time:

Under case nmnher C216032, Pefitioner was convicted of two counts of First
Degree Murdor, As to Count 1, the court sentenced the Petttionor to Life without
the possibility of parole. As to Count 2, the conrt sentenced the Petitioner to Life
with the possibitity of parelc aftcr twenty-five years. The court ordered Count 2 te
run concurrent fo Count 1 and the entive sentence to run consecutive to case
nupmber C228755,

7. Naturc of offenise involved in canviction bring challenged: Petitioner was
convicted of Burglary; First Degrec Murder) and Sexual Assault,

8. What was your plea? (Cheok one)

(&) Not guilty _X_

(b) Guilty

(c) CGuilty but mentally ill

(d) Nolo contendere

App 0302



9, If you entered a plea of guilty or gutlty but mentelly ill to one count of an
indictment or information, and a plea of not guilty to another count of an indictment or
information, or if a plen of guilty or guilty but mentally ill was negotiated, give details:
Mr. Fiowers plead Not Guilty fo all coumts throughout his prosecution and wns
convicted pursuant to a guilty verdict following a jury tvial,

10.  If you were found guilty sfier a plea of not guilty, was the finding mnde

by: {Checek ane):
(a) Jury X
(b) Judge without a jury
11,  Did you testify at the trigl?  Yes ___ No X

12, Did you appeal from the judgment of conviction? Yes,
13, If you did appesl, answer the following:
(2) Name of Court:  Supreme Court of the Stato of Nevada,
(b) Case number or citation; 53139 {Cousolidnted whlh case 55759)
(c) Result: Dismissed pursuant to s gulity pler agreement entered in
case nomber C216032.
(d) Date of result; Septomber 28, 2011.
14,  Ifyou did not appeal, cxplain briefly wity you did not: N/A,
iS.  Other than on divect appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentence,
have you previously file any petitions, applications, or motions with respect fo this
judgment in any state or federal court? Yes.
16.  Ifyour answer to No. 15 was “yes,” give the following information:

(&) (1) Name of court; Fighth Judicial District Court, Clark

County, Nevada,

App 0303
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(2)  Nature of proceeding: Pro Por Motion to Appoint
Caunscl,

(3)  Grounds saised: Assistauce of counsel is neccasary {o
investigate and develop post-conviction claims,

(4)  Did you recsive an evidentiury hearing on your petition,
application or motion: No.

(5)  Result: Granted.

(6)  Date of result; May 30, 2012,

(7)  Ifknown, citations of any writien opinion or dule of orders

entered pursuant to such result; July 30, 2010,

®

(1}  Name of court; Righth Judiclal Distriet Comrt, Clark
County, Nevads.
(2)  Nature of proceeding: Motion for Now ‘Frial,
(3)  OCrounds mised: Aftor heaving the evidence periaining to
the Reobbery count, the jury did not find the Petitioner of guilly
of Robbery. ‘The athmission of the cvidence presented on the
Robbery count was overwhelmiugly prejudicial to the
Petltioner, Had the cvidence not been adimitted, there was
insnffictent evidence presented to fiud the Petitioncr guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt of the remaining chavges.
(4)  Did you receive an evideniiary heating on your petition,
application or molion; Yes.
(5)  Rcsult: Dended,
(6)  Date of result: November 12, 2008.

4
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(7)  Ifkown, citations of any written opinion or date of orders
satered pursuant to such result: November 18, 2008,

()  Asloany third or subsequent additional applications or maotions,
give the sae information as above, list the on a separate sheet and attuch. See Exhibit
A,

(d)  Did you uppeal to the highest state or federal court having
jutisdiction, the result or action twken on any petition, application or motion?

(1) Tt pefition, application or motion? Ne.
Citation or date of decision: N/A,
(2)  Second petition, application or motion? No.
Citation or datc of decision:  N/A.
(3)  Thivd petitlon, application or motion? No.
Citation or date of decision: N/A.

(@)  If'you did not appeat from the adversc action on gy petition,
application or motion, explain bricily why you did not. (You must relate specific facts in
response o this question. Your response may be inctuded on paper which is 8 4 by 11
inches attached lo this petition, Your response may not exceed five handwritten ov
typewritien pagoes in length.): N/A.

17.  Has any ground belng raised in this petition been previously presented to
this or any other court by way of & petition for writ of habeas corpus, motion, application,
or any other post-conviction proceeding? If so, identify:

@)  Which of the grounds is the same: N/A.

(b)  ‘Fhe proceedings in which these grounds were raised: N/A.
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{¢)  DBricfly explain why you arc agnin raising these grounds, (You
must relate specific facts in response o this question, Your response may be included on
paper which is 8 % by 11 inches attached to this petition. Your responsc nuty not exceed
five handwrilten or typewritien pages in leugth.): N/A,

18,  Any of the grounds listed in Nos. 23(w), (b), (¢) and (d), o lisied on any
additional pages you have atfached, werc not previously presented in any other courl,
state or federal, list briefly what grounds were not so presented, and give your reasons for
not presenting them, {You must relato specific facts in responsc to thiz quostion. Your
response muy be inchuled on paper which is 8 % by 11 inches altaohed {o this petition,
Your response may not exceed five handwritten or typewrilten pages in length.): Alt
issucs have not been raised in other post-conviction proceedings. See Exhibit A

19.  Arc you filing this potition more than one year following the filing of the
judgment of canviction or the filing of a decision on direct appeal? If so, statc bricfly the
ressons for the delay, (You must relate specific facts in response 1o this question. Yout
response may be incluced on paper which is 8 1% by 11 inches attached o this pelition.
Your response may not oxeeed five handwaitten or typewritten pages in length.): Yey, Sce
Exhibit A,

20. Do you have any petition or appeal now pending in sny cowtt, either state
or federul, as to the judgment under attack? No.

21, Qive the name of cach atlomey who represented you in the proveeding
resulting in your conviction and on dircct appeal:  Deputy Specinl Pubtic Defender,
Clark Patrick — Trial } Deputy Specinl Public Defender, Randall Pike - Tvinl;

Dopuly Specinl Public Defender, JoNell Thomas - Appeal
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22.  Did you have any future seatences to serve after you complete the
sentence imposcd by the judgment under attack? Yes.

23, State conciscly every ground on which you cleiim that you ae heing held
unlawfully. Summarizc bricfly the facts supporting each ground, If nccessary you may
gltnch pages stating additional grounds and facts supporting same.

Supporting FACTS (Tell your story briefly wilhout citing cases ot law.): Sce
Exhihit A.

(8)  Defitioner would respectfully raise issues as they become
necessary. Petitioner would respoctfully request this Cowt atlow the
undessigned to supplement {his Petition.

WIIERIIFORE, Petitiouer prays that this Honotable Cuurt allow Thomas A.

Ericsson, Esq., to Supplement this Peiition.

DATED this —Z— day of October, 2012.
ORONOZ & ERICSSON, L.I.C.

3rd Strect
Lus Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorney for Petitioner
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YERIFICATION
Under the penalty of petjury, the undersighed declures that he 18 the appointed
couusel for the Petitioner named in the foregoing Petition and knows the contents thereof]
ihat the pleading is true of his own knowledge, except as to those matiers staled on
infonnation und belief, and as to such matters he believes them to be tiue,

Under penally of pesjury, the undersigned declares thet the Petitioner authorized

him fo conmmence this sction,

Dated this _f_ day of October, 2012,

}fg/ S A. ERICSSON

! ALICIA M, ORDNOZ
hHatesy Publio-State of Neveds

RACHNY  APPT.NO. 10-2513-1
¥ My App. Expites July 0%, 2014

SURSCRIBED AND SWORN (o before me
this day of Qctober, 2012,

ary Public it and for s€id

County and State
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby cortify and affirm that § mailed a copy of the above foregoing Petition for
Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Convietion) to counsel of record listed below October i,_

2012. Postage prepaid and addressed to the following:

STERPHEN B. WOLFSON
Clark Counly District Attoiniey
200 Lewis Avenuie

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
Respondent

CATHERINE CORTEY. MASTO
Nevada Attoney Genersl

100 N, Carson Strect

Carson City, Nevada 89701-4714

App 0309



L~ T - - R B~ N Y A T o B

B - v R - [ T e B o —_
S R XS EBRE2EEES I aarxzon =3

16,  If your answer to No. |5 was “yes,” give tho following information:

()

Conuty, Nevada.

Newly Avaitable Evidence, Specifleally, The Conviction of George Brass for

Muder.

EXHIBIT A

(1)  Nmne of cowt: Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark

(2)  Naturo of procceding: Motion for New T'rinl Based Upon

(3)  Grounds raised: The State’s initlal theory was thata
third party was proscat during the commission of the charged
offonses, Evidence jutroduced at trial showed that George
Brass had contact with the viethm prioy to her death, Brass
testified at a hearing that the victhn was sirictly involved with
women, Suhsequent fo Petitioner’s trial, a jury convicted Brass
of murder in another case. Following his conviction, Brass’
DNA waa entered inte CODIS. A comparison revenled that
Brass had sexunt contnet with the victim prior te her death,
Ifad this information been available for ingpenchment purposes
it is unlitiely the jury would Iave found the Petitioner guilty
beyond r reasonably doubt.

(4)  Did you receive an evidentiary hearing on your petition,
application or motiou: Yes.

(5)  Result; Denfed,

(6)  Date of result: Mavch 17, 2019.

10
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(1) Ifknown, citations of any writlen opinion or datc of orders

entered pursuant to such result; Apil 24, 2010,

19,  Arc you filing this petition move than one yea following the filing of the
judgment of conviction or the filing of u decision on direct appeal? I so, siate bricfly the
reasons for the delay. (You must relutc specific facls in responsc to this quostion. Your
resposse may be included on papor whicl is 8 % by {1 inches altached to this petition.
Your response may not exceed five handwritien of typeritten pages in lengtly.): Yes.

On June 8, 2012, the disirict court appointed defense counsed, James A. Oronoz,
Fsq., to tepresont Flowers in posi-conviction relief procecdings, That same day, the
district court set a thirty (30) day status check on reccipt of Flowers® vase file. On June
15, 2012, coungel comacted the Special Public Defender’s (SPD) Office, who
vepresented the Petitioner through frial and appeal, to obtain a copy of the Petitioner’s
file. On Junc 22, 2012, Deputy Special Public Defender Rundall Pike informed counscl
that his office inatled the original case file to Flowers and therefore could nol provide u
copy ol the file to counsel. On July 9, 2012, counsel contreted the State in an attempt to
obtain & copy of discovery in the instunt case. Thal sanie duy, the Stale informed counse!
that pursuant to NRS 34.780(2), the State would not provide discovery unlit after a Post-
Conviction Petition for Writ of Haheas Corpus had been granted.! On July 13, 2012, the

district court divected counscl to obtain the file from Flowexs, who is cutrently an inmate

' NRS 34.780(2) provides: Afier the writ has been granted and a date set for the hearing,
a parly may invoke any mothod of discovery available under the Nevada Rules of Civil
Procedure if, and to the extent thal, the judge or justice for good causc shown grants leave

0 do 0.

tH
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at Ely State Prison. In addition, the district court adviged the State to provide counsel
with any missing discovery,

On August 27, 2012, counsel informed the district court that obtaining the file
from Flowers was problematic because Flowers only received a pottion of the file,
Aceording to Flowers, the prison would not give him any documents that contained
sovial sceurity munbers. Flowers believed that the remuainder of the file was relurped {o
the Special Public Defender’s Office. Upon inquiry by connsel, the Special Public
Defender’s office denied receiving any portion of the file back from Ely State Prison.
After informing the Court of this dileinma, the Court sigued an Order thadt required the
Statc to turn over & complete copy of the discovery i its inuncdiate amd constructive
possession. However, rather than comply with this Court’s Ordor, the State dirceted its
Discovery Plivision to withhold the discovery fram counsel, On August 31, 2012, the
State issned a setting slip requesting 8 hearing on “Clarification of Discovery.”

On Scptember 10, 2012, the State orally opposcd providing Ilowers a copy of
the discovery on the basis that it did not have a chance 1o opposo counscl’s requcst at the
Jast hearing. ‘The Court staloed that it had signed the discovery Order wader the belief that
ihe Staie did not object lo providing the discovery. The district court then vacated the
Discovery Order, st a briefing schedule nnd cxtended the deadline to file the
Petitioner’s post-conviction pelition for thirty (30) days.

On September 21, 2012, Petitioner stipulated to vacate the briofing schedule ond
vacate the heaving set for argument under the beliet that the Nevada Supreme Cowst did
not isste n Remittitar upon dismissing appeals 53159 and 55759. However, post-
conviction counsel recently discovered a footnote in the Order Dissmissing Appeats, that

stated: “Because no remittitur wifl issve in this matter, scc NRAP 42(b), the onc-year

12
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petiod for filing a posteonviction habeas corpus petition under NRS 34.726(1) shall

comnience to run [rom the date of this order [September 28, 2611 .”

23.  State concisely every ground on which you claim that you are being held
unlawfully. Sunmarize briefly the facts supporting each ground. If necessary you may
attach pages stating additional grounds and facts supparting same,

Supporiing FACTS (Tetl your story briefly without citing cases or law.):

The Petitioner, Norman Flowers, by and fhrough appointed counsel hereby files
this petition for writ nf habeas corpus pursuant to NRS 34.724. Petitioner alleges that,
upon information and belief, he is being held in custody in violation of the First, Fourth,
Filth, Sixth, Bighth and Fourtcenth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States
of America, and Articlcs | and IV of the Nevada Conslitution. This tiinely first post-
conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus now follows, Mr. Flowors requests full

discovery rights and an evidentiary hearing.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

At trial, Mr, Flowcrs was convicted of Burplaty and the First Degreo Mucder atxd
Sexual Assault of Renn Gonzales. Upon information and beliof, Mr. Flowers’ conviction
io invalid under the federal and state constitutional guarantecs of due process, equal
protection, and effective assistance of counscl due to his defense caunsel’s fiilure to
protect his cights to a faix frial. U.S. Const, Amends, V, VI, & XIV; Nevada Constitution

Art 1,

Clalm I: The Petitioner cannot investignte or develop his clatms without a completo

copy of discovery from the State.

13
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Supporting Facts: As of the datc of this Petition, appointed counsel does not
have access (o a completo copy of the discovery that the State previously provided to trinl
counsel. Following direct appeal, trial counscl mailed the Petitioner his file at Bly State
Prison. Upon information and belief, prison officials only gave the Petitioner documents
that did not contain social security numbers, Accordingly, the Petitioner is unabla to
verify which documents are missing, Post-conviction counsel for the Pelitioner has
roquested a complete copy of discovery from the State.

Justification for Raisiug Lesue in Post-Conviction Proceeding:

The Pelitioner submits that without a complete copy of the discovery, posi-
conviction counse! cannot fully investigate and develop the Petilioner’s claima. As such,
post-conviction counsel cannot effectively represent the Petitioner on post-couviction
rolief.

Claim 1I; Faihre to Receive Effective Assistance of Counsel — Trial Counsel

Upon information and belief, Mr. Flowers' conviction is invaitd under the federal
and state constitutional guarantces of dne process, equal protect ion, and cffective
assistance of counsel due ta his tiinl counsel’s fatlure to protect his rights lo « fair trial.
U.S. Const. Amends, ¥, VI, & XIV; Nevoada Conslitution Art. .

Bupporting Facts:

‘I'tial counsel fuiled to provide (he Petitioner with a complete copy of his file. This
faiinre has preciuded post-conviction counsel and the court’s ability to elfectively review
the validlity of the Petitioner’s conviction. Petitioner requosts the Court's leave lo further
supplonient this claim upon receiving a complete copy of discovery.

Justifiention for Raiging [ssue in Post-Cunviction Procecding:

Deninl of fundamental consfitutional rights,

14
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Tssues concoming incffective assislance of counsel are properly raised in post-
conviction proceedings,
Claint 171 Failure to Receive Rffective Assistance of Counsel — Appellate

Counsel

Upon information end betief, Mr. Flowers’ conviction is invalid under the fedoral
and stetc constitutional guarantccs of due process, equal protection, and effective
assistanco of counsel due to his appellate counsel’s failurs to effectively appeal his
conviction. U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, & XIV; Nevada Constitution Art, I,

Supporting Facts:

Upon informetion and belicf, appellate counsel wrote the Petitioner n letter staling
that lie had a low probability of prevailing on direct appeat (Supreme Court case number
53159). Trial counset (Doputy Special Public Defender, Clark Patrick and Special Public
Defender, David Schieck) used the letter to convince the Petitioner to plead guilty in casc
number C216032. Pursnant (o the guilty plea agreement in case C216032, Petitioner
agreed to dismiss the direct appeal of his conviction in the instant matter.

174
it
i
"
i
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i
i
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Justificutlon for Rajsing [ssne in Post-Conviction Procceding:
Denial of fundamiental constifutionat rights.
Jssues conccrning ineffcctive assistance of appellate counsel arc properly raised in

post-coitviotion proceedings.

DATED this i dny of October, 2012,
ORONOZ & ERICSSON, L.L.C.

, Bricsson

Ne¢ Bar No. 4082
700 South 3rd Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Auorney for Petitioner

16
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JAMRES A. ORONO7, ESQ. CLERX OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar No, 6769
ORONOZ & TRICSSON LLC
700 South Third Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 83101

‘Telephone: {702) 878-288%
Facsimile: {702) 522-1542
jim@oronozlawyers.coit
Attornoy for Petitioner

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

NORMAN K. FLLOWERS,

Petitioner, CASENO. (228755

vs. DEPT.NQ. Xi

Date of Hearing:
Time of Tlearing:

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Renee Beker, in
her official capacity as the Warden of Fly
Statc Prison; James Cox, in his official
capagcily as Director of the Nevada
Depariment of Corrections; and Lhe State of
Nevada

Respondents.

Nt N St M N N N N St S N’ St vt S Yot St N Nms’

SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION FOR
WRIT OF HABKEAS CORPUS (POST-CON YICTION)

Pefitioner, NORMAN K. FLOWERS, by and through his counset of record, JAMES A,
ORONOZ, ESQ., hereby fites this Supplementsl Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviclion) Pursuant to NRS Chapter 34. This Petition, including the following Points and
Authorities, is made upon the pleadings and papers already on file, and any evidentiary hearing
and oral argument of counse! deomed necessary by the Court. Pefitioner, NORMAN K.

FLOWERS, stleges that he is being held in custody in violation of the Kifth, Sixth, and

I
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1l statc filed an opposition to the Motion on February 2, 2007. On November 5, 2007, the State

Foutteenth Amcudments of the Constitution of the United States of Ainerica, as well as Articles
1and 1V of the Nevada Constitution. |
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
I RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. PRE-TRIAL

On December 13, 2006, the Statc charged Mr. Flowers by way of Indictment with the
following: one count of burglary, one count of robbery, one count of firsl degree murder, and
ona count of sexual assault. ‘The charges listed the victim as Sheila Quarles. On January il,
2007, the State filed a notice of its intent to seek the death penalty.

On Decamber 26, 2006, the State filed a motion to consclidate the instant ease with the
case in State v, Flowers, Dist. Ct. No, C216032. In that casc, the State named Marilee Coote and
Renn Gonzales as the victims. Id. The State filed & similar motion in case 216032, On January
2, 2007, the Defense filed an Opposition to the Motion in the instant case, At a hearing on April
13, 2007, the State informed the district court that Judge Bonaventure had denicd the motion to
consotidate in C216032. The district court judge, at that time Judge Mosley, expressed a desire
to consolidate the cases and asked that the matter be heard before Judge Villani, who was to

receive case 0216032 following Judge Bonaventure's relitement.

On January 23, 2007, the Defense filod a Motion in Limine to Preclude Evidence of

Other Bad Acts, seeking to exclude admission of the facts of the Coote and Gonzales case. The

filed 'a Motion for Clarification of the Court’s Ruling, seeking guidance on whether Judge
fMosley’s comments from the April 13, 2607 heating had constituted a ruling permitting the
State to affipnaiively move to admit in the instant case evidence of Mr. Flowers’ potential bad

acta arising from case 216032, The Defense filed an Opposition to that Motion on November

2
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6, 2007. Judge Bell conducted a hearing on the malter on November 15, 2007, whercin he
ordered thal & Pelrocedfi hearing be conducted to determine the admissibility of the bad acts

evidence. The Petrocelli hearing occurred on August 1, 2008. Therein, the district court ruted

that ovidence pertaining to Mr. Flowcrs” possible involvement in the death of Marilec Coote
was admissible in the instant case, but that evidence with respect lo the Rena Gonzales
investigation was nol.

Ths district court directed that the State could present evidence from the Coote case only
o demonstrate the simitarities between the two cases. The district comt allowed the testimony
from the nurse and coroner/medical examiner concerning the mamer of Coote’s death, the
nature of her injurics, aml the DNA evidence from the Coote casc.

On September 29, 2008, the Defeasc {iled a Motiun io Reconsider the districl court’s
ruling on its Motion in Limine. While the district court dented this motion, it provided that the
Defense be allowed to enter a continuing objection to the bad acts evidence. The district court
further ruled that the Defense was entitled lo caufionary instructions with respect to the bad acts
evidence and to a relevant jury instruction at the tims the case was submitted to the jury. This
Himiting instru‘ction at tclal took the form of an admonishment to the jury that the bad act
testimony only be considered contingeat upon a finding that the acts had been proven by clear
and convincing cvidence. The district courl further admonished the jury to consider the
evidence only for the purposes of de:eﬁniniug identity, intent, motive, and absence of mistake
or accident.

On July 30, 2008, several months before trial, the Defenso filed & bench brief with the
district court detailing the facts of the Coote and Gonuales investigations. ‘The briof further
argued that admission of the evidence from gither of those cases constituted a de faclo joinder

solely for the purposes of creating emotional, prejudicial iinpact.

3
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B. TRIAL

Trial comntenced on Qctober 15, 2008. After five days of trial, the court submitied the
case 1o thejury. The jury returaed its verdict finding Mr. Flowers guilty of first-degree murder,
guilty uf sexual assault, and guilty of burglary, aud not guilty of robbery. During the subsequent
penalfy phaso, the jury retumed special verdicts for inifigating circumstances and imposed a
verdict of lifo without the possibility of parole rather than death.

On October 30, 2008, following the entry of verdict, the Defense filed a Motion for a
New Trial. The Motion cited as grounds for a new trial the district court’s rulings atlowing
admission of the bad acts evidence from case C216032 and allowing admission of corfain
portions of My, Flowers® statements (o police. The State filed an Opposition on November 10,
2008. The district court denied the motion on November 18, 2008.

M. Flowers was sentenced on January 13, 2009, The court sentenced M. Flowers to a
term of forty-eight (48) months to one lundred twenty (120) months in prison for burglary, 2
consccutive term of life ﬁ:ilhout the possibility of pasole for firsi-degree murder, and a
consceutive term of onte hundred twenty (120) months to life in prison for sexual assault. The
judgment of conviction was filed on January 16, 2009. An amended judgment of conviction wis
filed on February 12, 2009,

C. DIRECT APPEAL

Mr. Flowers fited a Notice of Appeal on Janusry 26, 2009. Mr. Ylowers filed an
Amended Notice of Appeal on February 20, 2009. On December 21, 2009, Mr. Flowers’
appellnte counsel filed an opening brief with the Nevada Supreme Court, alleging the following
errors:

1. The district court violated Flowers’ constitulionat rights by aftowing the State

to introduce unrelated prior bad act testinrony,

4
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2. The district court violated Ilowers' consfitutional rights by slfowing

teslimony to bo introduced in violation of Crawford v. Washington and

Commonwealih v. Melendez-Diag;

3. The district court viclated Flowers’ constitutional rights by allowing as
evidence a statement given by Flowers to detectives following invocation of
his right to remain sitent and right to counsel,

4, The district court violated Flowers’ constitutional rghts by admitting
gruesome photographs from the autopsy; |

5, The district court violaled Flowers’ constitutional right to present evidence by
precluding defense wilness William Kinscy from testifying that the victim
told him she was seeing someone named “Keith”;

6. The prosecutor commitied misconduct by commenting on Tlowars' right to
remain silent;

7. ‘there is insufficient evidenco to support Flowers’ conviction, and

8. The judgment shoutd be vacated based on cumulative error.

The Stato filed an snswering bricf on Fcbruary 19, 2010. The Defense filed a reply brief
on May 3, 2010. Oral argument was held before the Northern Nevadn Pancl of Ihe Nevada |
Supreme Court on February 15, 2011, On June 13, 2011, parsuant to a plea agreement resoiving
case C216032, the Defense filed a motion to voluntary dismiss the appeal, which wis granted.

D, POST-CONVICTION LITIGATION

‘The district court appointed James A. Oronow, Esq., to represcil Mr. Flowers oun June 8,

2012, in ‘connection with thig post-conviction proceeding. This Supplemental Petition now

follows.
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IL RELEVANT FACTS

Around 3:00 p.m., on March 24, 2005, Debra Quarles returned to her home at 1001 Nerth
Pecos Road in Las Vogas, Nevada to find her eightccn yoar-old daughter Sheila “Pooka®
Quarles drowned in the bathiub. Grand Jury Transcript “GIT” Vol. 1 at 20-29. She also
discovered that her stereo was missing from the living room. Id.

Sheita Quarlos’ sutopsy revealed evidence of homicide and of sexual assault, GIT Vol. 1 at
38-39. Dactors took DNA From inside of her vagina for analysis. Id. Testing of the D?;TA
reverlod two separate contributors of semen. Norman Keith Flowers was determined tobe a
likety contributor, TT Val. 4B at 45-48. It was later conciusively detennined that Sheila
Quarles’ neighbor, George Brass, Jr., was the second contributor. [d.

The course of the investigation revealed that Sheila Quarles maintained several sexual
relationships around the lime of her death, This included a relationship with a female transit
driver, Quuise Toney. GJT Vol. 1 at 13-14. Evidence also showed that Sheila Quarles told a
former boyfriend, William Kinsey, that she was dating a mean named Keith. TT Vol. 4B at 5-8.
George Beass, Ir, a neighbor, also claims to have nwaintained a comtinging sexual relationship
with Sheils Quaries, TT Vol. 3B at 81, bul Sheila Quarles' mother, Debre, could not corroborate
this fact. TT Vol. 2B at 34,

'Through police investigation and through testimony elicited at both the Grand Jury
proceedings and at trial, evidence partially established a tinietine of events during Sheila
Quarles’ final hours. At or around 6:30 a.m., Sheila Quades retucned to the apartment at 1001
North Pecos after spending the night with Qunisc Toney. TT Vol, 2B at 45-46. Qunise Toney
spoke with Sheila Quarles three or four more fimes throughout the day, by phone, with the fast
time being around 14:00 a.m. or 12:30 p.m., and Qunise Toney testified al teial that Shedla
Quarlcs scamed to be in a “good mood.” TT Vol 2B at 152-53. Debra Quarles, the victim’s
mother, also spoke with her daughtc:.' five times that day by phone, lafer testifying that Sheila
Quarles sounded “normal” each time. TT Vol 28 al 16‘. Debra Quarles [ast spoke with Sheila
Quaties around 1:00 p.m. During that conversation, the phone weat dead. When Debra tried to

call back, 10 one answered. Id. At or around 1:35 p.m,, Qunise Toney -receivcd a call [roen
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Sheila Quarfes’ phong, but when she answered, no one was on the line. Qunise Toney's relurn
call wont straight to voicemaif. TT Vol. 2B at 151

Tn the afternoon, Debra Quaries returned 1o the apariment complex. TT Vol. 2B at 19-22.
Debra Quedes estimated the time as being around "three something.” Id. Robert Lewis, a
ncighbor' who was apparently watching out of the window, came down to help. Id. The front
door to the Quarles’ apartment was clased but not lockex, which was unusual because. Sheila
apariment Debra Quarles immediately noliced that the stereo i the living room was missing. Id.
She went (o her bedroom and noticed that her room was “messed up.” Id. She also heard the
sound of water dripping in the bathroam and went to turn it of. Id.

Debra Quarles walked into the bathroaun, pulled back the shower curtain, and found Sheila
Quailes” body face-up in a full tb of water. TT Vel. 2B 4t 22-23. During this time, Robert
Lewis had been waifing in the living room, but came 1o hetp Debra Quarles pull Sheila out of
{hie water. Id. At that point, Debra Quarles lef the apartment to pick up her son, Raiph, who was
working nestby, TT Vol. 2B at 24. Roberi Lewis also lef\ the apariment, (old neighbors thal
Sheila Quarles needed help, and someone calied 911, TT Vol. 24 at 111.

When Debra returned, police and paramedics had aiready arrived at the apartment and were
beginning their investigation. TT Vol. 2B at 24. The first officer on the scene was Officer Brian
Cole, who cstimated at trial thel he anived at the apartment at or around 2:50 p.m. 1T Vol. 2A
at 108, e found Sheila’s body lying on the floor and sccurcd the scene. TT Vol. 2A at 109-111.
Debra provided the officers the following information: the pillow cases were missing from the
pillows in her bedroom, Sheila’s bank card and ceflular phone were missing, jewelry and CDs
were missing, and, as mentioned before, the stereo that had i)een in the living room was
missing. TT Vol. 2B at 26. She atso supplied fhe name of Qunise Toney as the only pecson she
could imagine who could have been invalved in Sheila’s death, TT Vol.2B at 25.

Scveral otfier people spoke with police offtcers al the scene. Qunisc Toney, who had boen

told about Sheila’s death, arcived at the apariment and spoke to the police. TT Vol. 2D at 156.

! Robat Lowis is elso the wncle of George Brass, Jr.
1
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George Brass, Ir., who also had been told of Sheila’s death, arrived at the apartment and spoke
briefly with an officer. TT 3R at 91. Brass did not mention anything to the officer about having
been ingide the apartment earlicr that day or about having sex with Sheila carlier that day. Id.;
TT Vol. 2B at 115.

{lomicide Detectivo James Vaccaro respordled to the sceno as the homicide supervisor. TT
Vol. 2D at 69. He coucluded that therc was no sign of forced entry into the apartment. TT Val.
2R at 74. He discovered Sheila’s clothing undernenth where hec bordy had been lying in the
bathroom. TT Vol. 2B at 89, Her underwear had apparently been placed on the outside of the
jeans and backwards. Id. As described above, analysts eventually discovered DNA from two
nle sources on Shetla’s underwear coilected at the crime scene. TT, Vol. 41 at 45-43. At trial,
Vaccaro agreed that “women can have sex with people consensually am [ater get murdered and
there is not necessarily a sexual component io the homicide.” TT, Vol 2B at 128,

Crime scene analysts collected twonty-ono (21) samiples for fingerprint analysis and found
fingerprints on nine (9) of those samples. TT Vol. 2B at 190. They did not attempt to take any
prints ofl' of Sheila’s body. TT Vol. 2B af 96-97. Not a single fingerprint from Noman Flowers
was found in the apartment. TT Vol. 2B at 194-95.

L police never recovered the items that ware missing from tho apariment, including the stereo
or Sheila’s bankcard. T'T Vol. 3B at 73; TT Vol, 4A at 67. While Sheila’s cellular phone was
not recovered, officers were able to obtain phone records for her phoue number. TT Vol. 3B at
20-71. Tho last calls recorded were an outgoing call to Quunise’s nupber around 1:35 pm. and &
similar incoming call just prior to Qunise’s call. 1d.

Turther police investigation and testimony at trial placed several people around the Quarles’
apariment the day of Sheila’s murder. Robeit Lowis, George Brass. Jr.’s uncle, testificd that he
had seen Brass at the apariment complex around luich time the day Shetla was kifled. TT Vol.
2B at 61. He estimated the time a8 being around 11:20 or 11:30 am. Id. According to George
Brass’ testitvony at trial, he had been around the apariment complex onfy briefly in tho Iatc
meorning, and tien had gonc.to work at tirc Wal-Mart ncar Craig and Martin Luther King in I.as

Vegas. TT Vol. 3B at 82, Brass claimed that his shift was o begin at 11:45 a.m, an& he stated
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that he arrived al work o time or close to on tisne. TT Vol. 3B at 23. Al trial, the State called
Gabricl Ubando, an assistant manager at the Wal-Matt on Ciaig and Martin Luther King, who
testified that the comings and goings of Wal-Mart employees are traced by badges that they
carty with them, which must bo swiped when leaving and returning. TT Vol, 3B at 97-100.
According to Ubando, Wal-Mart records show that Brass clocked into work at 12:04 pm.,
clocked out for lunch at 4:04 p.m., returned at 5:03 p.m., and left at 7:43. Id. The recards do not
reflect the timo that Brass lefl work 1o retumn to Sheila’s apattment afier her death, a period in
which he acknowledges he did not clock out, but hie claims he told his supervisor leaving was
necessitated by the emergency at the Quaries’ apsrtment. TT Vol. 3B at 89-91.

Further, Debra to];i Detectives about an older man who had recently moved into the
apartment complex. T'T Vol. 2B at 36. She told them that he had recently been released from
prison. Id. She made the investigators nware thai, on onc occasion about a month prior to
Sheila’s death, the man had knocked on the Quarles’ aparinent door and had asked Debra’s
younger daughter, Miracle, to go gel Sheila. TT Vol. 2B al 36-38. Debra had told the man how
old Shoila was and had told him ia stay awsy from their house. fd. After Sheila’s death, she
gave police the maa’s name, Darnoll, along with a physicat description. Id. Detectives Long
claim.s to have “run . . . down” that lcad and it had “tamcd out lo be nothing” ‘I'I' Vol, 4A at 70.

Robert Lewis was also known [o have been hanging around the aparimeat the day of
Sheila’s death. When police responded to the scene, Lewis voluntatily gave a DNA samyple and
spoke with polive for approximalely an hour, but the police did not take u written statement. T1
Vol. 31 26-27. The Defense was able to uncover evidence that Robert Lewis frequently sold
items al pawn shops, including women’s jewclry. TT 4A at 13-16. However, the jury was not
altowed to hear this evidence af trial,

Lewis also testified about seeing one of his nephews, Anthony Culverson, around Sheila’s
apartnent llie day of Sheila’s death TT Vol. 2B al 62. Lewis testified at uial that he had
previously noticed Culverson interacting with Sheila, and that (,\llym'ﬁ;on’s intaractions had

prompted Lewis to tell kim “she was # youngster, he shouldn’t be trying to 1alk 1o her like that.”

TT Yol. 2B at 63.
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Natalie Scna was also a resident of the apar'tmen: complex wherc the Quatles lived in March
of 2005. TT Vol 4B at 104. She told pokics that, on the day Sheita died, she had seen a tail,
skinny man in a flannel shirt near the Quaries’ apartment. TT Vol. 4B at 106-07. $he also
thoughit she remembered seeing George Brass, Jr,, known to her as “Chicken,” !_}eforg asxl after
12:00 p.m. TT Vol. 413 ut 108, She testified at trinl that she had seen Brass with the other tall
skinny man, id. She also testified that, after 12:00 p.m,, she had seen the lall skinny man
knacking on Sheila Quarles® door or just coming out of her apartment. 1d. She described his
manner as “creeping.” Id.

At the time of Sheila’s death, Natalie Sena was living in the aparfment above Sheila's with &
man named Jesus Navarro, TT Vol. 4B at 110, She testified ot trial that, two or three days after
Sheila’s death, she saw Jesns (somefimes called “Jesse™) outside of her apartménl with a “radio”
with “delachable speakers.” Id. Sena testified that she had asked Navairo wh;:re he got the
“radio” and that be had 1old her that he got it “from the apartruent downstairs, the pirl’s
downslairs apartment.” TT Vol 4B at 111

Veronica Sigala, the assistant manager at the apartment complex, also testified abont her
interactions with Navarro. ‘'l Vol. 413 130-35. She had scen him break into apattments around '
the complex. She had told him to leave the property seven or eighl times and had calléd the
police on him three or four time. Id.

Martha Valdez, also a resident at the apartmont complex at the fime of Sheila's denth,
testificd at trial about a man who had broker into her home alter midnight shorily after she had
moved in. ‘f7 Vol. 4B {39-41.

Detective Geurge Sherwood was one of the police investigators assigned to work on the
case under Dotcctive Vz;ccaro. TT Vol. 4A at 40. He would later testify as to how investigators
developed Mr. Flowers a9 8 suspect. Sherwood was aware {hat the DNA recovered from
Sheila's underwear and genitals pointed 10 the presence of two different male DNA profiles. TT
Vol. 4A al 70. Part of the DNA recovered from Shéila’s genitals and underwear was matched
with DNA records from Flowers afready in the laboratory’s “CODIS” database. TV Vol. 4A o

71. Sherwoad was made aware of ihis information on August 22, 2006. Id. Thereafter, Mr.

10
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Flowers was treated as a suspect, Sherwood remembered another homicide detective handling a
casc with a suspect also named Normag Flowers. TT Vol. 4A at 72. That casc also involved a
sexual assault and murder.? Id.

Dan Long, a detective witl the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department’s Gang Unit,
was also involved in the investigation of Sheila Quarles’ death. TT Vol. 33 at 16. He would
later describe at trint the means by which investigators came to suspect that George Brass, Jr,,
was the second contributor to the DNA samples relrieved from Sheila’s vagina and undenwear.
I’ Vol. 3B at 40, Long explained how he had found through one source that Sheila “had been
\alking to a man by the name of Chicken.” TT Vol. 3H at 41, Long determined that a man
wicknamed “Chicken” resided in the same apariment complex as Sheila, and that his real name
was CGieorge Brass, Jr. 'T'1 Vol. 3B at 4]-42,

At that time, rass was in custody at Clark County Detention Center. Long spoke wilh
Beass, and Brass adnitted botl to having been in the apariment the day Sheila was killed and to
having sex with her. TT Vol. 3B at 96.

Q- “Without saying what he specifically said, did Mr. Brass agree to spoak with you
about Sheila Quaries and his rclationship with hee?”
A-  “Yes, he did.”
Q- “Could he have refused to speak wilh you at that point?”
A “Absalutely.”
Q-  “Could he have told you that ! don’t want to talk to you at afl, I want my lawyer,
T don’t want to talk to you?”
A- "Yes”
Q-  “Hedidnt do that?”

2 prior (o Irinl, the State proposed to admil the facts of the investigntion in & companion cese, involving a viclim
aanicd Mariles Coote, to demousimio “idanity, motive, kaowledge, intent, [and] sbsence of mistake” in (bo instent
case. The defense argued for its exclusion based on the fact (Lt if is wiproven bad pot evidonce, and on the
cetashophic prejudiciat effect the adsmission of other unproven allegations of sexuat assault and nrurder wonld have
o Flowers® case. See Defenidant’s Mottop ln Liwtue to Preclude Evidence of Other Bad Acts andt Motlon to
Confirm Counsel, June 23, 2007; Defenidant’s Matlon io Reconstder the Ruling on Defendant’s Motlon in
Limine to Prectude Rvidonce of Other Rl Acts, Septémber 29, 2008, Substantial evidence was introduced in
M. Flowers' iiat purportedly connecting Mr. Flowers to the Coote muuler and porportedly showing similnritics
between the Coote case and Sheile Quardes’ eaxc.,

It
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A-  “No”
TT Vol. 3B at 41-43.

Brass would later testify at frial that he had been inside tho Quarles’ apartment and had had
sox with Sheila the day she died, at acound 10:30 a.m, TT Vol. 3B at 82, Ile testified that they
had had sex on the living room floor aud that he hed been inside the apartment “[maybe 20
minutes at the most.” TT Vol. 3B at 87-88. The levels of DNA evidence in Sheila’s vagina and
underwear were “prelly much ever” as (o both Flowers and Brass. TT Vol. 4B at 68. The
detectives bocame aware of this fact only a few manths before Mr. Flowers was to go on irial,

After matching M. Flowers' DNA to the DNA found in Sheila’s vagina and underwear,
police approached Flowers and interviewed him about the case. TT Vol. 4A at 8] et se.
Flowers was in custody at the time on another matior. Id. During the course of this interview,
Flowers sought to invoke his right to remain silent, explaining that he did not want to “get
involved in auybody else’s mattess.” TT Vol, 4A at 87. The interrogation continued anyway. Id.
At tsial, the Defense unsuccessfully sought to exclucle the testimony drawn from Fiowers after
his invocation of his right to remain silent, TT Vol. 5 at 121. The couit admitted this evideace,
1d.

At trial, the doctor who performed Sheila Quaries’ autopsy, Dr. Ronatd Knoblock, did not
testify, althongh the results of the autopsy were clearly an esseruial part of the State’s case.
Instead, the State called medical examiner Lary Simuns, who presented Dr. Knoblock’s findings,
despite the fact that Dor. Knoblock resided in Las Vegus, Neveda at the time of the Irial. Further,
the DNA analyst who performed some of the DNA. analysis central to the Stale’s case in the
Marilee Coole investigation, Thomas Wahi, was afso not called. Instead, Kristina Paulette
restified about DNA cxarainations that Wehl had performed. Both instances wore clear
violations of Flowers’ rights to due process, confrontation, and cross-exanination of witnesses.
In spite of this, trial counse! failed to object to sither the testimony of Dr. Simims o of Ms.
Paulette. —

Dr. Simms testified to the results of the autopsy. TT Vol. 2A at 46 et seq. He testified that
Sheila had been asphyxisted, caused by strangulution to her neck. 171 Vol 2A at 51, 54. He

12
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concluded that the absence of ligature marks indicated likely manual steangulation. TT Vol. 2A
at 54-55. He also noted that the sutopsy results showed bruising on Sheila’s abdonen, an
abrasion on her knec, and lacerations in the vaginal arca, TT Vol. 2A at $1. He stated his
opinion that the tearing in the lising of the vagina wero congistent with forcible penetration, s
wonld occur in o sexual assautt. TT Val. 2A at 51-52. Iic also stat&d his elief thut the
lacerations had ocourred prior to her death, within an hour of death. TT Vol. 2A at 52. He
acknosvledged that semen inserted info & vaging can remain for a period of time and that the
presence of DNA inside the vagina of a sexual assault and murder victim does not nccessarily
meun the deposit of that senten was conterporaneous with a sexual assault, TT Yol ZA at 97-
9%, Fe also acknowledged that it is not scientifically possible, where the semen of two different
men is idenlitied inside a vagina, to determine which was deposited first witiont more evidence
than was available in this caso. TT Vol. 2A at 98-99.

Dr. Siizms also fcstificd that there had been a fresh hemorrhage to the 1ight side of Sheila’s
scalp that was consisient with bluni force trauma (TT Vol. 2A al 56), a3 well as frothy flnd in
her airway, which he stated could be a sign of drowning. 'I'T Vol. 2A at 60. Dr. Simms recited
Dr. Knoblock's conclusion that Sheila’s cause of death had been drowning, with strangulation
a8 a contributing factor. ‘I'1" Vol. 24 at 68. Flowers did not contest the cause of death. Defense
@unsel properly objected, therefore, when the State sought to introduce numerous grucsome
photos from the autopsy, which incltded a photograph of Sheila’s tongue after it had been
removexl from her body. TT Vol. 24 at 6168, Over defense objection, the district court
admitted the photographs as exhibits 93 — 108, TT Vol. 2A at 61-62.

Kristina Paulette testified at trial as 10 her own DNA analysis and as lo anafysis perforincd
by another DNA cxpert, Thomas Wahl. TT Vol. 4B ut 30, 48, As described above, trial counsel
failed to object to Ms. Pauletie’s testimonial hearsay staternents regarding the work of Mr,
Wahl, who was not present to present his own findings. Ms. Paulette clescribed to the jua-y that
DDNA samples takon from Sheila’s vagina revealed the presence of DNA from two separate
males. TT Vol. 4B at 36, 41-42. Pauletie explained how her first tests had first rovealed Mr.
Flowers as a possible contributor to one of the male DNA profiles but that, later, in 2008, she

13
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was given a bupcal swab from George Brass, Jr,, and determined that Brass was a fikely
conteibutor {0 the other matc DNA profile. TT Vol. 4B at 40, 46.
During direct examination, the State elicited improper vouching testimony from Detective
Vaccaro regarding the State’s essenial witness, Geouge Brass, i
Q- “Novw, if Mr. Brass—or assuming Mr. Brass admitted or told detectives that fie
had sexual contact with Miss Quarles on the day of her death, the room or the location
that the intercourse took place wouldn’t be particularly relevant in the investigation,
would it, if it was a consensual relationship?”’ '
A-  “Not with regard to that sexual conlact with regard to Mr. Brass.”
Q- “(Okay. So if he said that he had sex with her on the floor of one of the rooms m
Debra Quarles’ apartment, knowing that doesn’t necessarily tell you who'kil!c& Sheila
Quarles later on?" ‘
A- "I think that the correct answer to that woutd be that it wasa’'t importaat until we
knew more about that sexual activity and whether or not he was a suspect in our case.
So I don’t know if that’s a conlusing answer, bul when we learned about him as a
suspect or not & suspect in Cur case, when lie did not develop as a suspect in our case,
then that location that the consensual sex took place wasi't of any tmportance to us.”
Q- “J mean—-yeah, I guess that’s my question.” It doosn’t 1ell you: any more about
the investigation or how she was killed if he says I had sex with hor on the living room
floor, on the kitchen floor or on the bedroom floor? That doesa’t tell you anything about
who killed Sheila Quarles, does it?” '
A-  “No. I mean, he could have said he had sex with her at a location olher than the
apartment even, for that matter. The fact that he said that he had sexual contact with her,
but then showed additionn] itformation—or additional investigation showed us that he
wasn’t u suspect in thal, where they had sex wasn’t of importance to us, and, st that
point, T think that was beyond ny time there anyway. So in my experience, that
wouldn’t have been important 1o me.”

Q- “And the fact that someone has sex with another individual on a floororon 8

14
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carpet, that wouldn't nccessarily mean that sperm or some kind of DNA would end up
on the carpet by virtue of the sexunl activity, would it?”

A-  “No. ButI guess we could say that depending upon the pesitioning of the two
individuals having sex, you could make & conclusion whether or not there was some

deposit of semen on the surface that they were having scx on. So | don’t really know

how to answer lhat.”
Q- “Maybe, maybe not?”

A-  “Ti doesn’t mean il's always going to be there.”

TT Vol. 2B at 130-131.
At several stagey during trin, the State’s attorneys alsa impropetly coninented on

Flowers’ decision iot ta testify and not o speak with detectives during interrogation:

When Christina Paulette iested the swabs that were taken from Sheila’s vagina and
from her pantics, whose DNA did she find? She found George Brass, the person who
came in here, swore to tell the truth, and told you yeah, I had sex with Sheila that day.
I had sex with her in the morning, and then 1 went 1o work. He didn’t have to tefl you

that, but he did.

Now, George Brags was spoken to by the police. He could have said no, T'm not”

talking, I have nothing to say. Remember he’s in custody. But he voluntarily spoke to
tho police and said, yeah, I had sex with her sud then I wenl to work. George Brass
who was in custody could have snid hell, ro, I'm not giving you & DNA sample, but

he di¢t. He voluntarily gave a DNA sample.

If lie had oot told them, yeah, T had sex with her that day, if he had not given a
samiple, we would be in the same place we were six months 8go, a year 4g0, two years
ago, three years ago and have no ider who the other sample was.

George Brass who has nothing lo gain by being cooperative and basically everything
1o lose because the ruth, and in fact, his DNA is found in the vagina of a girl who had

just been smurdered.

He voluntarily gave a slatement, gives a sample and then comes in here to testify, He
had nothing to hide. He tofd us that ke was at the apartments that moming, he told us
hat he was living thete, but he saw Sheila that moring, he went into her apartment
and he had sex with het he thought between 10:30, 11 0’clock and then went to work.

TT Vol. 5 at 50-51.

i5
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Well, what happens when the police tinally show up on George Brass’s door siep? He
tells them, yeah, I’ve had a sexual assault with Sheila that’s been going on & long
fime. He doesn’t ask for a lmvyer, he doesn’t ask fo remain silent. He’s sitting in
custody, but when the police come and ask him, he gives it up. He says 1 had this

relationship. ..

And certainly when you have Brass's demeanor and his willingness ta cooperate with
the police, you can pretty much disregard that as rank speculation, which you're not
supposed to do in this casc.

IT Vol. 5 at §18-20.

After five days of trial, the court submitied the case to the jucy. The jury defiberated fcr- over
24 hours hefors returming its verdict, finding Mr. Flowers guilty of first-degree murder, guilty of
soxual assault, and guilly of burglary, and finding kim not guilty of robbery. During the penalty
phasie, the juty retnmed special verdicts for mitigating circumstances and imposed a verdict of

life without 1he possibility of parole, rather than death.

M. Flowers was sentaniced on Janoary 13, 2009, The court sentenced Mr. Flowers to 4 temn
of forty-cight (48) months to ono hundred twenty (120) months hy prison for burglary, a
congecutive ferm of life without the possibility of patole for first-degreo murder, and a

consecutive term of one undred twenty (120) months to life in prison for sexual assault,

1.  GROUNDS FOR RELIEF
I EGAL AUTHORITY RELEVANT TO ALL CLAIMS
A conviction cannol stand when defense counsel provides ineffective assistance of
counsel. U.S. Const, Amends, V, VI, & XIV; Nevada Constitution Art. 1. Counsel is ineffective
when (1) his porformanco is doficiont, such that counsel made crrors so sorious he ceased to.
function as the “counsel” guamme:cd by the Sixth Amendment, and (2) when the deficiency

prejudiced the defendant, such that the result of the trial is rendered unreliable. Stricktand v.

Washington, 466 1.8, 668, 687-88 (1984). The question of whether & defendant has received
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inefleclive assistance at tdal is a mia_rcd question of law andl fact and is subject to independent
review. State v. Love, 109 Nev, 1136-38, 865 P.2d 322, 323 {Nev. 1993).‘

Performance of trial counsel will be judged against the objective standard for
reasonableness, and is delicient whes it [alls below that standard. State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751,

759, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (Nev. 2006), Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P3d 25 (Nev. 2004).

Where trial counsel might claimi that an action was a stralegic one, the reviewing cowt must

satisfy itself that the decisions were, indeed, reasonable. Strickiand, 466 U.S. at 691.

Prejudice to the defendant ocours whete thete is & reasonablo probability that, buat for
counsel’s erors, the result of the trial would have been different.” Kirksey v, State, 112 Nev,
980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1996). A “reasonabie probability” is one sufficient to
undenmine confidence in the outcome. Id.

With respect to post-conviction habeas corpus petitions, all fectual altegations in support
of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim need onty be proven by 4 preponderance of the
evidence. Powell, 122 Nev. at 759.

ARGUMENT
1 Trinl counsel was incffective for failing te object to the improper

testimony of a Stale’s wituesses {estilying as (o the results of work
performed by other experts, in violation of Crawford v. Washington.

The Confroatation Clause guarantoes that “testimonial” out-of-court statemonts of a
wilness are barred unless the witness appears at trini or, it the witness is unavailable, the
defendant had a priar opportliuily to cross-cxamine. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Crawford v.
Washington, 541 LS. 36, 53-54 (2004). A testimoniat statement is “a declaration or affirmation
made for the porpose of establishing or pmving’aamc fact.” Id. at 51. There are a “core class of’
testimonial statcmpnts” which iuclude (1) ex-parte in-coust testimony or its functional

equivalent, suclh as affidavits, custodial examinations, or sintlar pretrial statements that a
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declarant would reasonably expect ta be used for prosecution; (2) extrajudicial statements
contained in formal testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or
conlessions; and (3) slatements made under circumstances where it is reasonablc to belicve the
statenent will be available for tater use at trigl. Melendez-Dinz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305,
310 (2009) (ciling Crawford, 541 U.8. al 51-52).

Additionally, a forensic report prepared for the purposes of aiding a police investigation”
epitomizes the definition of “testimonial.” Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 131 5.C1. 2705, 2717-
2718 (2011). 'Fhe Court in Crawlord made clear that the “core class” of testimonial statements
was niol intended to be a comprehensive definition of what qualifics as “testimonial™ (Crawford,
541 10.S. at 68), meaning that even statements falling outside bf the core class may still be
testimonial such that (he protections of the Confrontation Clausc are invoked. The Bullcoming
Court explicitly stated that surrogate testimony of forensic laboratory reports do not mnesf the

Confrantation Clavse requirements:

The question presented is whether the Confrontation Clause permits the
prosecution to infroduce a forensic laboratory report confrining & testimonial
certification—-made for the purpose of proving a particular tact—threugh the
in-conrt testimony of a scientist who did not sign the certification or perform
or observe the fest reporied in the certification. We hold that surrogate
testimony of that order does not mect the consticuttonal vequirgment, The
accused’s right is to be confronted with the analyst who made the certification,
anless that analyst is unavailable at tial, and the accused had an opportunity,
pretrial, fo cross-examine that particular scientist. Bullcoming, 131 8.C1. at 2710.

Under this clear standatd, a prosecutor cammot introduce forensic evidence theough a
sutrogaie expert without analyzing whether the defendant cross-examined the originat expen

priot te trial becauso introducing that evidence explicitly violates the defendant’s rights uncler

the Confrontation Clause.

18
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affidavits without the presence of the analysts who prepared the affidavits at tria) violated the
defendant’s right to confront the witnesses against him. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 329. The
Court concluded that “[a]bsent a showing hat the analysis ware unavailable to testify at trial
and that fthe petitioner] had a prior opportunity lo cross-examine them, [the petitioner] was
entitled 1o be confronted with the analysis at trial” Id. at 311, Accordingly, in Bullcoming, the
Court explained that inboratory and torensic reports constituted lestimonial evidence because a
surrogats witness could not convey the original observatioms outlined in the docinent.
Ballcoming, 131 S.CL at 2715. As  result, the defendant would not be able to expose nay lies,
bias, subjectivity, unreliability, or inconsistencics with the reporis as created by the original
prepaser, which facially sud effectively deprives the defendant of his constinnional right to

croas-exanine the witness who created & testimonial piece of evidence against him. Bullcoming,

131 S.C¢. at 2715-2716. (See also, Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 321).

The anly method 10 circamvent the defendant’s right to confront ihe preparer ol a
taboratory or forensic report would‘be to show that the witness was unavailabie to testify at trial
and to show that the defendant had a prior opportunily to cross-examine that witness. Melendez-
Diaz, 557 U.S. at 309. Without both of these clements, a testimonial statement canuot be
introduced to a jury unicss tho defendant has the opportunity to croas-examine the original
wilness. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68, (Sce also, Melendez-Diaz, 557 LS. at 309).

The rati;onale for this rule stems from the fact that human nature encompasses
subjectivity, bias, and onrefiability. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 321. Also, “{tjhereisa *.;vide
variability ncross forensic science disciplines with regard to techniqucs, mcth.odologies,

reliability, types and nuinbers of potential errors, research, general acceptability, and published

material.” Melendez-Diax, 557 U.S. at 320-321 (Citing National Academy Report 5-5). Asa
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result, sciontific inquiry, although generally methodolagical, does not always maintain perfect
objectivity, which further strengthens a defendant’s need to cross-cxamine tho witnesses that the
State presents. Id. at 321,

Additionally, a prosecutor cannot claim that a forensic report o affidavit should be
admissible os a business record without confrontation. Melendez-Diaz, 557 17.8, at 321.

Documents kept in the regular course of business may ordinarily be admitted at
irial despite their hearsay status. But that is not the case if the regularly
conducted business activity is the production of evidence Tor use at trial,
Melendez-Diaz, 557 13.8. at 321 (internal citations oifted).

The Court has also conclided that business records, as most other hearsay
exceplions, are not testimonisl by nature. Id. af 324. Therefare, business recards that are
nat testimonial do not generally require confrontation because they are “created for the
administration of an entity’s affairs” rather than for the use of proving a fact at brial. Id. at
324,

a. Failure fo object to testimonial autopsy reports
Here, Dr. Knobiock’s autapsy repart constituted testimonial evidence. Firgt, the autopsy

report clearly scrved as a “solemn declarntion or affirmation made for the purpose of

establishing or proving some fact.” Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51, Additionally, any cxpert report

“made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably (o believe that
tho statement would bo available for use at a later trisl” constitutes a testimonial report.
Melendez-iaz, 557 U.S. at 311 (giting Crawford, 541 U.S. at 52). Accordingly, Dr. Knoblock
conducted an sutopsy on Ms. Quarles, deduccd that her death occtirred by;r homicide, and

subsequenily prepared a report. Auly objective wilness would reasonably believe that an autopsy

report indicating homicide g a method of death would be subject to later use in a criminal trial.
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Because Dr. Knohlock’s autopsy report constituted testimonial evidence, the parties
showld have anafyzed (1) whether Dr. Knoblock was unavailable to testify at vial, and (2)
whether Mr. Flowers had a prior oppottunity to cross-examiie Dr. Knoblack as a witness.

Dr. Knoblock left the Clark County Medical Fxaminer's oftice shortly afler preparing
Ms. Quarles’ autopsy report, but Dr. Knoblock remained in Las Vegas, Nevada, as a praclicing
physician. Also, the recard does not reflect that the State offercd any ressonable explanation for
Dr. Knoblock's absence al trial. Instead, the State called Dr. Simms to testify to the contents of |
the autopsy report prepared by Dr. Knoblack, A critical fact that is beyond dispute is that Dr.
Simms was not present during the awtopsy, nor did he have any personal knowledge of the
contents of the repost. Thus, it would have been virtuaily impossible to confront any issucs
pertaining to subjectivily, blas, meihodui(;gy, or nareliability. Quite simply, Dr. Simms testilied
to a report for which he did not have the m;tﬁority or the knowlcdge to answer for Dr.
Knoblock’s mcthodology, subjective opinion, or bias.

Additionally, Mr. Flowers did not have any prior opportunity to cross-oxamine Dr.
Knoblock as a witness. Although the State offered Dr. Sinms 3 a witness to testify to the
contents of Dr. Knnblock’s report, the futally defective confrontation issues presented by this
constitutionally deficient practice retain.

Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy report should not have been admissible as cvidenco at trial
because the admission of that report violated Mr. Flowers’ Sixth Amendment right {o confront
Dr. Knoblock as a witness against hirn. Despite these facts, Mr. Flowers” trial counsel did not
object to the admission of Dr. Simins' testimony of presenting the lindings contgined in Dr.
Knoblock's report.
it
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t. Deficlent performance
'Trial conusel was ineffective by failing to object to Dr. Simm’s testifying about Dr.
Knoblock's autopsy reports, Here, the autopsy reports referenced by Dr. Simms at trial were
clearly testimonial, Thereforo, they were inadmissibie at trial without the presence of the
original author of the reports or without & prior opporiunity for cross-examingtion, pursuant lo
Melendes-Diaz and Crawlord. Mr. Flowers did not have the opportunity to cross-cxamine Dr.
Knoblock at either the preliminary hearing or at uial, and the State did nol offer an explanation

for Knoblock's absence. The 1U.S. Supreme Court’s holding in Melendez-Diaz clearly compels

the exclusion of his autopsy reposts.

Knowing the 1mpoﬂanoé of the autopsy repotts to the State’s case, a reasonably prudent
attorney should have taken steps to prevent testimony regarding the autopsy reports 4l trial.
Further, ny reasonably paident sttorney should object when the Defendant suffers a denial of
his Sixth Amendinent Right to Confroniation, A failure of this magnitude certainly rises lo the
level of un error .that impacted 1hic outcome of the trial. In cssence, trial counsel’s failure to
object to Dr. Shamy’ testimony regarding the aulopsy records prepared by Dr. Knoblack
unequivocally constitated deficient performance. As such, profecting this right is a mandatory
function of representing a criminal defendnnt. Tn this light, trial counsel’s performance fefl
below the objective stundard qu peoviding counsel as required by the Sixth Amendment.

ii. Prejudice

Mr. Fiowers suffered prejudice because the proper exclusion of the State’s ;utopsy
evidence wotild have reasonably resulted in a different outcome such that this ecror of teial
counsel effectively undermines confidence in the outcome of the verdicl. Trial counsel’s failure
to object generally precluded Mr. Flowers' ability 1o raise th; jasue on appeal without a showing

of phain ercor. Fiores v, Statc, 121 Nev. 706, 722, 120 P3d 1170, 1180-81 (Nev. 2005). That
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fact alone shows that Mr. Flowera sufTered itreparable prejudice. Not only did trial coungel fail
to object, but trial counse! also failed to inquire as to Dr. Knoblack’s unavailability at trial. Trial
counsel should have known that canfrenting a witness is an essential right afforded to the
defendant by the Constitution, Because of trial counsel’s faiture to protect Mr. Flowers’
constifutional right to confront Dr. Knoblock as a wifness against him, M. Flowers was forced
to appeal the issue on the grounds of plain error. M. Flowers should not have sulYered this
prejudice resutting from a blatung constitutional violation. Because of the deficiency in the
performance #nd the prejudice, biial counsel siripped Mr. Riowers of his Constitutional right to
cffective assistance of counsel.

b, Tailure to object to DNA evidence

Mr. Wahi’s ﬁNA report periaining to the Coote case constituted testimonial evidence.
First, the DNA report “created sofely for au ‘evidentiary purpose™ and “made in aid of a police
inv'esti gation” was & “declamtion or affiration made for the purpose of establishing or proving
some fact.” Bullcoming, 131 8.CL at 2717, Crawford, 541 U.S 53-54. {See also, Melendez-
Diaz, 557 U.S. at 311). .Additionally, any report that would “lead an objective witness
reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at 2 later irial,” constitules a
{estimontal report. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 31 I‘ {Citing Crawford, 541 U.8. at 52).

Tn Butlcoming, the United States Supreme Coutt determined that laboratory and forensic
reports, such as DNA reports, constitute testimonial evidence, This means that surrogate experts
cannol cotvey the original cbservatians contained in the report. Bullcoming, 131 8.C1. at 2715
In this case, the prosecutor introduced the testimony of Ms. Pauleile, who was the original DNA
examiner for M. Sheila Quarles’ caso. However, the prosecutor atso introduced Ms. Pavletic’s
testimony regarding the Merilee Coole case, for which Mr. Flowers was not on Irial. In this

case, Ms. Paulettc testified about the contents of a DNA repoit prepared by Mr. Wahl for the
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Coote cas¢. However, Mr. Wah! was the original preparer for the DNA report in Ms. Coote’s
case. As a result, Ms, Paulettc was not present at the time that Mr. Wah! created the original
DNA reporl for Ms. Coote’s case.

These nadisputable facts show thut Mr. Wahl’s DNA report constitute testimonial
evidence subject to the Confrontation Clause requirements. Bulicoming, 131 §.Ct at 2713-
2714. However, the prosecutor in this case introduced Ms. Paulette as someone yualified as &
custodian of records to review records kept during the normal course of business for the DNA
laboratory, Pursuant to Melendez-Diaz, the DNA repert, like other forensic repoits, cannot
conslifute business records that are exempt from the Confrontation Clansc requiremonts because
they were preparcd in conjunction with a criminal investigation and created ta prove a facl at
trial. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 324 (See also, Bulicoming, 131 S.Ct. at 2714; Counner v. Statc,
130 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 49, 63 (2014) (Gibbons, C.J., concurring)).

Heeause the report should have beeu subject to the Confrontation Clause requirements,
the parties should have analyzed (1) whether Mr. Wahi was unavailnble to testify af trial, and
(2) whether Mr. Flowers had the prior oppottunity to cross-examine Mr. Wahl as a wilness.

The recort does not reflect any information regarding Mr. Wahl’s availability. The State
did not offer any oxplanation for his absence at trial. The State simply began to ask M. Pauletic
to interpret and to testify regarding the contonts of Mr. Wah!'s report, but Ms. Paulette was not
present when Mr. Wahl conducted his report. Although Ms. Paulette conducted an ind.q:mdmt
exantination of the DNA results after Mr. Wall conducted his examination, Ms. Paulette had no
authority 1o testify to the cantents of Mr. Wahl’s report because Mr. Wahl’s report clearly

constituted testimonial evidence, which may have contained subjective, biased, or unexplainable

methodologies.
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i. Deficient performance

Trial connsel failed to protect Mr. Plowers® constitutionad right to confront a witness
against him. Trial counsel objected to the admission of Mr. Wahi’s report on hearsay grounds.
under the hearsay exception, Thercfore, forensic reports fall within the reach of the
Confrontation Clal.lse. As such, trial counsel failed {a protect Mr. Flowers’ Sixth Amendment
right tb confront Mr. Wall as 2 witness becaﬁse Mr. Wali prepared the original DNA report.

T addition, Mr. Flowers did not have an opl)onz;ui;y to cross-examine Me. Wail at
cither the prelitinary hesring or at trial. Nor did the State ofler an explanation for Mr. Wahl’s
absence. The U.S. Supremne Couit’s hotding in Melendez-Diaz clearly compels the exclusion of
his DNA tesling report because the defendant did not have an oppartunity 1o cross-examine (he
scientist who created the repors. Accordingly, Mr, Flowers’ (rial counsel raised an objection
which the United States Supreme Court has decmed inapplicable. The reat violation at play
constituted a blaiant violation of Mr. Plowers’ Sixth Amondment rights.

Because of the importance of the DNA to the State's case against Flowers with respecl
to the Coote murder, a reasonably prudent attorney should have taken steps to prevent testimony
concerning that evidence at tiial. Further, any prudeat attorney should object whea the
Defendant is being subjected to a denial of his Sixth Amendnient Right to Confrontation. In this
light, failure fo object properly to Ms. Paulette’s teslimony regarding the DNA records prepared
by Mr. Wahl constituted deficient performance on the part of trial counsel.

. Prejudice

Mr. Flowers suffered prejudice becausc the cxclusion of Mr. Wahl's DNA report would

have substantially affected the ontcome of the trial. Trial counsel’s failure to raise the correct

abjection cost Mr. Flowers a denial of his constitutional right to confront Mr. Wahl as a witness.
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ability to raise the issue on appeal without a showing of plain error. Flores v. State, 121 Nev.

Trial counsel’s error created & reasonabie probability that “but for counsel’s crrors, the
result of the tral would have been different.” Kirk Stats, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d

1102, 1107 (Nov. 1996). Trial counsel’s failure to abject generally precluded M. Flower’s

706, 722, 120 .3d 1170, 1180-81 (Nev. 2005). 'Il_mt Fuct alone shows that Mr. Flowers suftered
irceparable prejudice. Trial counset’s failure substantially afTected Mr. Flower’s constitutional
rights under the Sixth Amendment. As such, Mr. Flowers suffered imrepamble prejudice due to
irial counsel's failure to provide reasenably competent assistance. In light of these facts, trial
counsel was ineffective for failing 1o object to inadmissible cvidence, theroby &epriving M.
Flowers of a fundamental right to confront witnesses against him.

0. ‘T'rial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecution’s improper
vouching for the credibility of its own witness.

Nevada law requires that “{i]t is exclusively within the province of the frier of fact to
weigh cvidence and pass on the credibility of witnesses and their testimony.” DeChant v. State,
116 Nev. 918, 924, 10 P.3d 108, 112 (2000), (Citing Lay v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 1192, 886
P.2d 448, 450 (1994)). Furihermore, a prosecutor may not vouch. Browning v, State, 120 Nev.
347, 359, 91 P.3d 39, 48 (2004)> A proseculor vouches when the “prosecution places “ ‘the

prestige of the government behind the witness™ by providing “‘personal assurances of [the]

witness's verscity.” Browning, 120 Nev. at 359. (Citing 1.8, v. Kerr, 981 F.2d 1050, 1053 (9th
Cir. 1992); 11.8. v Roberts, 618 F.2d 530, 533 {1980)).
The Nevada Supreme Court has expressly adopted the Ninth Circuit's logic, “Analysis

of the havm cansed by veuching depeads in part on the closeness of the ¢case.” Lisie v. State, 113

3 See aiso, Anderson v. State, 121 Nev. 511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005). “A prosecalor may
not vonch for the credibility of a witness or accuse a witness of lying.™

26

App 0343




(=N - - I T - YLV T - S ¥ e

T —
W oA W M e O

17
i8
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
20
27
28

Nev, 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473, 481 (1997), (Citing U.S. v. Fredarick, 78 F.3d 1370, 1378 (9th
Cir.1996); Ref. Robests, 618 F.3d at 534), Likewise, “If the issue of guilt or innocence is close,
if the stnte’s oase is not strong, prosecutor misconduct will probably be considered prejudicial.”
Rowland v. Sfate, 118 Nev, 31,38, 3% P.3d 114, 118-119 (2002), (Citing, Gumer v. State, 78
Nev. 366, 374, 374 P.2d 525m 530 (1962). ‘therefore, the closer the case, the more significant
the issue of vouching becomes to reviewing coutts, and the more likely that reversal for
vouching is appropriato.
Prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct occurs when “a prosecuior’s statoments so infected

the proceedings with unfaimess as to result in a denint of duc process.” Anderson v. State, 121
Nev. 511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005). (Citing Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 47, 83 "3
818, 825 (2004)). In order to evaluate prosccutorial misconduct, the Nevada Supreme Court has
adopted & two-step analysis to determine the propriety of & prosecutor’s conduct: (1) detennine
“whether the prosecutor’s conduet was improper,” (2) determine “whether the improper conduct
warrantx-reversal." Valdez v, State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008).}

T Lisle, the prosccutor inadveriently suggested that his essential witnesses weig
credliblo. Ligle, 113 Nev. at 553, Therefore, the proéecnltor cannot suggest that the “prestige of

the gavernment” supports the credibility of tho witnesses it any way, even when the nature of

that testimony is critical to the prosecutot’s case, Lisle, 113 Nov. at 553. In Rowland, the

4 *The Ninth Circuit expressly states, “* As & general rule, a prosecuior may not express his
opinion of the defendant's guiit or his beficf in the credibility of goverament witnesses.’
Vouching consists of placing the prestige of the government behind a wituess through peisonal
assurances of the witness’s veracity, or suggesling that information not presented to the jury
supparts the witness’s testinony. *Youching is especially prohlematic in cases where the
credibility of the witnesées is crucial, and in several cases applying the move lenient
harmless error standard of review, [comvts] kave held that such prosecutorial vouching
requires reversat.”” U.S. v. Necoechea, Y86 F.2d 1273, 1276 (th Cir, 1993). (Internal citations

omilted). =
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rosccutar labeled onc witness as “a man of integrity” and “honor.” Rowland, 118 Nev, at 39,
p 4

The courl held,

“Calling a witness a pevson of integrity and houor is indeed commenfing on
the character of the witness and vouching for (he testimony given. This
characterization of the witness’s lestimony ‘antounts to an opinion as to the
veracity of n witncss in cireumstances where veraci(y might well have
determined the ultimnte issue of guilt or himocence.’ This argument was
prosecutorial error. ‘Many strong adjeclives couid [have been] used [to describe
tho testimony] but if veas for the jury, and not the preyecutor, to say which
witnesses were telling the trath,..”” Rowland, t18 Nev. at 39.

In both Liste and Rowland, the prosecutors improperly used the “prestige of the govemment™ to

support the credibility and veracity of their wilnesses.

In Auderson, the prosecutor impermissibly undermined the testimony of a defense
wittiess by accusing himn of lying, Auderson, 121 Nev. 511, 516-317. The Court held that the
prosecutor’s statements, “{the defendant’s son) couldn't not ook at [him] and lie to [him],” and

that Anderson and his son had years (o ‘cook up a story and thoy did,™ affected the defendant’s

court held that the prosccutor's reforenco to a “man hunt” was improper prosecutorial conduct
because “A prosecutor may not *biatantly attempt to inflame a jury.”” Valdez, 124 Nev. 1191,
(Citing Colfier v. Stale, 101 Nev. 473, 479, 705 P.2d 1126, 1130 (1985)).

Here, the prosecutors used the prestige of the gover.nmcnt to give credit to a very
incredible and vulnerable essential State witness. The prosecutors used the testimony of two.
detectives in their closing atgunients to vouch for Mr. Brass's credibility. Ironicaity, at the same
fime, Mr. Brass was defending his own very serious charges of murder, attompt murder, and
robbery, Mr. Drass has since been convicted of murdt;r with nse of a deadly weapon, attcmpt

murder with use of # derdly weapon, conspiracy ta comniit robbery, robbery with a deadly
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weapen, and attempt tobbery witls a deadly weapon., T fus, the State found itself in the
unenviable position of attempting to utilize the testimony of 8 witness whoni, in a differont
coartroomy, int (he sapie courthouse, they were also trying to convict and incarcerate with life
withoul parole.

In addition, during the direct examination of Detective James Vaccaro, the prosecutor
vouched to the jury that Mr. Brass should not have beeul considered a prime suspect to the
inurder and sexuat agsault. Detective Vaccaro refired in 2007, but Mr. Brass did not admit (o
baving sex with the vietim until a detective approached him in 2008. Accordingly, Detective
Vaccaro did not have any personal knowledge regarding Ms. Brass's adinission because
Detective Vaccaro had aiready retired at the time of Mr. Brass’s admission. Therefore, the
proseculor used the prestige of the government when it used Deteclive Yacemo’s posilion asa
representative of law enforcement to make Mr. Brass’s story more believabie.

A_ddilionily, the prosccutor questioned Detective Dan Long about his in-custody
conversation with Mr. Brass, During this testimony, lhe prosecutor asked Detective Long about
Mr. Brass's willingness to speak about Ms. Quarles.

Q-  “Without saying what he specifically said, did Mr. Brass agree to speak with you

aboul Sheila Quarles and his relationship with her?”

A-  “Yes, he did”

Q- «Could he have refused to speak with you at that poimt?”

A-  “Absolutely”

Q-  *Could he have told you that T don’t want to talk to you at afl, [ want my lawyer,

I don’t want to talk 1o you?”

A-  “Yes" |

Q-  “Ilc didn’t do that?
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A-  “No”
Tt Vol. 3B at 41-43.

Although the prosccutor asked simple questions, those questions have a dire elfect when
viewed in light of the closeness of the case. As the court has stated, “Analysis of the harm
caused by vouching depencts in part on the closcness of the case.” Lisle, 113 Nev. at 553. This
line of questioning directly relates to the prosecution’s vouching for Mr. Brass as their essential
witness. Logically, the prosecutor wanted to cstablish that Mr. Brass could hot have possibly
Jied about his involvement in the victim’s murder becuuse ho truthfully told Detective Long that
he had sex with her on the moraing that she was murdered. Like the prosecutor int Lisle, the
prosccutor here used tactics to establish a false sense of credibility.

During the State’s closing arguments, the prosceutor explicitly vouched for Mr. Brass’
credibility. 'The prosecutor labeled Mr. Brass as a inan who “had nothing to hide,” which is
certainty not the position of the District Attomey's office when they prosecuted Mr. Brass for
murder in a separate case, Addi li;maily, 1he prosecutor compared Mr. Bruss’ willingness to be
open and testify 1o Mr. Fiowers® wish to invoke his right to silence. As a resull, the prosectitor’s
cutfing statements “‘sa infected the proceedings with unfairness as to result in a deniat of due
process.”

Each of these examples shows & common thread in the prosecutor’s strategy—the
prosecutor used her power as & government agent to vouch for Mr. Brass’ credibility in order to
obtain a conviction, In reality, the vouching had everything to do with the fact that the Statc
wanted 10 convict Mr. Flowers, so they orented a fake sensc of “credibility” to purport the story
of their essential witness.

Under the Valdez standatd, the i'evicwing court should first determine that the prosecutor’s

conduct was improper. This determination is not difficult. The prosecutors in this caso had no
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reason (o belicvo that Mr. Brass showed any sort of credibility, and therefore, they had no basis
for which fo use Mr. Brass® festimony (o elicit an emotional response from the jury and lo
inflame the jury.

The second determination un&er Valdez requires the court to determiue whether the
improper conduct requires roversal. Tn this case, there should be no other remedy. The
prosecutor used one of the victim’s lover’s testimany (o implicate and convict another of the
viclim’s lovers, Apain, it bears repeating that the prosecutors absolutely vouched in the closing

argunicnts, which created the false and erroneous illusion that Mr. Brass was someone to be

trusted.

This was a very closc case, Mr. Brass and Mr. Flowers cach 11ad sox with the samo girl
the day she died. When presenting that odd scenario, the State impermissibly and illegally
resorted to vouching in ordor to coavict M. Flowers.

a. Deficient Performance

Irial counsel’s performance fell deficient by allowing the prosecutor {0 vouich for r
witness. The law cleatly states that prosecutors cannot use the prestige of the government fo
vouch for any witness. However, trial counsel in this case did not object to the State’s continued
vouching for Mr. Rrass’ credibitity.

‘I'he serious nature of this error created a situation in which trial counsel failed to act as
Mi. Flower's counsel. By atiowing the State to vouch, Mr. Flowers’ trial counsel allowed the
State to fabricate a credible witness. The vouching inevitably poisoned the jury to such an
oxtent that the jury could not have made any other detenmination as {0 the outcome because the .
defense did not undermine the credibllity of the witness.

Under State v, Powell, trisl counsel’s performance must be judged for deficiency ag,uinSi.

an objective standard for reasonableness. State v. Powell, 122 Nev, 751, 759, 138 P.3d 453, 458
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(Nov. 2006), Judging Mr. Flowers' trial counsel’s performance against any standard of
reasonableness shows deficiency. Trial counsol failed to recognize the State's vouching tactics,
and as such, allowed the jury to hear about a completely incredible and vulnerable essential
wifness.

b. Prejudice

Mr. Flowers suffered prejudice as & result of Irial counsel’s failurc to ebject to the
State’s vouching. Trial counsel allowed the prosecutors to inject & sense of credibility to a very
incredible and vulneruble witness, The jury had no choice but to believe the evidence presented.

‘The prejudice in this case stems from trisl counsel’s failure to object 1o the State’s
systematic vouching. The State did not simply vouch one time. The State blatantly vouched at

least three times. ‘Frial counse! should not have allowed the State to use improper vouching

without raising the appropriate objections,
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons siated above, Ilowers’ conviction is unconstitutional under the federal

and state constitutions for each of the reasons staled herein, Mr. Fiowers’ judgment of

conviclion must therefore be vacated.

DATED this 7" day of July, 2014.

33

ORONOZ & ERICSSONLLC

s/ Jepmes Oronoz

James A. Oronoz, Exq.
Nevada Bar No. 6769
700 South Thisd Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorney Jor Petitioner
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VERIFICATION

Under the penalty of pegjury, the undcrsigned declares that he is the retained counsel for
thie petitioner named in the foregoing Petition and knows the contents thereol’, that the ploading

is true of his own knowledge, except as to those matlers stated on information and belief, and as

1o such maiters he believes then: (0 be true.

Under penalty of perjury, the undersigned declares that the Petilioner authorized him to

commence i3 action.

e
Dated this _{ _ day of July, 2014.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN (o beloro me
bis 7™ dayof duui_ ,2014.

Q)T

Nofary Public in andfordgid—"

Counly and Siate
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CERTIFICATE OF SKERVICE

I hereby certify and affirm that on the 7" day of July, 2014, I scrved a truc and correct
copy of the above foregaing Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus {Post-

Conviction) to the Cark County District Attoraey's Office by sending a copy via electronic

mail to!

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com

I further certify that on the 7t dny of Juty, 2014, I deposited in the United States Post
Office at Las Vegas, Nevada, in a soaled envelope with postage fully pre-paid thereon, a truc

and correct copy of the faregoing Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-

Conviction), addressed to the following:

RENEL BAKER
Warden

Ely State Prison
P.O. Box 1989
Ily, Nevada 89301

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO
Nevada Attorey General

100 N. Carson Straet

Carson City, Nevada 89701-4714

By: /s/ Rachael Stewart .
An cinployco of JAMES A. ORONOZ, ESQ.
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

~vs- CASENO: 06C228755

N Kl Figwers 1T, #1179383 DEPTNO:  XI

Defendant.

STATE'S RESPONSE AND MOTION TO DISMISS DEFENDANT'’S SUPPLEMENTAL
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION)

DATE OF HEARING: NOVEMBER 24, 2014
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B, WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through PAMELA C. WECKERLY, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and
hereby submits the attached Points and Authorities in Response to Defendant’s Supplemental
Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpus (Pc;st-Conviction).

This Response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honomble Court,

i
i
i
i

WA2DOEFRITINGSF21792-RSPN{FLOWERS__NURMAN}-G01.DOCX
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
L PROCEDURAL HISTORY
On December 13, 2006, a Grand Jury issued an Indictmenl on NORMAN KEITH

FLOWERS, aka Norman Harold Flowers III (hereinafter “Defendant™) for the following:
COUNT 1 - Burglary (Felony — NRS 205.060); COUNT 2 - Murder (Felony 200.010,
200.030); COUNT 3 —~ Sexual Assault {Felony — NRS 200.364, 200.366); and COUNT 4 —
Robbery (Felony — NRS 200.380). The victim named in the Indictment was Sheila Quarles.

On December 26, 2006, the State filed a Motion to Consolidate secking to consolidate
this case with District Court Case Number C216032. The motion was also filed in Casc
Number C216032. In Case Number C216032, Defendant was charged with two (2) counts
of murder (and other charges) for the deaths of Marilee Coote and Rena Gonzaies. The
Defendant filed an Opposition on January 2, 2007. 1 AA 21-29. On January 8, 2007, District
Court Judge Joseph Bonaventure, sitting judge for Case Number C216032, denied the State’s

| motion. On January 11, 2007, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty in this
i matter. 1 AA 30-34.

On January 23, 2007, Defendant filed a Motion in Limine to Preclude Evidence of
Other Bad Acts and Motion to Confirm Counsel. 1 AA 35-46. In his motion, Defendant
sought to keep out evidence of the Gonzales and Coote murders and to confirm attomey Brett
Whippte as his counsel. The State filed an opposition on Febroary 2, 2007. On February 5,
2007, the Court denied Defendant’s motion to confirm counsel but did not address the prior
bad acts. See Reporter’s Transc. of Def.’s Mot. in Limine (Feb. 5, 2007).! On November 5,
2007, the State filed 2 Motion for Clarification of Court's Ruling seeking to clarify if they
could introduce evidence of the murders charged in Case Number C216032 at trial in this
matter. The Defendant filed an apposition on November 6, 2007. On November 15, 2007,
the Court ordered a Petrocelli hearing on the bad acts that State wanted to introduce at trial.
See Transc. of Proceedings: State’s Mot. for Clarification (Nov. 15, 2007).2

i This transcripl was filed on November 28, 2010,
? This trenscript was filed on July 30, 2008,

2
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On August 1, 2008, a Petrocelli hearing was conducted. See Recorder’s Transc. of
Petrocelli Hearing (Aug. 1, 2008).> The State sought to introduce evidence from Case
Number C216032. Id. The Court found that the murder and sexual assault of Coote was
sufficiently similar in nexus and time to Sheila Quarles murder. Id, at 52. The court also
found that there was clear and convincing evidence that the Defendant sexually assaulted and
murdered Coote. See Id. Finally, the Court found that probative value for purposes of intent
and identity was not outweighed any unfair prejudice, See 14, Therefore, the Court held that
evidence regarding the similarities between the Coote and Quarles murders was to be allowed
at trial. Id. However, the Court denied admission of evidence of the Rena Gonzales murder
at trial. Id.

An Amended Indictment was filed on October 15, 2008, alleging the same charges as
set forth in the Indictment. On October 22, 2008, pursuant to & jury verdict, Defendant was
found guilty of COUNTS 1, 2 and 3, i.e., Burglary; First-Degree Murder and Sexual Assault,
respectively. Defendant was found not guilty of COUNT 4 — Robbery. On October 24, 2008,
following a penalty hearing, the jury imposed a sentence of LIFE Without the Possibility Of
Parole for COUNT 2. On October 30, 2008, Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial alleging
insufficient evidence. On November 10, 2008, the State filed an Opposition. The Court
denicd this Defendant’s motion on November 12, 2008. |

On January 13, 2009, Defendant was sentenced as follows: as to COUNT 1 -tos
maximum of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) MONTIIS in the Nevada Department of
Corrections (NDC) with a minimum parole eligibility of FORTY-RIGHT (48) MONTHS; as
to COUNT 2, to LIFT Without the Possibility Of Parale, to run consecutive to COUNT 1; as
to COUNT 3, to LIFE With the Possibility Of Parole afier ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120)
MONTHS, to run conseculive to COUNT 2. The Judgment of Conviction \;vas filed on
fanuary 16, 2009, etroneously noting s to COUNT 3, a sentence of LIFE Without the
Possibility Of Parole, with a minimum parole eligibility of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120)
MONTHS. On January 29, 2009, Defendant appeared in court with counsel pursuant to the

1 This transcript was filod on August 26, 2008,
3
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State’s request for clarification of the semtence. An Amended Judgment of Conviction was
filed February 12, 2012 to reflect the true sentence of LIFE With the Possibility Of Parole
with & minimum parole eligibility of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) MONTHS for
COUNT 3.

On January 26, 2009, Defendant filed & Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of
Conviction. On February 20, 2009, Defendant filed an Amended Notice of Appeal.

On March 5, 2010, Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial Based upon Newly
Available Evidence, i.c., George Brass’ conviction for murder in Casc Number C253756
which, if available, could have been used to impeach Mr. Brass’ testimony at Defendant’s
trial. On March 9, 2010, the State filed an opposition. At a hearing on March 17, 2010, the
State argned that Defendant went to trial knowing that the trial of Mr. Brass was pending.
Recorder’s Transe. of Def.’s Mot. for New Trial at 3 (Mar. 17, 2010).4 The Siate further
argued that Mr. Brass had an alibi at the time of Sheila's murder, which was verified by work
records. 1d, The Court denied the Motion for New Trial. 1d. at 4. On April 1, 2010,
Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal from the Court’s denial of his Motion for New Trial,

On June 10, 2011, pursusnt to negotiations, Defendant entered an Alford plea to an
Amended Indictment in Case Number C216032, which charged Defendant with two (2)
counts of First-Degree Murder for the deaths of Marilee Coote and Rena Gonzales.’ Pursuant
to the plea negotiations, Defendant agreed to withdraw his appeals in this case which were
pending before the Nevada Supreme Court; i.e., Flowers v. State, Docket # 53159 (Appesl
from the Judgment of Conviction); und Flowers v. State, Docket # 55759 (Appeal from the
District Court’s order denying Defendant’s motion for new trial). On Jume 13, 2011,

Defendant filed a Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss his Appeal in each of thesc cases.

+This transceipt was filed on Mirch 23, 2010,

$ Prior 10 sentencing In Case Nomber C216032, Defendant moved 10 withdraw hix Alfurd plew. The Court denicd the motion and
sentenced Defendant to LIFE Without the Possibllity of Parole on COUNT |; and LIFE with the Possibiiity of Patcle afler TWENTY-
FIVE (25) YEARS on COUNT 2, COUNT 2 to run concurrent with COUNT 1, and both to run consccutive 1o the sentence jmposed
in this cos¢. Defendent appeaied the Judgment of Conviction, arguing that the District Court abused its digcretion by denying his
presontence motion 10 withdtaw his guilty plea. On December 13, 2012, the Nevads Supreme Uour aftirmed the Judgment of
Conviclion, Anding no abuso of discretion. Flowers v, Novada, Docket #59250 (Order of Aftirmance, Dec, 13, 2012). Remittitur issued

Ionuary 9, 2013,

4
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On September 28, 2011, the Supreme Court issued an Order Dismissing Appeals in
Docket # 53159 and Docket # 55759, That order stated, “[blecause no remittitur will issue in
this matter, see NRAP 42(b), the onc-ycar period for filing a post~-conviction habeas corpus
petition under NRS 34.726(1) shall commence to run from the date of this order.”

On May 16, 2012, Defendant filed a Motion for the Appointment of Counsel and
Request for Evidentiary Hearing, seeking the appointment of counsel to in the preparation of
a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. On May 30, 2012, the court granted
Defendant’s motion, On June 8, 2012, James A. Oronoz was appointed as ‘posi-conviction
counsel.

At a status check on July 13, 2012, defense counsel advised the Court he still had not
obtained Defendant's file, See Court Minutes (July 13, 2012). Counsel attempted to file a
Motion for Leave to Conduct Discovery and for Court Order to Obtain Requested Documents
and Evidence, in open coutt, but was instructed by the Court to filc the motion electronically.
I .

On August 27, 2012, defense counsel advised the Court he was still not in possession
of Defendant’s file, Scc Court Minutes (Aug. 27, 2012). Counsel presented the Court with
an Order which was signed in open court, ordering the District Attorney’s Office to provide
Defendant with a copy of discovery.

On September 10, 2012, before the time to file the post-conviction petition expired in
this case, i.e., September 28, 2012, the parties appeared in court at the State’s request for a
clarification of the August 27 discovery order. That day, counsel acknowledged that any post-
conviction petition must be filed by September 28, 2012: “The problem we have here is that
the petition in this case is due on September 28tk . . . [i]t’s due from the — when the remittitur
issued, and that was September 28, 2011 of last year,” Trans. of Proceedings: Clarification
of Disc. at 4-5 (Sept. 10, 2012).%5 Notwithstanding his acknowledgment of the deadline,

defense counsel made an oral motion to extend the timeline for the filing of Defendant’s post-

& This rauscript was filed on November 20, 2012,

5
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conviction petition. Id. at 7. When counsel made the oral motion, the State mistakenly

indicated that the deadline in this case had not yet started running, [d, The coutt then held:

I agree with you. ’ll extend it 30 days. If the District Attorney
is correct and it hasn’t started ticking yet, then there’s zero
prejudice to the District Attorney in me extending that deadline
30 days. So, your oral request is granted.

Id. at 8. The Court also noted that when it signed the discovery order on August 27,2012, it
had not realized there would be an objection by the State to providing discovery. Id. at 7.
Accordingly, the Court vacated the discovery order signed on August 27, 2012, and ordered
briefing on the matter. Id. at 7-8.

On October 8, 2012, Defendant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction). On October 30, 2012, the State moved to dismiss Defendant’s petition as
untimely. On Optober 31, 2012, Defendant filed a Motion to Place on Calendar to
Supplement Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habcas Corpus. On November 2, 2012, State
filed an opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Place on Calendar. On November 23, 2012,
Defendant filed a reply to State’s opposition.

On September 12, 2012, prior to the filing of Dcfendant’s petition, Defendant filed a
Maotion to Obtain a Complete Copy of Discovery from the State. On December 14, 2012, the
State filed an opposition, In its opposition, the Statc noted that NRS 34.780(2) provides that
post-conviction discovery only becomes available after the writ has been granted and upon a
showing of good cause. The State further argued that Defendant’s petition should not be
granted because it was untimely filed. The Statc urged the Court to resolve the pending
motion to dismiss Defendant’s post-conviction petition before potentially ordering the State
to provide post-conviction discovery.

On Jannary 16, 2013, the Court heard argument on Defendant’s discovery motion. The
next day, the district court issued a minute order. See Court Minutes (Jan. 17, 2013). The
Court found: 1) NRS 34.726 does not address instances where a pending appeal is dismissed
and no remittitur is issued from the Nevada Supreme Court; 2) even assuming NRS 34.726

applied, there was good cause to overcame the procedural bar because post-conviction

6
WAL00GFQI NINSE23792-RIPN-(FLOWERS__NORMAN)-001.D0CX
App 0359




LT=-T. BN - L T I - P L A

MO R NN o _— -
RN BREERENENNMNBEISIESISEI0 DS

counsel had been “unable to obtain a copy of his file for reasons outside of his control;” 3)
the Court’s September 17, 2012 Order granting an extension created prejudice; and 4)
Defendant’s filing of the petition within cleven (11) days of the deadline was rcasonable. Id.
The minute order noted that the discovery issue would be addressed at the next scheduled
hearing on March 6, 2013.7 Id. The instant case was reassigned to Department 11 on January
22,2013.

On March 5, 2013, the State filed a Renewed Response and Motion to Dismiss
Defendant’s Petition for Writ of 1labeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On March 20, 2013, the
Court ordered supplemental briefing as to Defendant’s post-conviction petition. Followinga
stipulation by the parties 1o extend the bricfing schedule, Defendant filed the instant
Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) on July 7, 2014.

[I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A.  Background Facts

On the afternoon of March 24, 2005, Debra Quarles {(“Debra”) returned to her
spartment located at 1001 North Pecos Road. Reporter’s Trans, of Jury Trial, Volume 2-B at
5, 18-19 (Oct. 16, 2008) (“TT 2B™). Debra sharcd the apartment with her daughter, Sheila
Quarles (“Sheila”). Id, at 5-6. Debra had been grocery shopping and upon her return, she
honked her horn to get Sheila out of the apartment to help with the groceries. Id. at 19. One
(1) of Debra’s neighbors, Robert Lewis (“Robert”) came downstairs and helped Debra with
her grocery bags. Id. When Debra reached the front door of her apartment, she noticed that
the door was closed but not locked. Id. at 19-20. Robert followed Debra into the apariment
with some grocery bags and waited in the living room as Dcbra searched for Sheila. 1d. at
20-2}. Deobra walked into the apariment and noticed thet her new stereo was missing. Id. al
20. Debra cafled out for her daughter but received no response. Id. She noticed that her bed
was “messed up” and heard a water dripping in the bathroom. Id. Eventually, Dcbra made
her way to the bathroom to turn the water off. 1d, Inside the bathroom, Debra noticed that
the shower curtains were pulled shut. Id. at 21. Debra pulled the curtain back (o find her

? At a heating on March 6, 2013, the Sise répresenied that the Court grantad Defendant’s discovery motion and agreed to provide
discovery. However, the State asserted that il was not waiving the issue of uptimeliness. See Court Minutes (Mar. 6, 2013).
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1 “ daughter Sheila submerged in the bathtub with pert of her face sticking out of the water. Id.

at 21-22. Debra noticed that the water in the bathtub was still very hot. Id, at 22. Debra
became hysterical. Id, at 56. Robert lifted Sheila out of the bathtub. 1d. at23. A friend or
family member coveted up Sheila’s naked torso area before the police arriw;:d at the scene.
Id, at 85-86, Reporter’s Trans, of Jury Trial, Volume 2-A at 123-24 (Oct. 16, 2008) (“TT
2A™). Robert went next door to his mother’s apartment, and told his family members that
Sheila nceded help. TT 2A af 121-22. Someone from that apartment called 9-1-1. Id. ai
125-26. Hysterical, Debra left the scene to get her son Ralph, who lived close to the
apartment. TT 2B at 23-24. Robert’s niece and others went to Sheila’s apartment and stayed
there on the phone with the 9-1-1 operator until police got to the apartment. TT 2A at 123-
217. Paramedics arrived at the apartment but it was too late for them to render any aid or to
revive Sheila. Id. at 110-111,

B.  Dr. Simms’ Testimony

Dr. Lary Simms, a forensic pathologist with the Clark County Coroner’s Office
testified regarding Sheila’s injuries, which he determined based a review of Sheila’s autopsy
report as weil as photographs taken at Sheila’s autopsy. TT 2A at 46-106. The autopsy report
in this case was prepared by Dr. Thomas Knoblock, a forensic pathologist who was no longer
employed with the Coroner's office at the time of Defendant’s trial. Id. at 49-50. Dr. Simms
testified that Shcila suffered internal injuries. Id, at 51-60. Sheila had two (2) hemorrhages
on her right scalp which indicated she suffered a blunt force injury to her head. Id, at 56-57.
Dr. Simms also testified that Sheila had been asphyxiated; i.e., manually strangulated, and
that there were teats on her vagina consistenl with sexual assault. Id, at 51-52, 55. The
injuries to Sheila’s neck were consistent with somcone applying pressure with his hands with

the intent to cause injury. Id. at 57. Additionally, smail hemorrhages in Sheila’s oycs

. indicated that pressure was applied 1o her neck which led to a buildup of blood in the veins

that burst. Id, at 53-54 )
Based on his review of the autopsy photographs, Dr. Simms opined that Sheila’s

injuries were conlemporaneous with her death. Id. at 56-57.
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Lastly, Dr. Simms testified that Sheila had a “frothy fluid” in her airways which is a sign
of drowning, Id. At 60. Dr. Simms stated that Dr. Knoblock’s opinion as to Sheila’s cause
of death was drowning with strangulation bcing a contributing factor. Id. at 68. Based on his
review of Dr, Knoblock’s report and the autopsy photographs, Dr. Simms testified that he
agreed with Dr. Knoblock’s opinion. '

Dr. Simms also testified regarding the autopsy photographs and his interpretation of
the injuries displaycd thercin. 1d, at 63-69. When the State sought to admit the photographs
into evidence, Defendant’s trial counsel objected noting that the cause of death was not f}cing
contested. Id. at 61-62. The Court overruled counsel’s objection and the photographs were
admitted. Id. Counsel then objected to the nature of the photogrephs, but the Court again
overruled counsel’s objection. Id. at 62.

Dr. Simms also testified about Marilee Coote’s autopsy, the victim in Case Number
C216032. Marilce suffered several injuries to her neck, similar to Sheila, which indicated
that she was manually strangled. Id. at 71. The neck injuries were consistent with someone
applying pressurc to inflict injury. Id. at 77. Also similar to Sheila, Marilee suffered injurics
to her head from blunt {rauma contemporaneous with the time of her death. Id. at 76.
Morcover, like Sheila, Marilee had injuries to her vaginal area indicating that she was sexually
assaulted. Id. at 75.

C.  Ms. Paulette’s Testimony
The State called Kristina Paulette, a forensic scientist / DNA analyst, with the Las

Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. Reporter’s Trans. of Jury Trial, Volume 4-A at 30
(Oct. 20, 2008) (“IT 4B”). Ms. Paulette testified that she was personally involved in the
investigation into Sheila’s homicide as well as that of Matilee Coote. Id. at 33.

At Sheila’s autopsy, Ms. Paulette collected DNA samples from semen found in
Sheila’s vaginal area and on her underwear. 1d. at 36. From this sample, Ms. Paulette was
able to generate a DNA profile. Id. Initial testing revealed a mixture of at least three (3)
individunls including that of the victim and two (2) unknown males. Id, at 36-38. Mas.
Pauletie entered the unknown DNA profiles into the DNA databasc, CODIS. [d. at 38-39.

9
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Ag a result, the database revealed Defendant s a potential match. Id. Defendant’s DNA
profile was subsequently collected. 1d, at 39-40. Ms. Paulette determined that Defendant’s
DNA matched the sample she retrieved at Sheila’s autopsy. ld, at 41-42, More specifically,
Ms. Paulette testified that the DNA did not exclude Defendant as a match but did exclude
99,99 percent of the remaining population. Id. at 42, 45-46.

Ms. Paulette also testified that she analyzed a buccal swab obtained from George Brass
and that his DNA was also present in the samples rotrieved at Sheila’s autopsy.® Id, at 46-47.

The State also questioned Ms, Paulette regarding the findings of Thomas Wah! in
conjunction with a vaginal swab taken from Marilee Coote at her autopsy. Id. at 48. Defense
counsel objected on the basis of hearsay and conducted a brief voir dire of Ms. Paulette. Id.
at 48-49. Ms. Pauletie testified that the report generated by Mr. Wsahl, in conjunction with
Marilee’s autopsy, was a business record and that she was qualified to testify as a custodian .
of records, Id.

As to Marilee, Ms. Pauletie testified that Defendant was the source of the semen taken
from Marilee’s vaginal swab. Id. at 49. In Marilee's case, the DNA profile was rarer than
one in 650 billion. Id. at 51. The same result issued regarding a rectal swab taken at Marilee’s
autopsy. Id. at 52. Mr. Wahl’s report also indicated that Defendant’s DNA matched DNA
rétrievcd from & section of carpet taken from undemeath Marilee's deceased body. Id. at 52-
53, see Reporter’s Trans. of Jury 'frial, Volume 3-B at 16-21, 39-40 (Oct. 17, 2008) (“TT

i 38™ Ms. Paulette also testified to own her findings regarding the carpet semple. TT 4B at

53, Specifically, when Ms. Paulette was testing for the presence of semen on the carpet
sumple, her testing revealed the presence of detergent.  Sce Id. at 53. However, despite the

presence of detergent, Ms. Paulette determined that Defendant’s DNA was preseat, within a

statistical probability of one in 650 biilion. Id.
i
i
i

* Brass testified at teisd that he had an ongoing sexus! reimtionship with Sheila snd that they find consensual sex on the morning of her
murder. TT 38 st 81-82,
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ARGUMENT

I DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SHOULD BE
DISMISSED AS UNTIMELY PURSUANT TO NRS 34.726 ’

As the State argued at length in its Renewed Response and Motion to Dismiss Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), filed on March 5, 2013, and hereby
incorporated by reference, Defendant’s Petition is untimely and should be dismissed pursuant
1o NRS 34,726,

Neither the Court nor the parties were empowered to extend the one-year time frame
in the instant case. State v, Dist, Ct. (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 233, 112 P.3d 1070, 1075 (2005)
(“{Tlhe statutory rules regarding procedural default are mandatory and cannot be ignored
when properly raised by the State.”), State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 62 P.3d 676,
681 (2003) (“[A] stipulation by the parties cannot empower a coutt to disregard the mandatory
procedural default rules.™).

Here, the Supreme Court order, filed on September 28, 2011, explicitly advised
Defendant that “[blecaise no remittitor will issue in this matter, see NRAP 42(b), the one-
year period for filing a post-conviction habeas corpus petition under NRS 34.726(1) shall
commence to run from the date of this order.” Flowers v. State, Docket # 55759 (Order
Dismissing Appeals, Sept. 28, 2011). Accordingly, Defendant had unti] September 28, 2012
to file a post-conviction petition. Defendant’s petition was not filed until October 9, 2012.
As Defendant fails to demonstraie good cause to overcome the time bar, his petition must be
dismissed pursuant to NRS 34.726. The State notes that failure to receive Defendant’s file in
a timely manner is not good cause to overcome the time bar. Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335,
890 P.2d 797 (1995).

However, to the extent the Court is inclined to consider the merits of Defendant’s
petition, the State responds as follows.

II. DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel a defendant must prove

he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong lest
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of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686-87, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063-64 (1984); se¢
also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). Under the Strickland

test, & defendant must show first that his counsel’s representation fell below an objective

standard of rcasonablencss, and second, that but for counsel’s crrors, there is a reasonable
probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 637-88,
104 8. Ct. at 2068; Warden, Nevada Stai¢ Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504,
505 (1984) (adopting the Strickiand two-part test). “{Tlhere is. no reason for a court deciding
an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or cven o address
both components of tho inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.”

“Judicial review of a lawyer’s representation is highly defereatial, and a defendant
must overcome the presumption that a challenged action might be considered sound strategy.”
State v, LaPena, 114 Nev. 1159, 1166, 968 P.2d 750, 754 (1998) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S.
at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2052). Furthermore, bare or naked allegations, which are unsupported by
specific facts, arc insufficient to grant relief. Hargrove v, State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P'.2d

| 222, 225 (1984). Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or
| arguments. Sec Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

The court beging with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine

b whether the defendant has demonstrated by a prepmldérance of the evidence that counsel was
| ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 35 (2004), “Effective counsel does not

mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is within the range of competence

| demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Jackson v, Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d

473, 474 (1975) (internal quotation omitted).
Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel’s representation fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a
# reasonable probabilily that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been

| difforent. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 8. Ct. at 2052). “A reasonable probability is a probability
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sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome,” McNelton, 115 Nev. at 403, 990 P.2d at
1268 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 8. Ct. at 2052).

A, ?g[gndant’s Trigl Cguns% wis not Ineffective for Failing to Object to the
Testimony of Dr. Siinmy asg jVis, 1 ulelic

The Sixth Amendment provides that, “[iJn all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall

enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him,” and gives the accused the
opportunity to cross-cxaminc ail those who “bear testimony” against him. Crawford v.
Washinglon, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Cx. 1354, 1364 (2004); see also White v, Illinois, 502
U.S. 346, 359, 112 S.Ct. 736, 744 (1992) (Thomas, J., concurring in part and concurring in
judgment) (“eritical phrase within the Clavse is ‘witnesses agginst him™"). Thus, testimonial
hearsay - L. extrajudicial statements used as the “functional equivalent” of in-court testimony
- may only be admittcd at trial if the declarant is “unavailable to testify, and the defendant
had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.” rawford, 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct.
at 1365. To run afoul of the Confrontation Clause, therefore, out-of-court statements
introduced at trial must not only be “testimonial” but must also be hearsay, for the Clause
does not bar the use of cven “testimonial statements for pusposes other than establishing the
teuth of the matter asserted.” Id. at 51-52, 60 n.9, 124 S.Ct. at 1369 r.9 (citing, Tennegsee v.
Street, 471 U.S. 409, 414, 105 8.Ct. 2078, 2081-82 (1985)).

Appellent relics on Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S, 305, 129 5.Ct, 2527
(2009), and Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 US. __, 131 S.Ct. 2705 (201 1), to argue that
Dr. Simms’ and Ms. Paulette’s testimony was inadmissible in violation of the Confrontation

Clause. AOB, p. 40. However, both Melendez-Diaz and Bullcoming are distinguishable

from the instant case as they involved the admission of a forensic or written report. In

Bullcoming, the trial courl admitted a faboratory report of a non-testifying analyst that
reflected the defendant’s blood alcohol content. 564 U.S, at __, 131 S.Ct. at 2709, In
Melendez-Diaz, the trial court admitted three (3) certificates of analysis from a state
laboratory which analyzed the substance seized by the defendant, concluding the substance
was cocaine. 557 U.S. at 308, 129 S.Ct. at 2531, Defendant’s case does not involve the
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admission of another scientist’s report.? As a result, this case is fundamentally distinguishable
from Melendez-Diaz, and Bullcoming. Furthermore, neither Melendez-Diaz nor Bullcoming
addressed autopsy reports or DNA reports nor did these cases determine whether the

prosccution could introduce an analyst’s testimonial forensic report (or transmit its substance)

through an expert witness, as was done in the instant case. See Notice of Expert Witnesses

(Nov. 2, 2007).

1
|

Defendant alleges that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Dr.

Dr. Simms testimony regarding Sheila’s autopsy

Simms testimony as it related to the findings contained in Dr. Knoblock's autopsy report.
| Petition at 20-22. Defendant’s claim is without merit.
In U1.S. v. Pe La Cruz, 514 F.3d 121 (Ist Cir. Feb 01, 2008), the Court held that:

An autopsy report is made in the ordinary coutse of business by
a medical examiner who is required by law to memorialize what
he or she saw and did during an autopg. An autopsy report thus
involves, in principal part, a careful and contemporaneous
reporting of a series of steps taken and facts found by a medical
examiner during an autopsy. Such a report is, we conclude, in the
nature of a business record, and business records are expressly
excluded from the reach of Crawford.

The State recognizes that the holding in De La Cruz, is not universally accepted.
Notably however, the Nevada Supreme Court has not ruled on whether an autopsy report is
testimonial pursuant to Crawford nor has this issue been disposed of by the United States
Supreme Court. Se¢ Malone v. State, 281 P.3d 1197 (Nev. 2009) {citing the split in authority
and declining to address this issue), but see Conner v, State, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 4%, 327 P.3d
503, 511 (2014) (Gibbons, C1., concurring) (cxpressing coﬁccm with the State’s introduction

of statements and opinions delineated in an autopsy report, through the testimony of a doctor
who did not prepare the report).

" ‘The State contends that an autopsy report is not testimonial in nature and therefore,
Dr. Simms’ testimony as to anything therein did not violste Crawford. Namely, autopsy

reports are the product of an official duty imposed by law, rather than a product of criminal

liey of Hve, in court testimony. $37 U.S. at 310-311, 128 3.C1. a1 2522,
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or the coroner’s deputy is informed that a person has been killed, has committed suicide or
has suddenly died under such circumstances as to afford a reasonable ground to suspect that
the death has been occasioned by umnatural means, the coroner shall make an appropriate

investigation.” NRS 259.050(1) (emphasis added). The coroner does not have discretion 10

conduct an autopsy only when the death has been the result of a criminal act. They must

| conduct an autopsy anytime a death has occurred by unnatural means. In Boorman v. Nevada

Memorial Cremation Society, 126 Nev, Adv. Op. 29,236 P.3d 4,9 (2010), the Court stated,

| “A county coroner is obligated to perform its services...the county coroner’s duty is to
| investigato the cause of death...” Unlike the reports held testimonial in Melendez-Diaz and
I Bulicoming, autopsy reports arc generated regardless of any request by law enforcement and

| are not produced solely or even primarily for purposes of gathering evidence for a future

criminal proscoution.'® In fact, autopsies arc conducted in many cases that do not involve a
subsequent prosecution. See Williams v, Illinois,  US. , 132 8.Ct, 2221, 2251 (2012)
(Breyer, J. concurring) (“[ajutopsies, like the DNA report in this case, are often conducted
when it is not yet clear whether there is a perticular suspect or whether the facts found in the
autopsy will ultimately prove refevant in a criminal trial”).

In Nardi v. Pepe, 662 F.3d 107, 111-12 (1st Cir.2011), the First Circuit acknowledged

i the uncertainty of the holding De La Cruz in light of the holdings in Melendez-Diaz, and
| Bullcoming., In Nardi, the First Circuit held that lower court’s decision, that the autopsy

report and the doctor’s opinion in partial reliance upon it, did not violation the Confrontation

I Clause, was not contrary to Crawford. Id. In the context of the defendant’s habeas petition,

the First Circuit concluded that neither Crawford nor the lator cases “clearly established” that
autopsy reports are barred as testimonial. Id, (“Abstractly, an autopsy report can be

distinguished from, or assimilated to, the sworn documents in Melendez-Diaz and

i Bullcoming and it is uncertain how the [Supreme] Court would resolve the question...even

{ 19This is consistent with Dr, Simms testimony thet the police department, as opposcd fe the medical cxamincr, is responsible for
| coliooied forensic cvidence sssocisted with & doceaved viclim, in casos whero a death is suspicious. Sg¢ TT2A af 92-93, 100.
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| now it is uncertain whether, under its primary purpose test, the Supreme Court would classify

autopsy reports as testimonial.”). The First Circuit also found that even if autopsy reports

i could be classified as testimonial, it is not clear that in-court cxpert opinion testimony in

| reliance on such repotts would be inadmissible. Id. at 112.

Although the State contends that Defendant’s right to confrontation was not violated

as a result of Dr. Simms’ lestimony, this issue not been conclusively decided by the United

| States Supreme Court or by the Nevada Supreme Court, Additionally, courts are extremely

| divided on this issuc. Compare, e.g., Bannah v, State, 87 $0.3d 101, 103 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
| 2012) (autopsy reports are non-testimonial becanse they are prepared pursuant to statutory

duty and not solely for use in prosecution), Feople v, Cortez, 931 N.E.2d 751 (1L App. Ct.

| 2010) (Melendez-—Diaz did not upset prior holdings that autopsy reports arc non-testimonial

business records that do not implicate Crgwiford ), and People wy._Dungn, 286 P.34 442, 450
(Cal, App. 4th Dist. 2012) (“The autopsy continued to serve several putposes, only one of

which was criminal investigation,” and “[t]he autopsy report itself was simply an official
| explanation of an unusual death, and such official records are ordinarily not testimonial.”},
| with Commonwealth v. Avila, 912 N.E.2d 1014, 1029 (Mass. 2009} (autopsy report was
| testimonial heatsay), Cuesta-Rodriguez v. State, 241 P.3d 214 (Okla. Crim. App. 2010)
i (same), and Wood v. Texas, 299 8.W.3d 200, 209-10 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009) (not all autopsy

reports are categorically testimonial, but whete the police suspected the death at issuc was &
hemicide, the autopsy report was testimoniat).

Furthermore, as Dr. Simms testified as to his own opinion based on the autopsy report
and the autopsy photographs, his testimony did not run afoul of the Confrontation Ciause.
See Williams, 132 S.Ct at 2228 (“{ulnder settled evidence law, an expert may express an
opinion that is based on facts that the expert assumes, but does not know, to Be true.”)

In the wake of conflicting case law, where error is not clear, Defendant fatls to
demonstrate that his counsel’s actions fell below an objective standard of reasonablcness,
Counsel cannot be decmed deficient for failing to object in the present case, where there is no

definitely case law to demonstrate that any such objection would have been sustained,
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Moreover, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments.
See Ennis, 122 Nev. a1 706, 137 P.3d at 1103.

Furthermore, even if the admission of Dr. Simms' testimony was in violation of
Crawford, Defendant has not established a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s error
in failing to object, the result of the trial would haw;: been different, Strickland, 466 U.S. at
687, 104 S. Ct. at 2052, As Defendant notes in his Petition, the cause of death was not
disputed at trial. See Pefition at 13. As such, it is unclear how Dr. Simms’ testimony
prejudiced Defendant’s case. Notably, Defendant fails to allege what portion of Dr. Simms’
was prejudicial. Rather, Defendant alleges prejudice on the basis that counsel’s failure to
object heightened the standard of review on appeal. See Petition at 22-23. As Defendant
voluntarily dismissed his direct appeal, Defendant’s argument lacks merit. Based on the

foregoing, Defendant’s claim must be denied.

2. Ms. Paulette’s Testimony regarding Mr. Wahl’s DNA Report
Defendant alicges that his trial counsel wag ineffective for failing to object to Ms.

Paulette’s testimony as it related to the findings contained in Mr. Wahl’s DNA report
regarding Mariloe Coote’s case. See Petition at 23. Defendant argument is without merit.

First, as noted above, the instant case is distinguishable from Melendez-Diaz, and
Bullgoming, wherein forensic reports were introduced at trial. Rather, in this case, Ms.
Paulette, reviewed the repon, testified that she agreed to its findings and was subject to cross-
cxamination. Moreover, Paulette testified to the procedures of the Las Vegas Metropolitan
Police Department (. VMPD) forensics laboratory, the same laboratory Wahl worked at when
he authored the DNA report, and was subject to cross-examination. See generally 4B 30-68,

Accordingly, defense counsel’s performance did not fall below an objective standard
of reasonableness in failing to object to Ms. Paulette’s testimany on the basis that it violated
the Confrontation Clause.

However, to the extent Mr. Wahl’s report i3 testimonial in nature and Ms, Paulette’s

testimony thereto was improper, Defendant fails to demonstrate that but for counsel’s failure

28 " to object to Ms. Pauletie’s testimony, the result of the trial would have been different.
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Strickland. 466 U.S. at 687, 104 8. Ct. at 2052. Notably, Ms. Paulette testified to her own

independent findings regarding the presence of Defendant’s semen on the carpet inside
Marilee’s apartment. Although Ms. Paulettc did not testify that she independently examined
the semen sample from Marilee’s vaginal swab, she did testify that Defendant’s semen was

found on section of carpet underneath Marilee’s dead body. TT 4A at 53, TT 3B at 16-21,

30.40. As there is no basis for excluding testimony as to the carpet sample, Defendent cannot
| demonstrate prejudice from the remainder of Ms. Pauletie’s testimony. Furtheninore,
| Defendant’s own DNA expert did not disputc LVMPD’s forensic lnboratory method of
; extracting DNA and agreed with the statistical calculations made by Paulette in both Sheila’s
| and Marilee’s cases. Reporter’s Trans. of Jury Trial, Volume 4-B at 83-85 (Oct. 20, 2008)

| (“IT4B").M

Notably, the only allegation of prejudice is that counsel's failure to object heightened

g the standard of review on appeal. See Petition at 25-26. As Defendant voluntarily dismissed
| his direct appeal, Defendant’s argument lacks merit. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim must
| be denied. |

B. Defendant’!g %Eflal Counsel was not Ineffective for Failing to Objcet to the
State’s Alleged Vouching

Defendant alleges that his trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the State’s

improper vouching of George Brass. Defendant’s claim is without merit

It is well settled that the prosecution may not “vouch” for a wilness’ credibility.

| Browning v, State, 120 Nev. 347, 358, 91 P.3d 39, 48 (2004). “{S]uch vouching occurs when
i the prosecution places the prestige of the government behind the witness by providing

| personal assurances of the witness’s veracity. Id, (internal citation and quotation marks

| omitted), accord Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31,39, 39 P.3d 114, 119 (2002).

In Rowland, the Ncvada Supreme Court determined it was prosecutorial misconduct

| to refer to a witness as a “man of integrity” and “honor.” 1 18 Nev. at 39,39 P.3d at 119, The

i Court reasoned that this characterization of the witness’s testimony “amount[ed] to an opinion

| 1" This transceipt vas filed on Octaber 21, 2008.
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as to the veracity of a witness in circumstances where veracity might well have determined
the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence.” 1d,

Here, Defendant alleges that State “vouched” for Mr. Brass during Detective
Vaccaro's testimony. See Petition at 14-15, 29. Defendant does not specify how the
testimony elicited from Detective Vaccaro was improper vouching nor is this claim evident
from a review of the record. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim regarding Detective Vaccaro is
a bare and naked allegation insufficient to warrant relief. See Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686
P.2d at 225.

Defendant also contends that the State *vouched” for Mr. Brass during Delective
Long's testimony by eliciting téstimony that Mr. Brass could have refused {o speak with
Detective long had he so chose. See Petition at 11, 29. However, Detective Long’s testimony
is in no way a “personal assurance™ by the prosecution of Mr. Brass’ credibility and therefore
does not constitute vouching.

Finally, Defendant contends that the State “vouched” for Mr. Brass during closing
argument by indicating that Mr. Brass had “nothing to hide.” See Petition at 30. Here, the
State’s comment was proper because it was commenting on the evidence presented and
inviting the jury to draw such the reasonable inference that’s Mr. Brass’ testimony was

truthful based on the totality of the evidence. This type of argument is proper. See Bridges

v, State, 116 Nev. 752, 762, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000) (“The prosecutor had a right to

comment upon the testimony and to ask the jury to draw inferences from the evidence, and
has the right to state fully his views as to what the evidence shows.”). Additionally, this

argument is consistent with the jury’s role of the “lie detector™ in criminsal cases. Sge U.S. v.

Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 313, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 1266 - 67 (1998) ("A fundamentai premise of

our criminal trial system is that (he jury is the fie detector. Dctermining the weight and

| credibility of witness testimony... has long been held to be the part of every case [that]
| belongs to the jury, who are presumed to be fitted for it by their natusal intelligence and their

practicai knowledge of men aud the ways of men.”) (internal citations omitied).
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Furthermore, even if counsel was deficient for failing to object to the Stafe’s
comments, Defendant fails to demonsirate that but for counsel’s failure, the result of the trial
would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 8. Ct. at 2052.

Specifically, the evidence against Defendant was overwhelming. Dr. Simms testitied
tha! an aulopsy of Sheils’s body showed that she suffered blunt trautna to her head shorily
before she died, was mamially sirangled and violently sexually assaulted. Morcover, Sheila
was sexuglly assaulted very close in time with her death. Therefore, the person who murdered
Sheila was likely the person who sexually assaulted her.

Ms. Paulette (estified thel a mixture of DNA was found on Sheile’s body through a
vaginal swab snd that the Defendant could not be excluded as a source when over 99.99
percent of the population could be excluded. She also testified that George Brass could not
be excluded as the other source of the other DNA found on Sheila. While Defendant places
great weight on the credibility of Mr. Brass because he testified that his sexual encounter with
Sheila was consensual, the evidence presented at trial demonstrated Mr. Brass had an alibi
during the time of Sheila’s murder. Specifically, the police investigated Brass’s alibi and
found out that on March 24, 2005, Mr. Brass checked into work at noon; went to lunch al 4
PM; returned to Wal-Mart at 5 PM and finally left work at 7:45 PM on March 24, 2005.'2 TT
3B at 9. There was no indication that anyone changed Brass’s time record. 1d. at 99-100.
Moreover, the Wal-Mart where Brass worked at was located a good distance away from
Sheila’s apartment with no convenient driving route. TT 4A at 92-93. Accordingly, aithough
the consensual nature of Mr. Brass’ contact with Shelia was important to the State’s theory,
there was corroborating evidence to support his testimony. Based on the foregoing,
Defendant’s claim must be denied,

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Stute respectfully requests Defendant’s Petition for Writ
of Habeas Corpus (POST-CONVICTION) be denied as untimely pursnant to NRS 34.726.
To the cxtent this Court is inclinced 10 rule on the mcrits of Defendant’s petition, the State

1 Sheita’s mother Debra spoke with her on tho Leicphone at approximately 1:60 p.m. and relurnied fromn the grocery store at
approximately 3200 p.m. Accordingly, Shelia's murder occerred sometime in the intorins. 3gg TT 2B st 16-15.
20
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respectfuily requests that Defendant’s petition be denied as he failed to demonstrate that his
counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that but for
counsel’s alleged errors, there is a reasonsble probability that the result of the proceedings
would have been different.
DATED this 25th day of August, 2014.
Respect fully submitted,

Ew B. WOLFS(‘)AN
“la unty District Atforne
Nev_gt_l_a Bary#’ cx Y

, GO D
ef T Pistri
A Bae 7006163

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I crtify that on the 25th day of August, 2014, 1 e-mailed a copy of the foregoing Statc’s

i Responsc And Motion To Dismiss Defendant’s Suppiemental Petition For Writ Of Habeas

i Corpus (Post-Conviction), to:

JAMES A. ORONOZ, Esq.
jim@oronozlawyers.com

BY

for the District Attorney’s Office

| ROPCW/M-1
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THE STATE OF NEVADA, Rence Baker, 1o her
official capacity as thc Warden of Ely State
Prison; James Cox, in his official capacity as

Dircctor of the Nevada Department of
Corrections; and the State of Nevada

Respondenis.
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COMES NOW, Petitioner, NORMAN FLOWERS, by and through his attorney of
record, JAMES A, ORONOZ, ESQ., of the law firm ORONOZ & ERICSSON LLC, and hereby
submits his Reply to Statc’s Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant’s Supplemental
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This Reply is based upon the pleadings and papers on file herein, the attuched

Mernorandum of Points and Authoritics, and any oral argument the Court may cntertain.

Dated this 10" day of November, 2014.

il Jumes A. Oronoz.
JAMES A. ORONOZ, ESQ.
ORONOZ & ERICSSON LLC
700 South Third Strect
Las Vegas, Nevada §9101
Telephone: (702) 878-2889
Facsimile: {702) 522-1542
Attorney for Petitioner, Nornian Flowers
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LEGAL ARGUMENT

A, Defendant’s petition for writ of habeas corpus should not be dismissed as untimely

Despite the State’s repeated atfempts to argue that Mr. Flowers” Petition for Writ of Hubcax
Corpus (Post-Conviction) was untimely, this Court issued an Onrder on February 26, 2013,
ullowing Mr. Flowers® untimely Petition to be heard due to a showing of good cause and
prejudice, As such, the partics have litigated this 1ssuc ad nauscam, and this Court has already
decided this issuc.

B.  Defemdant was denied effective assistance of counsel

A defendant prevails on a claim of incffective assistance of counsel by demonstrating
that (1) counsel’s porformance was deficient to the point where it fell below an objective

standard of reasonableness; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant in such a

way us t0 reader the result of the trial unrcliable. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-

15k 688, 697, 104 S.C1. 2052 (1984), McConncll v. State, 125 Nev. 243,212 P.3d 307 (2009). A

reviewing court must ulso determine whether counsel’s strategic decisions satisfied an objective
standard of rcasonabicness. State v, Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 759, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (2006);
Means v. Statc, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (2004). Further, prejudice occurs when there s #

“reasonabic probability” that but for counsel’s errors, the resulf of the trial wouid have been

2{} different. Kirksey v, State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1 107 (1996). Additionally, in

21 ¥ repard to post-conviction proceedings, all fuctaal allegations in support of an incffective

22 || assistance of counsel claim need only be proven by a preponderance of the cvidence. Powell,

23| 122 Nev. al 759.

244

25 ! The Nevada Supreme Court will defes to the district cowrt’s factual findings regerding good
causc. State v, Huebler, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 19,275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012).

26
2 1 the State's Responsc, the Statc incorrectly denoted Mr. Flowers as “Appeliant”™ and cited to

271 “AOB, p. 40.” However, this is uot an appellate brict, nor did Mr. Flowers’ supplemental
?clilion contain farty pugcs.

281 ¥ Examplcs of testimoniat statemenls inciude the following: (1) ex parte in-court icstimony of its
functional equivalent, such as affidavits, custodial cxaminations, or similar pretrial statements

i Page 3 of 20
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1. Defendant’s trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ebject to the textimony of Dr.
Sirmms and Ms. Paulette

‘The Confrontation Clausc of the Sixth Amendment mandates that a defendant in a criminal
trial have the opportunity to confrout the witnesses against him. U.S. Const. Amend. VI,
Crawford v, Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1359 (2004). Accordingly, the
Confrontation Clausc precludes any “‘testimanial” out-of-court statements by a witncss unicss
the witness appears at trinl, or if the witness is unavailable, the defendant had a prior opportanity
to cross-examine the witness, Crawford, 541 U.S. at 53-54. Scc also, Melendez-1iaz v.

Massachusetts, 557 11.8. 305, 309, 129 5.Ct. 2527 {2009), Bollcoming v. New Mexico, 131

S.Ct. 2705, 2710 (201 1). Further, a testimoniai statement “would lead an objective witncss 10
reasonably belicve that the statcment would be available for use at a later trial.” Veua v. State,
126 Nev. Adv. Op. 33, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010). Quoting Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 354,
143 P.3d 471, 476 {2006), Flores v. State, 121 Nev. 706, 719, 120 P.3d 1170, 1178-1179 (2005).
See also, Crawford, 541 U.S. at 52.

In this casc, the State attempts to make a confusing and inaccurate argument regarding
testimonial statcments. The State asserts that the Coufrontation Clause only triggers when out-
of-court statements arc both *“teslimosial” and “hearsay.” Statc’s Response, at 13. By definition,
testimonial statements sre “made for the purposc of establishing or proving some fact” and

“made under circumstances which woultd lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the

P.3d at 637. Also, by definition, “hcarsay” is an out of court statcrnent offered to prove the truth

of the matter asserted. NRS 51.035. Regardless of the State’s attempt lo disband the application

Page 4 of 20
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of lestimonial statentents and hicarsay, the Confrantation Clavse requirements apply to out-of-
courl statements intended to establish a fact at trial.

As a result, the (estimony offered by Dr, Simnis and Ms. Paulcfte at trial violaied Mr.
Flowers’ confrontation rights. These witnesses testified to written stalements of other doclors
and unalysts thal werc prepared to establish or prove a fact and were offered for the truth of the
matter asserted.® Further, trial counscl was ineffective for failing to preserve Mr. Flowers’
confrontation rights under the Sixth Amendment. This Court must review the potential prejudice
for harmless crror. Medina v. State, 122 Nev. at 355,

L. Dr. Simms testimony regarding Sheila Quarles’ autopsy

The Statc incorrectly argues that Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy report about Ms. Quarles i3 not
testimonial because it is a business record and a “product of an officiul duty imposed by law,
ratlier than & product of criminal investigation for use at trial.” Statc’s Response, 14-13. The
State relies upon U.S. v, D La Cruz, 514 F.3d 121 (1* Cir, 2008), to assert thut coroners always
conduct autopsies during the normal course of business, and as such, autopsies can fall within
the busincss records exception to the heavsay rale. However, the Nevada Supreme Court has not
yet ruled on this issuc. In Conner v. State, Chief Justice Gibbons wrote a concurring opinion
cxplaining, “The United States Supreme Court has clearly cxplained that whether a report falls

within an cxception to the hearsay rule is not detcrminative of whether the repott is testimonial.”

concurring) (Ref. Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 322.324, 129 S.Ct. 2527
(2009). Furthermorc, the United States Supreme Court concluded that a “‘coroner’s inquest” does
not have the “special status” like a business record of being admitted into evidence withoul

being subject to an opportunity for confrontation because a coroner could reasonably belteve that

i his findings would be used in a criminal prosceution. Mclendez-Diaz, 557 1.8, at 322,

Therefore, the State cannot claim that the sutopsy report constituted & non-testimonial business

2 1n the Slate’s Responsc, the Statc incorrectly denoted Mr. Flowers s “Appellant” and cited 10
“AQB, p. 40." However, this is not an appeliate brief, nor did Mr. Flowers’ supplemeutal
petition contain forty pages.
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record because the coroner could reasonably hiave believed that his report would have
cvidentiary value in & criminal prosecution,

Although the Nevada Supreme Court has not yct decided this issuc, it decided & very
simitar issue in which it hold that a surse’s report constituted a testimoniad statement. In Vega v,
State, the Nevada Supreme Court determined that 4 nurse’s writien report constituted a
testimonial statement in a rape case because the nurse’s statement would “lead an objective
wititess to reasonably believe that the statement would be available for use ata later trinl.” Vega
v. Statg, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 33, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (201 0) {Intcmal citations omitted).

Additioually, a number of states have used this same fogic 1o determine thal autopsy
reports constitute testimonial evidence because autapsy repots would lead an objeclive person
reasonably to belicve that the reports would be uscd in u criminal trial. The Crawford court
distinctly noted that the “core class” of testimonial statements was not intcnded to be a
comprehensive list or definition of what qualifies as “testimonial,” meaning thut even stutements
falting outside of the core class may still be icstimonial because they tend to ostablish or prove
some fuct. In light of the broad definition of *testimonial” siatements, medical and forcnsic
reports, such as autopsy reports, made in conjunction with a4 criminal investigation qualify as
restimanial statements becanse it i reasonable to believe that the report will be available for
later usc at trial’ Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. See afso, LS. v. Iymasiak, 667 F.3d 1217 (I i* Cir.
2012) (Autopsy reports were icstimoninl statements subject to Confrontation Clause); Malaska
v. State, 88 A.3d 805 (Md.Spec. App. 2014) (Autopsy report contained sufficicat formalized
indicia as 1o accuracy of testing processes used or results obtained therefrom to be considered
testimonial for purposes of state and federal confrontation unalysis in homigide prosccution);

Com. v. Carr, 986 N.E.2d 380 (Mass. 2013) (Death certificate prepared by cxaminer who

* Examples of testimonial statements include the following: (1) vx parie in-court testimony or its
faactional cquivalent, such as affidavits, custodinl cxaminations, or similar pretriul statemeity
that a declarant woutd reasonably expect to be used for prosecution; (2) extrsjudicial statements
contained in formal testimonial matcrials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or
confessions; and (3) statements made under circumstances where it is reasonable to believe the
statement will be available for later use af trial. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 310 {citing

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52).
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performed autopsy on victim was testimonial i fact, and thus defemdant's confrontation rights
were violated by admission at first degree murder trial of the death certificute without testimony
of examiner who had prepared it); State v._Navarette, 294 P.3d 435 (N.M. 2013) {Forensic
autopsy reports are testimonial); State v. Kennedy, 735 S.E.2d 905 (W.Va. 2012} (For the

purposcs of usc in criminal prosccutions, autopsy reports arc under all circumstances

311 §.W.3d 104 (Tex. Ct. App. 2010) (Autopsy report was testironial}; State v. Davidson, 242
S.W .3d 409 (Mo. CL. App.2007) (When an autopsy report is preparcd for the purposes of
criminal prosecution, the report is testimonial).

Accordingly, forensic veports prepared in conjunction with and for the purposes of aiding
a police investigation fall squarcly within the definition of “testimoniat,” Bullcoming, 131 S.Ct.
at 2717-2718. Thus, a forensic autopsy report made in conjunction with a criminal prosccution
functions as 1 teslimonial statement because it is created with the purpose of aiding a police
investigation. Bullcoming, 13 S.Ct. at 2713-2714,2717 (2011}, (Sce atso, Crawford, 541 U.S.
at 51-52; Mclendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 310-311,320-321, Viga, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 33,236 P3d
at 637 (2010); Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 830, 126 8.Ct. 2266 (2000)).

In this case, the Stute claims that Dr. Kueblock’s report constituted a business record,
and as such, the repor! was propetly admitted into evidence under the busincss records exception
{0 the hearszy rule. However, the United States Supreme Court clearly explained that a
“coroner’s inquest” is nol admissible as evidence under the "special status” afforded to business
records created during the noroal course of business withoul becoming subject to the
Confrontation Clause rcquirements because the “coroner’s inquest” is comparable to a police
record that is prepared for the production of cvidence at trial. Sce Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at
322,

Here, the record shows that Dr. Kneblock conducted the autopsy in the preseace of three

{.as Vegas Mctropolitan Police Departinent employccs. Therefore, any objcetive person would
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reasonably belicve that this particular autopsy report would have been a important picce of
evidence and would have been preparcd for the production of cvidence af trial.

report in this case, The muse prepared her report in conjunction with & sexual assault
investigation, which is similar to Dr. Knoblock who prepared Sheila Quarics’ autopsy teport in
conjunction with an ongoing homicide investigation. Dr. Knoblock conducted the autopsy in the
presence of Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department investigators and detectives. The
presence of the investigators and detectives demonsirates that the autopsy, and subscquent
repott, were done at the behest of taw enforcement hased on a presumption that the victim died
as a result of criminal activity. As such, Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy repart was clearty preparecd for
the purpose of aiding the investigation and criminal prosccation of Mr, Flowers, which makes
the report a testimonial statcinent.

Moreover, the State misunderstands the relationship between the Confrontation Clause
and hearsay cxcoptions. For example, in Mclendez-Diaz, the Court explained that buginess
records arc admissible af trial becausc the records’ preparation exists for something other than
proving a fact at trial. Melendez-Diaz, S57 U.S. ut 324. Non-testimonial busincss records are
prepared during part of a normal record-kecping procesy without any intention of being used in a
trial. The records become testimonial when the preparer would reasonably foresee that the
records could be used in a criminal prosecution. Thus, the business records exception to the
hearsay rulc allows admission of records kept during the normal course of business that are not
intended to serve any cvidentiary purposc in a trial.

In this casc, the autopsy report unmistakably constitutes testimonial evidence because
Ir, Knoblock prepared the report in conjunction with and in Jurtherance of a criminal
investigation. Dr, Knoblock conducted Sheila Quarles” autopsy with the knowledge of the
ongoing criminal investigation, Therefore, the autopsy report neccssarily constituted testimonial

evidence, and as such, Mr. Flowers should bave had the right (o confront Dr. Knoblock &s a

witncss against him.
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Additionally, the State contends that regardless of the confrontation issue, Dr. Simms
qualificd ns an expert to give his own opinion regarding the evidence. Howcever, the State’s
confention (ails because Dt. Simuns {estified regarding Dr. Knoblock’s subjective opinions
pertaining to cuuse and manner of death, rather than vonfining his testimony only lo matters
within the scope of his specialized knowledge. To qualify as an cxport witness, the expert must
mcet the following requirements:

(1) fthe cxpert] must be qualified in an arca of “scientific, technical or other

speciahized knowledge” (the qualification requirement), {2) his or her
speciatized knowledge must “assist the trier of fact 10 understand the evidence
or to determine 2 fact in issuc”™ (the assislance requirement); and (3) his or her
testimony must be limited “to matters within the scope of [his or her
specialized] knowledge™ (the limited scope requirement), Perez v, State, 129

Nev. Adv. Op. 90, 313 P.3d 862, 866 (2013) (Citing Hallmark v. Eldridge,
124 Nev. 492, 498, 189 P.3d 646, 650 (2008) (quoting NRS 50.275)).

Accordingly, under Nevada law, Dr. Simms should have been precluded from testifying
about Dr. Knoblock's subjective opinions, which were inclided in the autopsy report, becutise
they were outside the scope of Dr. Simmis specialized knowledge. The State claims, “Dr. Simms
testified to his own opinion based on the autopsy report...” State’s Respouse, 16. However, the
State also admits, “Dr. Simms stated that Dr. Knoblock's opinion as to Sheila’s cause of death
was drowning with strangulation as a contributing factor.” State’s Responsc, 9. Ref. TT 2A 68-
69. Even if the autopsy report were not testimonial, Dr. Simms’ testimony would not satisfy the
requirements for cxpert testimony because Dr. Simms did not confine his testimony 1o his own
scope of specialized knowledge because he did not perform the sutopsy or generatc the aatopsy
report. Thus, Dr. Simms’ testimony should have been stricken for failure to meet the standard of
cxpert testimony.

Even if Dr. Simms does qualify as an expert witness, his testimony constitutes
impermissibic surrogaic teslimony. In Bulleoming v. New Mgxico, the defendant had been
convicted of driving while intoxicated. Bultcoming, 131 S.Ct. at 2705, 2709, In Bullcoming, the
prosecuiots introduced 4 testimonial forensic report by calling an analyst as a witness who had
not performed the testing or created the report in guestion. Id. at 2710-2711. The Supreme Court

held that this sort of surrogate testimony violated the defendant’s confrontation rights because
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the surrogate analyst could not convey the subjective nature of the testing and procedures. Id. at
2715.

Like the surtogate testimony in Buflcoming, Dr. Sitnms’ testimony shoukd not have been
introduced at trin}, Dr. Simms did not perform, and was not present, at Sheila Quarles’ aulopsy.
Dr. Simms testimony consisted of his interpretation of Dr. Knoblock’s findings based mercly
upon his review of the autopsy report. The situation became even more problematic when Dr.
Simms attempted to convey Dr, Knoblock’s subjective opinions regarding cause and manner of
death at trial. TT 2A 68-69. Thus, the State violatcd Mr. Flowers’ confrontation rights becuuse
fic was unable to confront Dr. Knoblack about his performance of the autopsy, the opinions he
derived from the autopsy, and the contents of his report. As such, Dr. Kroblock’s findings
contained in the autopsy report of Sheila Quarles should have been precluded due to a clear
violation of Mr. Flowers right 1o confront the State’s witnesses.

Considering the fact thut Dr. Knoblock's sutopsy report of Sheila Quarles should have
been subject to the Confrontation clause requircments, Mr. Flowers® trial counscl was ineffective
for failing to object to the State’s introduction of the autopsy report through Dr. Simms us a
surrogate witness. Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy report indicated homicide as the method of death,
which is the cntire crux of (he Statc's casc, and as such, the basis of that determination should
have been subject to confrontation.

‘The State also fails to recognize how Dr. Simmig” testimony prejudiced Mr. Flowers,
State’s Response, st 17. The State notes, “As such, it is unclesr how Dr. Simms’ textimonty
prejudiced Defendant’s case. Notably, Defendant fails to allege what pottion of Dr. Simms’ was
prejudicial ” State's Responsc, at 17, In. 7-9. In light of the fact thut Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy
report was heavily testimomial given the ciccumstances of this case, Mr. Flowets cantends that
the entirety of Dr, Simms’ surrogatc testimony violated his conlrontation rights and served no
lcgitimate purpase other than fo bolster Dr. Knoblock's determination of homicide. Aside {rom
the obvious constifutional violations, Dr. Simms discusscd subjective opinions contained in the
aulopsy report. TT 2A 6K-69. This caused irreparnble prejudice because the jury heard Dr.

Knoblock's subjective apinions, which were not subjected to cross-examination. This is
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1 P precisely the kind of testimony that the Confrontation Clanse secks to prohibit. Thus, Mr.

Flowers® trial counsel should have objected to this surrogate testimony in an cffort to protect Mr.
Flowers’ confrontation rights.

Mr. Flowers® trisl counsel’s fuilure to object to Dr. Simms” testimony fell below an
objective standard of performance by failing to protect Mr. Fiower’s constitutional right to
confront one of lhe State’s critical witnesses, This failure prejudiced Mr. Flowers to such an
extent that the resuit of the trinf would have been different. At a miniroum, had trial counsct
raised an objection, the tria} court could have addressed Dr. Knoblock’s availability and
precluded Dr. Simms from acting as a surrogale witness and bolstering the subjective opinions
contained in the autopsy report. Clearly, had the trial court precluded Dr. Simms from testifying
regarding the causc and manner of denth, the State could not have mel their burden of proving
all the elements of the alleped offenses beyond & reasonable doubt. Further, the objection would
have preserved Mr. Flowers’ appellate right to address Dr. Simms’ testimony on direct appeal.
Thus, trial counsel’s failure to object caused Mr. Flowers to suffer irreparable prejudice.

§fi. My, Pauletie’s testimony regarding Mr. Wahl’s DNA report

Trial counsel was ineffective for fuiling to object to Ms. Pauletie’s surrogate testimony
regarding the opinions in Mr, Wahl’s DNA seport preparcd for the Marilec Cootc matter, a
compictely separate casc.

Al trial, Ms. Paulette testitied regarding the contents of her own forensic DNA repurt for
the Sheila Quaries homicide. Additionally, the State asked Ms. Paulette to testify to the conlents
of Mr. Wahl’s DNA report for the Marilce Coote case—a complcicly scparate and unrciuted
case in which Mr. Flowers had been invotved. The judge in the Sheila Quarles casc allowed
evidence of the Marilec Coote case fo show similarities and motive. Although Ms. Pauletle
testified (o the contents of her own report for the Sheila Quarles case, Ms. Prulette became a
surrogate witncss for the contents of Mr. Wahl's report wrirten for the Marilee Coote cuse.

Here, the State claims that Mr. Wahl’s DNA rcport regarding the Marilee Coote casc is

somchow distinguishable from the forensic reports identificd in Molendez:Diaz and Bullcoming.

This contention fails. Mr. Wahl's DNA report in the Coote casc was created during the course of
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“cvidentiary purpose.” Bullcoming, 131 8.Ct. at 2717, Crawford, 541 .S, at 53-54, Mclendcz-
Diaz, 557 1.8, at 311.

Additionuily, the State fails to distinguish belween Ms. Paulette’s testimony regarding
the contents of the Mr. Wahl’s report in the Coate case and her testimony regsriding her own
report in the Quarlcs case. State’s Respouse, at 17. During the trial, the State examincd Ms.
Paulette s a witness for two differeat evidentiary functions. First, Ms, Paulette testified to her
own DNA analysis performed for Sheiln Quarics® case and regarding the procedures in the
LVMPD forengic laboratory. Since Ms. Paulcilc prepared this report, she could testify to
contents and opinions of this report.' [Towever, the Statc also offered Ms. Paulette as a witness
to Dr. Wahl's DNA analysis and opinions regarding the Coote cuse, for which Mr. Flowers was
not on trigl. This second {unction clearly triggers the Confrontation Clause restraints because
Ms. Paulctte wes not the analyst who propared that report, nor did she have specialized
knowledge regarding the conclusions contained in Mr. Wah!’s report. Therefore, her testimony
should not have been admitted because Mr. Flowers nover had the opportunity to cross-exanine
Mr. Wahl.

Further, Ms. Paulctte’s testimony regarding Mr. Waht's report caused Mr. Flowers to
suffer irreparable prejudice because the DNA analysis finked Mr. Flowers to 4 muscder for which
hie was not on trial. Accordingly, the jury heard about forensic evidence linking Mr. Flowers to a
crime, and Mr. Flowers did not have the opportunity to cross-examine the anatyst who created
the testimonial report. Although Ms. Paulette’s upinions regarding Mr, Wahl’s report related to
the Coole case, it is highly unlikely that the jury could distinguish the nature of the evidence and
properly use Mr. Waht’s report for anything other than “a declaration vr aflirination made for

the purpose of establishing or proving some fact.” Bulicoming, 131 S.Ct. at 2717. The simple

“In its response, the State xeems to confuse the argument in Mr. Flowers’ supplemental petition.
Mr. Flowers did not make un ineffective assistance claim regarding Ms. Paulette’s testimony
regarding her own findings, Mr. Flowers claims that counsel’s failure to object to Ms, Pauictic’s
testimony regarding the contents of Mr. Wahl’s report constituted incflective nssistance of
counsel because Mr. Flowers should have had the opportunily to cross-cxamine Mr. Wahl as &
witness against him or Me. Wabl's report should not have been admitted into cvidence.
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fact in this case is that a homicide occurred, and the Statc impermissibly used Ms. Pauletic’s
testimony about Mr. Wah!’s analysis to Jink Mr, Flowers to the Sheila Quarles tomicide, despite
the fact that Mr. Wahl's analysis pertained to a different homicide altogether. This opened the
door for the jury to draw impermissible inferences regarding Mr. Flower’s guilt.

As such, trial counsel’s failure to abject lo Ms. Paalette’s surrogate testimony fell below an

| objective standard of rcasonableness. This situation prejudiced Mr. Flowers to the extent that the

outcome of the trial would have been different. Had the court sustained an objection, the State

i would have been forced to subject Mr. Wahl to cross cxemination, whereby the defonse could

i have challenged a very powerful picce of evidence used to show Mr. Flower’s motive for the

| Sheila Quarles murder. In the altemative, if the State could not produce Mr. Wahl for trial, Ms.

| Pauletic’s icstimony portaining to Mr. Waht's report would have been precluded, and the Siatc

| would have had significantly less support to prove the allegations against Mr. Flowers beyoud «

b rcasonable doubt.

2. Defendant’s trial counsei was ineffective for failing to object to the State’s vouching
The State used the prestige of the government to vouch for George Brass’ credibility,

despite the fuct that Mr. Brass bad sex with Sheila Quarles on the duy of ber murder, which

' should have cffectivcly made My, Brass an alternative suspect in this casc. During the trial, the

State clicited testimony from Detective Vaccaro and Detective Long that constituted vouching
for Mr. Brass’ credibility. Additionaily, during closing arguments, the State explicitly vouched
for Mr. Brass' credibility by drawing & compatison between Mr. Brass’ admission that he had
sex with Sheila Quaries the day she died, and Mr. Flowers” election to exercise his Fifth
Amendment right to remain silent. Thus, during its closing argument, the State persistently
described Mr. Brass as a tnmtworthy individual, thereby vouching for his credibitity.

It is cstablished that 8 prosecutor may net vouch for the credibility of its own witness.
Browning v. State, 120 Ncv. 347, 358-359, 91 P.3d 39, 48 (2004); Andcrson v. State, 121 Nev,
511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005). Further, a prosccutor vouches by placing the “prestige of

the government behind thie witness™ and provides “personal assurances of {the] wilness’s
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As the State noted, in Rowland, the Nevada Supreme Court beld that describing an
{nmate witness as a “man of integrity” and “honor™ constituted prosceutorial misconduct.
Rowlaud, | {8 Nev. at 39, However, the Stute clearly neglected the rermainder of the Rowland
opinion. In Rowland, the Court rcasoned, “even asserting that the defendaat is lying is equally
impermissible.” 1d. See also, Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 724, 724, 765 P.2d 1153 (1988) (“The
characterization of testimony as a lie is improper argument.”),

Nevada has ndopted the Ninth Circuit’s fogic regarding prosceutorial vouching,

“Analysis of the harm cavsed by vouching depends in part on the closencss of the case.” Lisie v.

Stale, 113 Nev, 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473, 481 (1997); {citing U.S. v. Frederick, 78 F.3d 1370,

1378 (91h Cir.1996); Ref, U.S. v. Roberts, 618 F.2d 530, 534 (1980). Further, “If the issue of
guill or innocence is closc, if the slate’s case is not strong, prosecutor misconduct wili probably
be considered prejudicial.” Rowland, 118 Nev. at 38. As a result, if the question regarding
innocence or guilt is close, then the reviewing courts will be mote likely to reverse the cuse
pased upon prejudicial vouching. Nevada hias adopted & two-pronged analysis to determing the
propriely of a prosccutor’s conduct: (1) determine “whether the prosecutor’s conduct was
improper,” and (2) dctermine “whether the improper conduct warrants reversal.” Valdez v. State,

124 Nov. 1172, 1188, 196 P,3d 465, 476 (2008).

In this case, the State incorrectly claims that Mr. Flawers did not explain how the State’s
clicited testintony from Detective Vaccara constituted improper vouching, Me. Flowers
explained the following:

In addition, during the direct cxamination of Detective Jumes Vaccaro, the
prosceutor vouched to the jury that Mr. Brass should not have been considered &
prime suspect to the murder and sexual assault. Detective Vaccaro retired in
2007, but Mr. Brass did not admit to having sex with the victim until a detective
approached him in 2008. Accordingly, Detective Vaccaro did not have any
ersonal knowledge regarding Mr. Bruss’s admission because Detective Vaccaro
Ead already retired at the lime of Mc, Brass’s admission. Therefore, the
prosccutor used the prestige of the government when it used Detective Vaccaro’s
position as a representative of law cnforcement o make Mr. Brass's story more

beligvable.

Supplemental Petition, at 29.
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Further, in the Statcment of Facts of the Supplemental Petition, Mr. Flowers provided the

direct portion of Detective Vaccaro's testimony in which the State elicited responses to vouch

tor Mr. Biass;

During direct examination, the State elicited improper vouching testimony from
Detective Vaccaro regarding the State’s essential witness, Cicorge Brass, Jr.:

Q- “Now, if Mr. Brass—or assuming Mr. Brass admitted or {old detectives
that he had sexual contact with Miss Quaries on the day of her death, the room
or the location that the intereourse took place wouldn't be padticularly relcvant
in the investigation, would it if it was & cansensual retationship?”

A-  “Not with regard to that scxual contact with regard to Mr. Bruss.”

Q- “Okay, So if e said that he had sex with her on the floor of onc of the
rooms in Debra Quarles’ apartment, knowing that docsw’t necessarily tell you
who killed Sheila Quarles later on?”

A-  “Tthink that the correct answer o that would be that it wasn’t important
until we knew more about tiat sexual activity and whether or ot he was a
suspect in our case. So | don’t know if that’s a confusing answer, but when we
learned about him as & suspect or not a suspect in our case, when he did not
develop as a suspect in our case, then that locatian that the consensual sex took
place wasn't of any importance to us.”

Q-  “Imecan—yeah, I guess that’s my question.” It doesn’t tell you any more
about the investigation or how she was killed if he says I had sex with her on the
living room floor, on the kitchen floor or on the bedroom floar? That docsn’t
tell you anything about who killed Sheila Quarles, does it?”

A-  *“No. ] mean, he could havce said he had sex with her at a lacation othor
than the apartment cven, for that matter. The fact that he said that he had scxual
coniact with her, but then showed additional information—or additional
investigation showed us that he wasn't a suspect in that, where they had sex
wasn't of impoitance to us; and, at that poind, 1 think that was beyond my time

.

there anyway. So in my experience, that wouldn’t have been important to me.”
Q- “And the fact that someone has sex with another imdividual on a floor or
on a carpet, that wonldn’t nccessarily mean that spenn or somce kind of DNA
would end up on the carpet by virtuc of the sexual activity, would it?”
A-  “No. But! guess we could say that depending upon the positioning of the
two individuals having sex, you conld make 2 conclusion whether or not there
was some deposit of scrnen on the surface that they were having scx on. Sol
don’t really know how to answer that.”
Q- “Maybe, maybe not?”
A-  “lt docsn’t mean it's always going to be there.”

TT Vol. 2B at 130-131.

Supplementat Petition, at 14-15.
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Detective Vaccaro had no personal knowlcdge of Mr. Bruss® admission that he had scx
with Shelia Quarics on the day she died. Detective Vaccaro testified that he retired in 2007.TT
vol. 2B at 114. In August of 2008, Mr. Brass admitted to having sex with Sheila Quarles on the
day she dicd. TT Vol. 2B at 113-114. As such, Detective Vacearo could not have personal
kuowledge regarding Mr. Brass’ affairs because he was no longer working os a detective at the
time of Mr. Brass® admission. TT Vol. 2B at 114,

Despite the fact thut Detective Vaccaro did not have personal knowledge regarding Mr.
Brass' admission, the Siate asked Detective Vaccuro 1o make assumplions about the situation
and develop incorrect conclusions based upon those assumptions. Detective Vaccaro admitted to
lacking personal knowledge of Mr. Brass’ admission and to having heard about the admission on
g second-hand basis. TT Val. 2B at 114, 130-131, Knowing that Dctective Vaccaro did not have
personal knowledge about M. Brass® admission, the State repeatedly asked Detective Vacearo
guestions to cnsure that Mr. Brass' adimission would not make Mr. Brass 4 suspect in the
criminal investigation. TT Vol. 2B at 130-131. See Supplemental Petition, at 14-15. The State’s
questioning lead Detective Vacearo to vouch for the police officers’ decision not to investigate
Mr. Brass as a potential suspect in Sheila Quarles’ homicidc. Logically, Detective Vacearo
would answer the State’s questions in a manncr that supported the other officers’ decision to
exclude Mr. Brass as a suspect and failure to inquire further into his admission. Thus, the State
used Detective Vaccaro (o vouch for the credibility of the other officers” failure to question Mr.
Brass as a potential subject to Sheila Quatles’ murder. In turn, the State used this questioning s
a mechanism (o take suspicion away from Mr. Brass and 1o convey Mr. Brass as a credible
individual in order 1o convict Mr. Flowers despite the closeness of the case.

As u result of the prosecutor’s fine of questioning, the State created a sifualion in which
Mr. Flowers suffcred prejudice. This is a very close case because the victim had sex wilh two
men on the day she died. However, the police and the prosecutors only chose to investigate one
potential suspect, despite the fact that in 2008, Mr. Brass cxplicitly discloscd the fact that he
slept with Sheila Quarles on the day she died. The prosceutors knew that Delective Vuccaro had

retired in 2008 when Mr. Brass provided this sdmission, and the prosccutors guestioncd
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1 { Detcctive Vacearo sbout Mr. Brass despite Detective Viccara’s lack of personal knowlcdge
2 1 about the situntion. This linc of questioning certainly constitutes improper vouching.
3 Additionaily, the State cannot argue that it did not clicit any “personal assurences” when

4 § questioming Detective Long about Mr, Bruss® willingness fo discuss Sheila Quarles. For

5 | exampic, the State repeatedly questioned Detective Long about Mr. Brass” voluntary
6 1 couversation about Sheila Quarles. Supplemcntal Peiition, at 11-12, 29-30. TT Vol. 3B ut 41-43,
7 ¥ 66-68. The State uscd Detective Long's explanation as ta why Mr. Brass was not a suspect lo

build Ms. Brass® credibility. Detective Long, as a Iaw enforcement agent, holds & public position
9 [ and represents the prestige of the government. Thercfore, by demonstrating that Detective Long
10 supported the decision to cxclude Mr. Brass as a suspect, the State used Detective Long as a

H 11 represcntative of government prestige to support the contention that Mr. Brass was credible

12 I because he voluntarily spoke with Detective Long.

13 The State impennissibly drew a comparison between Mr. Flowers exercising his right to

14} remain silent and Mr. Brass’ willingness to tatk. The State explicitly used Delective Long’s

15 f testimony to show that Mr. Brass spoke to Detective Long, despitc the fact that he could huve
161 refused to discuss Sheila Quarles. This sent & powerful message to the jury that the Statc

171 belicved Mr. Brass was more credible than Mr. Flowers because Mr. Brass® willingness to talk
181 to the police prectuded his viabilily as a suspect to Sheila Quarles’ death, Thus, 2 lay jury would
191 be more likely to helicve the prosccutor’s logic as to which man could have committed the

201 murder. However, based on the scientific evidence presented, a reasonable jury conld not have
a1 i determined which man had sex with Sheila Quarics first on the duy she dicd, which

22| demonstrates the closencss of this case. Thercfore, the prosecutor impermissibly vouched for
23§ Mr. Brass’ credibility in juxtaposition to Mr. Flowers' exercisc of his right to remain silent,

244 when in fact, Mr. Brass was a legitimate suspect in Sheila Quarles’ death.

25 Further, the State incorrcctly contends that fabeling M. Brass ss having “nothing to

26 hidc” simply invited the jury “to draw such the reasonable infcreneg that’s [sic] Mr. Brass’

271 testimony was truthful based on the totality of the cvidence” during the ctosing arguments,

28§ State’s Response, at 19. The State's contentions fail. The State continuously told the jury that
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Me. Brass could not be the killer becase Mr, Brass voluntarily discussed his relationship with
Sheila Quarles with detectives. Supplemental Petition, at 15-16, TT Vol. § at 118, Additionally,
the State explained thal Mr. Brass did not cvade the police and displayed a cooperative
demeanor, Id. TT Vol. S at 118-120. Further, the State drew couclusions that the evidence
absotutely vitified Mr. Flowers because Mr. Flowers did not voluntarily speak with law
caforcement, 1d. By comparing Mr. Brass” willingness to testify against Mr, Flowers’ choice to
exercise his right to renmain silent, the proscoutor’s statements infected the proceedings with
unfounded conclusions regarding Mr. Flowers® culpability. As such, the prosceutors” vouching
was improper because it bolstered the credibility of a state witness to improve the likelthood of
canvicting Mr. Plowers. This was a close case, as shawn hy the DNA evidence. Thus, the
prosccutors scized the opportunity to highlight Mr. F lower’s refusal to speak to the police it an
elTort to convince the juty that Mr. Flowers was guilly because he clected to remain silent rather
than cooperate with the police.

The State argues that it was simply providing the facts to the jury in a manner such that
the jury could function as the lie detector and determine the credibility of the witnesses, State’s
Responsc, at 19, This argumcnt is inapplicable to this case. The Statc prescnted improper
couclusions, which allowed the jury to heed to cmotional prompts and attribute credibility to Mr.
Brass, when in fact, Mr. Brass did not merit that credibility. The State’s comparison of Mr.
Brass® admission with Mr. Clowers® silence provided the jury with un oppottunity to attribute
unwarranted credibility to Mr. Brass and to ignore him as an alternate suspect.

As previously stated, the facty prescnted to the jury made this a very close case. Mr.
Flowers and Mr, Brass cach had scx with Sheils Quarles on the day she dicd. Thus, the State
impermissibly resorted 10 vouching in order to give them an unwarranted advantage in
convicting Mr. Flowers becausc the State did not have concrete facts upon which to convict Mr.
Fiowers.

Accordingly, trial counse!’s deficicncy stemmed from the failure to object fo the State’s
impermissible vouching, which itrevocably prejudiced Mr. Flawers' right to a fair trial. Had trial

counscl objected to the State’s vouching, the result of the tria] would have been diffcrent
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because the jury would have scen Mr. Brass as an alternate suspect rather thon o credible
witness. Given the closcness of the case, the State’s vouching, which constituted prosccutorial
misconduct, cannot be considered harmless. Thus, had the court sustained an objection to the

Stute’s vouching, the outcome of the case would have been different.

CONCLUSION
For the reazons stated above, Norman Flowers' conviction is unconstitutional under the

federal and state constitutions for cach of the reasons stated horcin, Mr. Flowers' judgment of

conviction must therefore be vacated.

DATED this 10™ day of November, 2014.

_Is/ lames A. Oronoz

JAMES A. ORONOZ, ESQ.

OrRONOZ & ERICSSON LLC

700 South Third Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Tetephone: (702) 878-2880

Facsimile: (702) 522-1542

Attarncy fior Petitioner, Norman Flowers
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1ok Post Office at Las Vegas, Nevada, in a scated envelope with postage fully pre-paid thereon, a
t } truc and correct copy of the foregoing Reply to State’s Responsc and Motion to Dismiss

12 [ Defendant’s Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Couviction), addressed to

i3
k4
15
16
17
I8
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

NR ~3 2 a

200 Lewis Avenue
Las Viepas, Nevada 89101
pdmotionsclarkcountyda.com

I

the following;

RENEE BAKER

Warden

Ely State Prison
P.O. Box 1989

“ Ely, Nevada 89301

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO
Nevada Attorney Genetal

100 N. Curson Street

Carson City, Nevada 89701-4714

CERTIFICATE QF SERVICE
I heveby certify that on the 10"™ day of November, 2014, 1 served a true and correct copy
 of the forcgoing Reply to State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant’s Supplementul

Petition for Writ of Habcas Corpus {Post-Conviction) ou the following:

STEVEN WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney
PAMELA C. WECKERLY, Chicf Deputy District Attomey

{ further certify that on the 10" day of November, 2014, 1 deposited in the United States

/s/_Rachael Stewart
An employee of Oronaz & Bricsson LLC
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #0015635
CHRISTOPHER BURTON
Deputy District Aitorney
Nevada Bar #012940

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
-~V§- CASE NO: 06C228755

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, DEPT NO: X1
aka Norman Harold Flowm_; 111, #1179383

Defendant.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW AND ORDER

DATE OF HEARING: APRIL 29, 2015
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 AM

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable JUDGE ELIZABETH
GONZALEZ, District Judge, on the 29th day of April, 2015, the Petitioner not being present,
REPRESENTED BY LUCAS GAFFNEY, Esq. the Respondent being represented by
STEVEN B. WOLFESON, Clark County District Attorney, by and through L.ISA LUZAICH,
Chief Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs,
transcripts, arguments of counsel, and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court
makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

FINDINGS OF FACT com;_z_(stoms OF LAW

On December 13, 2006, a Grand Jury issued an Indictment on Norman Keith Flowers,

aka Norman Harp]d Flowers 11l (hereinafter “Flowers”) for the following: COUNT 1 -
Burglary (Felony — NRS 205.060); COUNT 2 - Murder (Felony 200.610, 200.030); COUNT

05-21~15411:08 RCVD

WA2006P23TWD6FI3792-PCLAFLOWERS _ NORMAN}-X2DGCXK
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3 - Sexual Assault (Felony ~ NRS 200.364, 200.366) and COUNT 4 - Robbery (Felony -
NRS 200.380). The victim named in the Indictinent was Sheila Quarles. .

On December 26, 2006, the State filed & Motion to Consolidate seeking to consolidate
this case with District Court Case Number C216032. The motion was also filed in Case
Number C216032. In Case Number C216032, Flowers was charged with two counts of murder
(and other charges) for the deaths of Marilee Coote and Rena Gonzales. Flowers filed an
Opposition on January 2, 2007. On January 8, 2007, District CourtJ udge Joseph Bonaventure,
sitting judge for Case Number C216032, denied the State’s motion. On January 11, 2007, the
State filed & Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty in this matter.

On lanuary 23, 2007, Flowers filed & Motion in Limine to Prechule Evidence of Other
Bad Acts and Motion to Confirm Counsel. In his motion, Flowers sought io keep out evidence
of the Gonzales and Coote murders and to confirm atiorney Brett Whipple, Esq., as his counsel.
The State filed an opposition on February 2, 2007. On February 5, 2007, the Court denied
Flowérs"motion to confirm counsel but did not address the prior bad acts. On November 5,
2007, the State filed a Motion for Clarification of Court’s Ruling seeking to clarify if they
could introduce evidence of the murders charged in Case Number C216032 at rial in this
matter. Flowers filed an opposition on November 6, 2007. On November 15, 2007, the Court
ordered a Petrocelll hearing on the bad acts that the State wanted to introduce at trial. On
August 1, 2008, the Court found that the murder and sexual assault of Coote had a sufficiently
similar nexus to the Sheila Quarles murder and could be used at trial, but denied the admission
of evidence of the Rena Gonzales murder.

An Amended Indictment was filed on October 15, 2008, alleging the same charg;:s as
set forth in the Indictient. On October 22, 2008, pursuant to a jury verdict, Flowers was found
guilty of COUNTS 1, 2 & 3, i.c., Burglary; First-Degree Murder and Sexual Assault,
respectively. Flowers was found not guilty of COUNT 4 — Robbery. On Qctober 24, 2008,
following a penalty hearing, the jury imposed a sentence of LIFE Without the Possibility of
Parole for COUNT 2. On October 30, 2008, Flowers filed a Motion for New Trial alieging

2
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insufficient evidence. On November 10, 2008, the State filed an Opposition. The Court denied
i Flowers® motion on November 12, 2008.

On January 13, 2009, Flowers was sentenced as follows: as to COUNT | —to a
meximum of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) MONTHS in the Nevada Department of
Corrections (NDC) with a minimum parole eligibility of FORTY-EIGHT (4!_3) MONTLIS; as
to COUNT 2, to LIFE Without the Possibility Of Parole, to run consecutive o COUNT I; as
to COUNT 3, to LIFE With the Possibility Of Parole after ONF HUNDRED TWENTY (120)
MONTHS, to run consecutive to COUNT 2. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on January
16, 2009, erroncously noting as to COUNT 3, a sentence of LIFE Without the Possibility of
Parole, with a minimum parole eligibility of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) MONTHS.
“ On January 29, 2009, Flowers appeared in court with counsel pursuant to the State’s request
for clarification of the sentence. An Amended Judgment of Conviction was fited February 12,
2012 to reflect the true sentence of LIFE With the Possibility Of Parole with a minimum parole
eligibility of ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) MONTHS for COUNT 3.

On January 26, 2009, Flowers filed a Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of
Conviction. On February 20, 2009, Flowers filed an Amended Notice of Appeal.

On March 5, 2010, Flowers filed a Motion for New Trial Based upon Newly Available
Evidence. The Court denied the Motion for New Trial, On April 1, 2010, Flowers filed a

Naotice of Appeal from the Court’s denial of his Motion for New Trial.

On June 10, 2011, pursuant to negotiations, Flowers entered an Alford plea to an
“ Amended Indictment in Case Number C216032, which cherged Flowers with two (2) counts
of First-chreé Mutder for the deaths of Marilee Coote and Rena Gonzales. Pursuant to the

plea negotiations, Flowers agreed to withdraw his appeals in this case which were pending

a before the Nevada Supreme Court; i.e., Flowers v. State, Docket # 53159 (Appeal from the
Judgment of Cenviction); and Flowers v, State, Docket # 55759 (Appeal from the District
Court’s order denying Flowers® motion for now trial). On June 13, 2011, Flowers filed a

Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss his Appeal in each of these cases.- On September 28,2011, the

Supreme Court issued an Order f)ismissing Appeals in Docket # 53159 and Docket # 55759.
,
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¥ providing discavery. Accordingly, the Court vacated the discovery order signed on August

On May 16, 2012, Flowers filed 2 Motion for the Appointment of Counsel and Request for
Evidentiary Hearing, seeking the appointment of counse] in the preparation ‘of a post-
conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. On May 30, 2012, the court granted Flowers’
motion. On Junc 8, 2012, James A. Oronoz, Esq., was appointed as post-conviction counsel.

Al a status check on July 13, 2012, defense counsel advised the Court he still had not
cbtained Flowers’ file. On August 27, 2012, defense counsel advised the Court he was still
not in possession of Flowers’ file. Counsel presented the Court with an Order which was
signed in open court, ordering the District Attorney’s Office to provide Flowers with a copy
of discovery.

On September 10, 2012, before the time to file the post-conviction petition ¢xpired in
this case, the parties appeared in court at the State’s request for a clarification of the August
27, 2012 discovery order. Defense counsel made an oral mation to extend the timeline for the
filing of Flowers® post-conviction petition. The Court granted defense counsel’s request and
extended the deadline by 30 days. The Court also noted that when it signed the discovery
order on August 27, 2012, it had not realized there would be an objection by the State to

27, 2012, and ordered briefing on the matter.

On October 9, 2012, Flowers filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction). On October 30, 2012, the State moved to di;smiss Flowers’ petition as untimely.
On October 31, 2012, Flowors filed a Mation to Place on Calendar to Supplement Defendant’s
Petition for Weit of Habeas Corpus. On November 2, 2012, State filed an opposition to
Defendant’s Motion to Place on Calendar, On November 23, 2012, Flowers filed a reply to
State’s opposition.

On September 12, 2012, prior to the filing of Flowers® petition, Flowers fifed a Motion
to Obtain a Complete Capy of Discovery from the State. On December 14, 2012, the State
filec an opposition. On January 16, 2013, the Court heard argument on Flowers® discovery
motion. The next day, the district court issued a minute order. The Court found: 1) NRS

34726 does not address inatances where a pending appeal is dismissed and no remittitur is

4

WRDOGF 23N 06K 23792-PCL-(FLOWERS__ NORMAN}-G2DOCX
App 0400

i +eed



L

e B U S S CUY R Y P B ' —_ o e e e
2 9 B8R UBNBREBEZS =3I can s oo s

WO =] o B WM

issued from the Nevada Supreme Court; 2) even assuming NRS 34.726 applied, there was
good cause to overcome the procedural bar because post-conviction connsel had been “unable
1o obtain a copy of his file for reasons outside of his control;” 3) the Court’s September 17,
2012 Order granting an extension created prejudice; and 4) Flowers' filing of the petition
within eleven days of the deadline was reasonable, The minute order noted that the discovery
issue would be addressed at the next scheduled hearing on March 6, 2013. The instant case
was reassigned to Department 11 on January 22, 2013.

On March 5, 2013, the State filed a Renewed Response and Motion to Dismiss Flowers’
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On March 20, 2013, the Court ordered
supplemental briefing as to Flowers’ post-conviction petition. Following a stipulation by the
parties to extend the briefing schedule, Flowers filed a Supplemental Petition for Writ of
Habeus Corpus (Post-Conviction) on July 7, 2014, Onr August 25, 2015, the State filed a
Response and Motion to Dismiss Flower's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(Post-Conviction). Flowers filed a reply on November 10, 2014.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel a defendant must prove
he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686-87, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063-64 (1984); see also

i State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). Under the Strickland test, a
defendant must show first that his counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability that

the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 8. Ct. at

2068: Warden. Nevada State Prison v, Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984)

| (adopting the Strickland two-part test). “[Tlhere is no reason for a court deciding an incfTective
| assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components

i of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 465 U.S. at
| 697, 104 8. Ct. at 2069,

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel’s representation fell below an

5
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reasonable probability that, bul for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been
different. McNelton v, State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S, Ct. at 2052). “A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient {0 undermine confidence in the outcome.” McNelton, 115 Nev. at 403, 990 P.2d at
1268 (ciling Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 8. Ct. at 2052). |

This Court finds that trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the State’s
evidence regarding Grorge Brass, as such did not constitute vouching, It is well scitled that
the prosecution may not “vouch” for & witness’ credibility. Browning v. State, 120 Nev. 347,
358,91 P.3d 39, 48 (2004). “{SJuch vouching occurs when the prosecution places the prestige
of the government behind the witness by providing personal assurances of the witmess’s
veracity. Id. (internal citation and gquotation marks omitted), accord Rowland v. State, 118
Nev. 31, 39, 39 P.3d 114, 119 (2002). Flowers alieged that the State vouched for Mr. Brass
during Detective Vaccaro’s testimony, but does not specify how the testimony elicited from
Detective Vaccaro was improper vouching. Flowers also slleged that the State vouched for
Mr. Brass during Detective Long's testimony by eliciting testimony that Mr, Brass could have
refused to speak with Detective Long had he so chose. The Court finds this i$ not a “personal
gssurance” by the prosecution,of Mr. Brass® credibility, and therefore no improper vouchirig
occurred.

Fiowers also contends that the State “vouched” for Mr. Brass during closing argument
by indicating that Mr. Brass had “nothing to hide.” This Court finds that the circumstances as
presented do not indicate vouching. The State’s comiment was proper because it was
commenting on the evidence prescmcd and inviting the jury to draw a reasonable inference
that Mr. Brass’ testimony was truthful based on the totality of the evidence. This type of
argument is proper. See Bridges v. Statg, 116 Nev. 752, 762, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000} (“The
prosecutor had a right to comment upon the testimony and to ask the jury to draw inferences
from the evidence, and has the right to state fully his views as to what the evidence shows.™).
Flowers has not shown deficiency or prejudice, thus this claim is denied,

i
o
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This Court finds that trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to Dr. Simms
testimony as it relatcd to the findings contained in Dr. Knoblock’s autopsy report. The Sixth
Amendment provides that, “[i}n all criminal prosccutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to
be confronted with the witnesses against him,” and gives the accused the opportunity to cross-

examine all those who “bear testimony” against him. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36,
51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1364 (2004); see also White v, Iilinois, 502 U.S. 346, 359, 112 8.Ct. 736,

744 {1992) (Thomas, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgment) (“critical phrase within
the Clausc is ‘witnesses against him'™). Thus, testimonial hearsay - ie. extrajudicial
statements used as the “functional equivalent” of in-court testimony - may only be admitted at
trial if the declarant is “unavailable to testify, end the defendant had had a prior opportunity
for cross-cxamination.” Crawford, 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct, at 1365. To run afoul of the
Confrontation Clause, therefore, out-of-court statements introduced at trial must not only be
“testimonial” but must aiso be hearsay, for the Clause does not bar the use of even “testimonial
statements for purposes other than esteblishing the truth of the matter asserted.” Id. at 51-52,
60 n.9, 124 S.Ct. at 1369 n.9 (citing, Tennessee v, Street, 471 U.S. 409, 414, 105 S.Ct. 2078,

2081-82 (1985)).
This Court finds that no Confrontation Clause violation was committed during Dr.

Simms’ testimony as the autopsy report is not testimonial in nature. Autopsy reports are the
product of an official duty imposed by law, rather than a product of criminal }nvesﬁgalion for
1se t trial. Ses NRS 259.050. Unlike the reports held testimonial in Melendez-Diaz v.
Massachusetts, 557 U.S, 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527 (2009), and Bulicoming v. New Mexico, 564
U.S. ___, 131 8.Ct. 2785 (2011}, autopsy reports are generated regardless of any request by

law enforcement and are not produced solely or cven primarily for purposes of gathering
evidence for a future criminal prosecation, See Williams v. lllinois, _US. __, 132 8.CL
2221, 2251 (2012) (Breyer, J. concurring) (“Autopsies, like the DNA report in this case, are
often conducted when it is not yet clear whether there is a particuler suspect or whether the
facts found in the autopsy will nitimately prove relevant in a criminal trial™).
"
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This Court finds that as Dr. Simms testificd as to his own opinion based on the autopsy
report and the autopsy photographs, his testimony did not run afoul of the Confrontation
Clause. See Willlams, 132 8.Ct. at 2228, (*Under settied evidence law, an expert may express
an opinion that is based on facts that the expert assumes, but does not know, to be true.”) Thus,
any objection by trial counsel would have been futile, and counsel cannot be ineffective for
failing to make futile objections or arguments, See Enpis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103,
Flowers has not cstablished deficiency, therefore this claim js denied.

This Court finds that trial counsel was not incffective for failing to object to Ms.
Paulette’s testimony as it related to the findings contained in Mr. Wahl's DNA report regarding
Marilee Coote’s case, as there was no Confrontation Clause violation. Pauletie reviewed the
report, testified that she agreed to its findings, and was subject to cross-examination.
Moreover, Paulette testified to the procedures of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department (LVMPD) forensics laboratory, the same laboratory Wahl worked at when he
authored the DNA report, and was subject to cross-cxamination.

This Court has reviewed the other claims asscrted by Flowers in his Petitions and finds
them to be without merit,

This Court finds that as the record clearly belies Flowers® claims, an evidentiary hearing
is not required.

i
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i f ORDER
2 i THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief
3 [ shall be, and it is, hereby denied.
‘| DATED this_ Jl%y of May, 2015.
5 | O
‘|
B
‘¢ | STEVEN B. WOLFSON
10 | l’/W’ﬂ. 7,
N . B 4 ‘j’A ﬂ’"ﬂ’fﬁ%!l."l, 4%
\ Deputy Digtrict Attoyuey
12 | Ng¢vada War #01294(
i3
14 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE _
15 F I certify that on the 20th day of May, 2015, I e-mailed a copy of the foregoing proposed
16 [l Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order to:
17 LUCAS GAFFNEY, Esq.,
8 luke@oronoglawyers.com
19 BY )
20 for the District Attorney’s Office
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28 || GC/CB//M-1
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Strongly told him no?

Strongly told him no.

Okay. And did we also talk about the withdrawal of his appeal?

You did. We did.

Q@  Okay. So all of this was talked about between the Defendant and the

>0 r O

State in your presence, correct?

A Yes, it was.

Q  Woere we able to reach a deal when we were there?

A No

Q  Did we leave?

A Yes, you did.

Q  After we left did you and Mr. Schieck stilf remain behind and speak to
the Defendamt?

A Yes, we did.

Q And did you speak to him for a period of time?

A Yeah, it was | guess approximately a half an hour or so.

Q  Okay. You weren't rushed? You were able to answer any questions heT
had?

A Yes. We were notrushed.

Q  When you came back to Las Vegas afterwards, did you have any
further conversation or email or anything of that nature with the State that day?

A Yer. Before Mr. Schieck and | left High Desert, we had come fo an
understanding with Norman regarding a deal that he would take and that deal was
on the Coote homicide, that he would plead guilty via the Alford plea and accept a

sentence of life without the possibility of parole and that would be consecutive to the
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one that he was serving. And then on the Gonzales matter he would plead guilty
again, via Alford and would receive a sentence of life with the possibility of parole
and that would be concurrent to the Coote,

it also included, as we stated, waiving his direct appeal on the Quarrels
case and that the State would make some efforts or would at least talk to the
gentleman in the inspector General's office and ask him that Mr. Flowers be placed
in Lovelock,

Q  So still on that date did we respond {0 you and indicate that we wouid
not accepl an Alford plea regarding Coote but the rest of the negotiation we could
five with?

A Thatis correct.

0  Sowhen we came the next day {o calendar cafl was there a
negotiation?

A Not immediately because of the non - of you refusing the Alford plea in
the Gonzales matter. 11alked to Mr. Flowers and he was very adamant that should
he - if he was going to plead guilty that it would have to be Alford on both and |
conveyed that to you and Miss Weckerly and you considered it and then agreed he
could plead Afford to both counts.

Q  Okay. So, originally, we had said no to the Alford on one but the Alford
on the other was okay, correct?

A Correct.
Q  And then we had further conversation with you after you spoke with the

Defandant and then we agree 1o Alford on both counts, is that correct?

A Correct.
Q  When we came fo court that morning — and that was Friday before trial

38
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Tiu BRSNS
Subject: Norman Flowers

Date: Monday, June 15, 2015 2:33:46 PH

Karen,

Shortly after Mr. Flowers entered his plea, pursuant to his request | called to ask that he be housed
at Lovelock. | spoke to 2 different people, hoth of whom told me something to the effect of thanks
for your request, we'll place hirn where we want him.
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FRIDAY, JUNE 10, 2011 AT 8:39 AM.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor.
THE COURT: Yeah.
MR. PATRICK: May we approach?

THE COURT: Yeah.
{Bench Conference Begins]

MR. PATRICK: Good morning. ! think we have this negotiated.
THE COURT: Okay.
MR PATRICK: There's one smalt sticking point. Mr. Flowers would like 1o

speak to his mom for about five minutes to make sure he's doing the right thing.

MS. LUZAICH: She's right there.
THE COURT: | don't care.
MS. WECKERLY: Yeah, we don't care either.
MS. LUZAICH: No.
MR. PATRICK: Let me -
THE COURT: Where's the officer?

We can all leave here.
MR. PATRICK: Yeah.
MS. LUZAICH: Yeah, we're going upstairs to get paperwork anyway. So.
THE COURT: Okay.

[Bench Conference Concludes)

THE COURT: Mr. Flowers wants to talk to his mother. Thisis his mother.

THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Uh-huh.
THE COURT: You can't touch him. Do you understand that, ma'am? You
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can’t hug him, can’t -- in fact, if you want to sit Mr. Flowers here, she can -- we're
going to move everybody out of the courtroom so that they -- you obviously will stay.

THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Uh-huh.

THE COURT: | don't get involved in that. But if there’s anything you fee!
uncomfortable about, you pull him out. Okay?

THE CORRECTIONS OFFICER: Okay.

THE COURT: Don't touch him, hug him. You talk to her.

MR. SCHIECK: You understand you'li be in the front row and he'll be on the
other side there in the front. They'll sit in the front.

THE COURT; I}l just be you and him and this officer. i cantdo anything
about that. But Fll pul my staff out.

[Matter trailed at 8:40 a.m ]
[Matter racalied at 9:48 a.m.]

THE COURT: C216032, Norman Flowers. 1s this resolved?

MR. PATRICK: No, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Okay. Then we'll go fo trial. You understand you're looking at
the death penalty.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes,

THE COURT: Twice. And once we walk out the door, there's no negotiation,
we're going to trial.

THE DEFENDANT: | want it resclved, but they want me to waive my right -

THE COURT: There won't --

THE DEFENDANT: -- my appeal on --

THE COURT: There won't be another negotiation. Do you understand? No

chance.

3.
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THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive --

THE COURT: None.

. THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive my right, Your Honor, on another
case.

THE COURT: You know what? That's up to you.

MR. PATRICK: Norman, there’s no chance you'ra going to get any action on
the direct appeal. Okay?

THE COURT: There is no chance that you're going to get a better offer than
today.

THE DEFENDANT: If 'm not going to get no action on direct appeal, why do
| have to waive that right, then? [t shouldn't matter.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PATRICK: Okay.

THE COURT: That's your privilege to -- 'm not -- | don't have a dog in the
fight, { don't care one way o the other, I'm here for the next three weeks anyway.
Fve got it set Irial. But understand, you have to take the decision that you've made.
Do you understand? No deals once [ leave this room. That's okay.

Monday morning at 9:30.

MS. WECKERLY: Your Honor --

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, a couple of things, please. We need
Mr. Flowers remanded today to CCDC,

THE COURT: Allright.

MR. PATRICK: Also, do we have a schedule as -- are we going fo be dark
next Thursday or how is that going to work?

THE COURT: We're going to try and find a courtroom,
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MR. PATRICK: Ckay.

THE COURT: For the moming.

MR. PATRICK: Very good.

THE COURT: The afternoon we'll probably be abie to try it from 1 o'clock on
here.

MR. PATRICK: Okay. So 9:30 Monday?

THE COURT: Monday at 9:30.
MR. PATRICK: The last thing and | talked o the State about this. { have a

DNA expert, his only available day would be Monday the 20" to testify. So even if
we might have to call him out of order --

MS. WECKERLY: That's fine.

THE COURT: |don't care.

MS. WECKERLY: That's fine. So 9:30, Monday.

MS. LUZAICH: Can we jusl get a tentative schedute for your hours?

THE COURT: We start at 9:30. Tuesday, | vacated all of my civil except two

cases so we should be ready by 8 o'clock on Tuesday.

MS, WECKERLY: Okay. Thank you.
THE COURT: Waednesday, 9:30. And we stop at 4:30, of course. Thursday,

probabiy 1 o'clock, unless 1 can find a courtroom. And Friday, we could actually
stayt at 8 o'clock, but that would difficult for --

MS. LUZAICH: No, no, na, ho, no.

MR. PATRICK: That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Lisa

MS. WECKERLY: No.

THE COURT: Lisa can't even get up that early.
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MS. LUZAICH: {'ve got kids, I'm up, I'm just not here.

THE COURT: l've got kids, I'm up too. So.

MS. LUZAICH: Can we just start at 9 on Friday?

THE COURT: Yeah. Friday, we'll start at 9.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you. And if the Court remembers, the second week,
my daughter -- you were going to give me Waednesday morning off, the 22"

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you.

THE COURT: Or you -- maybe you don't have to be here.

MS. LUZAICH: No, no, no.

MR. SCHIECK: Judge, can you sit for one second? Just -- please. Thank
you very much, Your Honor,

[Pause in proceading]

MS. LUZAICH: Judge, do you bring in 65 in Monday and 65 Tuesday?

THE COURT: [Nods head yes.]

MS. LUZAICH: Oh. Oh, okay.

MR. PATRICK: Oh, do we want to put together a - I've got a list of ours that
we would excuse for cause without even bringing them in.

Ch, ckay. Never mind.

MS. LUZAICH: But there were two jurors that you had copies of one --

MR. PATRICK: Right. Right.

MS. LUZAICH: - had travel plans and the other something.

THE CLERK: | have copies right here. | have one for -- one for each side.

MS. LUZAICH: Thank you,
[Cotlaquy among counsel]
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MS. LUZAICH: | had two jurors that were going, like, ptanning on being out of
town on Monday. Like, are they aiready excused? One was leaving town on the
12® No?

THE COURT: | haven't excused anybody.

MS. LUZAICH: Okay. |just-- | had one that was leaving town on the 12",

THE COURT: | gave you the two documents that | got. That's all I've done.

| haven't --
MS. WECKERLY: Okay. We -- if we have a list of agreed-upon people -

THE COURT: Yeah.
MS. WECKERLY: -- and we get it to the Court this afterncon.

THE COURT: Yep.
[Colioguy among Counsel]

MR. PATRICK: Judge, I'm sarry, this case has been negofiated.

MS. LUZAICH: Oh, okay.

THE COURT: Okay. What's the negotiation?

MR. PATRICK: Could we have five minutes to go over -

THE COURT: Yep.

MR. PATRICK: -- the Guilty Plea Agreement with Mr. Flowers, please.

THE COURT: Yep. I'i just sit right here. You tell me when you're ready. Or
do you want me to leave?

MS. LUZAICH: F'm going to give Kathy the Amended Indictment --

THE COURT: If you want me to leave, 'l leave.

MS. LUZAICH: -- just so that she has il.

THE CLERK; | won't file it yet.
[Pause in proceedings]
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MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, may | approach and have these filed in open
court?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE CLERK: Amended Indictment.

MR. PATRICK: Oh, for me?

THE CLERK: One for you and one for the State.

THE COURT: This is C216032, State of Nevada versus Norman Flowers. Is
this resolved?

MR. PATRICK: Itis, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Negotiations.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor, today Mr. Flowers is going to plead guilty
pursuant to North Carolina v Alford on Counts 1 and 2 of the Amended Indictment
charging first-degree murder. The parties have stipulated to sentence on Count 1 of
life in prison without the possibility of parole. On Count 2, the parties have
stipulated to a sentence of life in prison with the possibility of parole. Count 2 to run
concurrent to Count 1. And Count 1 to run consecutive to C228755.

MS. WECKERLY: That's correct, Your Honor. itil be the sentence in this
case that'll run consecutive to C228755. And the Defendant --

MR. PATRICK: Oh, I'm sorry.

MS. WECKERLY: Go ahead.

MR. PATRICK: Okay. And the Defendant is withdrawing his appeal under
Supreme Court Case Numbers 53158 and 55739.

THE COURT: Is that your understanding of the negotiations, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Do you accept those negotiations after discussing the matter
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fully with your three atlorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You read, write, and understand English?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Your've had a chance to read through your Guilty Plea
Agreement and your Amended indictment, discuss that fully with your attorney and
you understand them?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: The Amended Indictment indicates on or about May 34 2005,

that you committed Count 1, first-degree murder where you did then and there
willfully, feloniously, without authority of law with premeditation, deliberation, or with
malice aforethought to kil a victim, a human being, Marilee Coote, by manual
strangulation with hands and/or an unknown object. Defendant being responsible
on one or more of the following principles or criminal liability: (1) by killing Marilee
Coote with premedilation, deliberatiqn. and malice aforethought, and/or (2) by kKilling
Marilee Coote during the perpetralion or attempled perpetration of a sexual assault
or burglary.

And Count 2, first-degree murder, did then and there wiltfully,
feloniously, without authority of law and with premeditation and deliberation with
malice aforethought kil Rena Gonzales, a human being, by manual strangulation.
Defendant being responsible under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability to wit: (1) by killing Rena Gonzales with premeditation, deliberation,
and malice aforethought; and/or Number 2, by killing Rena Gonzales during the
perpetration or altempted perpetration of sexual assault and/or burglary,

You've read that and discussed that fully with your attomney. And do
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you have any questions for the Court about your Amended Indictment?

pursuant lo the Alford plea; is that correct?

evidence as the State’s going to present it and you believe that they will meet their
burden of proof and to avoid a harsher sentence on one of more counts, you've

agreed to enter this plea; is that cofrect?

Apartments some -

they prove, not that you're pleading guilty to it, but you think that's what she would

prove.

completely nude. Inside of her beily button were ashes from burned incense. The

skin between her upper thighs and pubic area was burned. Her apartment was

THE DEFENDANT: No.
THE COURT: Now, it's my understanding that you wish to plead gulity

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.
THE COURT: That means you're not admitting guilt, but you have heard the

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: What would the State prove?
MS. WECKERLY: Your Honor, on May the 3" at 2005 at the Silver Pines

THE COURT: Listen to what she says because i'm going to ask if that's what

MS. WECKERLY: Silver Pines Apartment employees discovered the body of

Maritee Coote lying in her living room. She was lying face up and she was

locked, but her purse and keys were missing. Inside of her washing machine and

inside of her bathtub, police found personal photos, bills, and identification belonging|

to Ms. Coote. The items appeared to have gone through a wash cycle.
At autopsy, the doctor concluded that she died as a result of

strangulation. He also noted tearing In the area of her labia and anal area

-10-
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consistent with the sexual assault that was antemortem. Ms. Coote also had
contusions on her forearms and upper arms.

Another lady who was at the apartment complex that day is named
Juanita Curry. Between 7 and 10 a.m,, Mr, Flowers was seen by Ms. Curry and had
several conversations with her. Ms. Curry had a conversation with Mr. Flowers
about police and paramedics going in and out of Coote’s apartment, and Curry
described Mr. Flowers as turning away and avoiding looking at the police when they
come -- when they came down the stairs. In his interactions with Juanita Curry, he
repeatedly asked to use her phone, he came back and asked for water, he asked to
use her bathroom. She agreed with al! these requests, but she always stepped out
of her apartment when he stepped inside of it. Duting their final encounter, he
commented that the potice made her -- made him nervous. And he aiso tried to kiss
her when he separated from her.

Ms. Cuiry observed Mr. Flowers in the area of the doorway to another
lady’s apartment at the compiex that moming and that's a woman by the name of
Rena Gonzales. At 4 c'clock that aftemoon, Rena Gonzales's two school-aged
daughters returned home and found their mother on her knees leaning across her
bed in the master bedroom. Her apartmeni was completely clean but there was a
broken plastic hairpiece in the doorway and one of her shoes indicaling there was
an area struggle near the doorway.

A black phone cord and black lanyard were around the neck of Rena
Gonzalez. She was dressed in shorts which were slightly pulled down and then the
pair or the matching hairclip from the one in the doorway was found on her head.

At autopsy. Dr. Simms noted extensive bruising to her right breast, her

right arm, her right leg. He concluded that she died as a result of stranguiation. He

11-
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also noted tearing to her vaginal and anal area.

It was a woman who lived in the apartment complex by the name of
Mawusi Ragland whe Mr. Flowers had socialized with in the past. e called her on
the evening that the two homicidas were discovered and Ms. Ragland brought up
the fact that the two women had been killed and that she was acquainted with them
and Mr. Flowers commented as to Rena Gonzales: | didn’t kiil her.

Mr. Flowers' DNA was found in the vaginal swabs taken from Marilee
Coote at autopsy. His DNA was also found in the piece of carpet under which -- or,
well, that Marilee Coote was lying upon. And his DNA was spacifically found in the

area where her legs and pubic area would have been.
The Siate also had evidence that three months earlier, and this was

admitted as a result of a bad acts motion, Mr. Quarles -- or Mr. Flowers’ DNA was
found in the vaginal area of a young woman 18 years old by the name of Sheila
Quarles. Ms. Quarles actually had two DNA samples found in her when she was
killed and she also had indications of sexual assaull. The one DNA source was an
individual by the name of George Brass, but he had an alibi and had checked into
work by the time of the murder. The other individual whose DNA was identified was
Mr. Flowers. And the police later leamed through investigation that Mr. Flowers was

acquainted with Sheila Quarles because he had dated her mother.
As a result of these facts as to the instant case, the State would be able

10 establish as to Marilee Coote, charges of murder, sexual assault, burglary, and
robbery. As to Rena Gonzales, the charges, pacause of the tanyard, would be
murder with a deadly weapon, sexual assauit, burglary, and robbery.

THE COURT: This happened in Clark County, Nevada.

MS. WECKERLY: That's correct.

A2-
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i THE COURT: Is that your understanding what the State probably would
2 {lprove at trial?
3 THE DEFENDANT: | can't really say.
4 THE COURT: Do you have any quarrel with them proving that at trial?
5 [ You've talked to your attorneys.
6 THE DEFENDANT: All } know, Your Horor, is | want to do this, but -
7 THE COURT: Ask -- talk -
8 [Colloquy between Counsel and Defendant]
9 THE DEFENDANT: One of their cases alone forensic evidence says { wasn't
10 |{even in -
1" THE COURT: All right.
12 THE DEFENDANT: -- the resident.
13 THE COURT: Aliright. | understand. You've talked to your altorneys. The

14 || State had to give an offer of proof what they would prove at trial. And you're going
15 ||to plead guilty not because you are guilty because they would prove that at trial and
16 {lyou're trying to avoid a harsher penalty, is that right?

17 [Colioguy between Counsel and Defendant]

18 MR. SCHIECK: | think the question is: Do you understand that that's the
18 {evidence that the State would intend to present at trial?

20 THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

21 THE COURT: Okay. Both parties stipulate to a sentence of life in prison

22 {{without the possibility of parole on Count 1. Parties stipulate to a sentence of life in
23 |{ prison with the possibility of parole in Count 2. Count 2 to run concurrent to
24 |lcount 1. Defendant stipulates that the sentence will in this case will tun consacutivej

25 Hto C228755. Defendant agrees to withdraw his appeal in Supreme Court
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Case 53159 and §5759.
Is that your stipulation?
MR. PATRICK: Yes, Your Honar,
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Do you agree to forfeit any and all weapons that of --or
interest in any weapons seized in conjunction with the instant case or cases that will

be dismissed?
| don’t think any weapons were taken, were there?

MS. LUZAICH: That's correct.

THE COURT: Okay. We can probably do this from a P8I from that other
case in a week.

MS, WECKERLY: Yeah, | think that would work.

THE COURT: You understand we could do this from a PS! from that other

case that we wouldn't have to go to another interview with Depariment of Parole and!

Probation.

MR. PATRICK: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Do you want a new PS{?

MR. PATRICK: We don't necessarily want a new PSI, but

MR. SCHIECK: Maybe an amended one. So.

MR. PATRICK: Maybe an amended one, so coukd we have 30 days?

THE COURT: Yes. By pleading guilty pursuant to the Alford decision, it is
your desire to avoid the possibility of being convicted of more offenses or ofa
greater offense if you were to proceed to trial on the original charges and of also
receiving a greater penally. You understand that your decision to plead guilty by

way of the Alford decision does not require you to admit guilt, but is based upon
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your belief that the State would present sufficient evidence at trial that a jury would
return a verdict of greater -- of a greater offense or of more offenses in that to which
you are pieading guilty; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand that as a consequence of your plea of guilty
by way of the Alford decision, the Court must sentence you on each count to a term
of life without the possibility of parole or life with the possibility of parole with parole
eligibility beginning 20 years -- after 20 years has been served. And you understandj
the law requires you to pay an administrative assessment fee.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand, if appropriate, the Court will order you to
make restitution for the victims of the offenses?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand you're not eligible for probation for the offense
to which you are pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You also understand if you haven't -- you probably have
submitted to a blood or saliva test under the direction of P&P to delermine the
genetic markers or secretor status and pay for that.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Probably already done that.

MR. PATRICK: it has been, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You further understand that if more -- well, fm going to follow
the recommendation. But if more than one sentencs is imposed, it's up to the

Judge. I'm telling you by this negotiation, 'm going fo follow the recommendation of

-15-
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the parties.
You understand that information regarding charges not fited, dismissed

charges, or charges to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered
by lhe Judge at sentencing.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've not bean promised or guaranteed any pariicular
sentence by anyone other than what’s been mentioned here in court?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you a citizen of the United States?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: We're going to order a P&P report update of the PSI from
C228755 and ask them to do that within a 30-day period.

By entering your -- and that may include hearsay information that | can
rely on. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: The PSI. By entering a plea of guilty, you understand or
waiving and forever giving up the following privileges: Number 1, the constitutional
privilege against self-incrimination, including the right to refuse to testify at triat in
which event prosecution woutd not be allowed to comment to the jury about your
refusal to testify.

MR, PATRICK: Excuse mae, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sure.

[Colloquy between Counsel and the Defendant]

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Number 2, the constitutional right to a speedy and a public trial
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by an impartial jury free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial {o the defense at
which trial you would be entitied to the assistance of an attomey either appointed or
retained. At trial, the State would bear the burden of proof beyond a reasonable
doubt each element of the offenses charged. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT. Yes.

THE COURT: You're giving up the constitutional right to confront and cross-
examine any witnesses who would testify against you, constitutional right to
subpoena witnesses to testify on your behalf, And the right -- excuse me - to testify
in your own defense. You understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You're also giving up the right to appeal your conviction with
the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically
reserved in writing and upon agreed as provided by NRS 174.035.

You understand this means that you are unconditionally waiving your
right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon
reasonable, constitutional, jurisdictional, or other grounds that chalienge the iegality
of these proceedings as stated in NRS 177.051. However, you will remain free to
challenge any conviction through post-conviction remedies including a habeas
corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34. You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You've discussed the elements of the original ¢harges against

you with your atlornays, and you understand the nature of the charges today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You understand the State wouid have to prove each element

of the charge against you at trial beyond a reasonable doubt to convict you?

-17-
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You've discussed with your attomey any possible defenses,
defense sirategies, and circumstances which might be in your favor?

THE DEFENDANT: Y es.

THE COURT: Ali of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and
waiver of rights have been thoroughly explained to you by your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You believe that pleading guilty through the Alford decision
and accepting this plea bargain is in your best interest and that a trial would be

contrary to your best interest?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You signed this Guilty Plea Agreement voluntarily after

consultation with your attorney and you weren't acting under duress or coercion by
virtue of any promises of leniency except for those set forth in this agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You are not under the influence of anything now that would

impair your ability to comprehend or understand this agreement for the proceeding

surrounding your entry of plea?
THE DEFENDANT. No.
THE COURT: Your attorneys have answered all your queslions regarding

this Guilly Plea Agreement and its consequences to your satisfaction and you're
satisfied with their services?

THE DEFENDANT: Can you say that again, please?
THE COURT: Your attorney has answered all of your questions regarding

this Guilty Plea Agreement that 'm showing you that you signed to your satisfaction
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and its consequences to your satisfaction and your satisfied with the services

praovided by all three of your attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. I'll accept the plea. We'li set it down for sentence.
We'll ask the Department of Parole and Probation to do an updated PS|.

Thank you, Mr. Flowers. Thank you, Counsel.

MR. SCHIECK: Your Honor, 1 believe we'li also be contacting the department
to point out some areas --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHIECK: -- that we think need to be corrected. So that --

THE COURT: Under that new case that's come down.

MR. SCHIECK: -- we'll copy ~-

THE COURT: Al right.

MR. SCHIECK: We'li copy the DA on that.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SCHIECK: Right. Because we can't correct it [ater.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. SCHIECK: And also we need to rescind the order of remand, he can go
ahead and go back up to the -

THE COURT: And go back to the prison. Okay. Thank you.

THE CLERK: That's July 13", 8a.m.

MR. PATRICK: You know, I'm going to be out of the jurisdiction. Can we do
it, like, two weeks past that?

THE CLERK: Two weeks past?

MR. PATRICK: Please. Or no, just one week.

18-
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THE CLERK: One week?
MR. PATRICK: Yeah.
THE DEFENDANT: Two weeks is fine,
THE CLERK: July 20"
MR. PATRICK: July 20™? That's fine.
THE CLERK: A Wednesday.

THE COURT. Thank you.

MR. PATRICK: Very good.
[Proceeding concluded at 10:22 a.m ]

ATTEST: 1 hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the audlo/visual

recording in the above-entitied case.

Ji¥ Jacoby’

Court Recorder
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
~Vs- CASE NO: 05C216032

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, )
aka Norman Harold Flowers I1L, #1179383 DEPT NO: VIl

Defendant.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW AND ORDER

DATE OF HEARING: MAY 9, 2016
TIME OF HEARING: 8:00 AM

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable DOUGLAS E.
SMITH, District Judge, on the 9th day of May, 2016, the Petitioner being present, represented
by KAREN ANN CONNOLLY, Esq., the Respondent being represented by STEVEN B,
WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, by and through PAMELA C. WECKERLY,
Chief Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs,
transcripts, argument:'s of counsel, and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court
makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

On October 14, 2005, NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka Norman Harold Flowers III
(hereinafter “Defendant™) was charged by way of Indictment with the following: COUNT 1
— Burglary (Felony — NRS 205.060); COUNT 2 — Murder (Felony — NRS 200.010, 200.030);
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COUNTS 3 & 4 — Sexual Assault (Felony — NRS 200.364, 200.366); COUNT 5 — Robbery
(Felony — NRS 200.380); COUNT 6 — Burglary while in Possession of a Deadly Weapon
(Felony — NRS 205.060, 193.165); COUNT 7 — Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony
— NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165); COUNTS 8 & 9 — Sexual Assault with Use of a Deadly
Weapon (Felony — NRS 200.364, 200.366, 193.165); COUNTS 10 & 11 - Unlawful Sexual
Penetration of Dead Human Body (Felony — NRS 201.450); and COUNT 12 — Robbery with
Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony — NRS 200.380, 193.165). On November 8, 2005, the State
filed a Notice of Intent to Seck the Death Penalty. The Notice of Intent to Seck the Death
Penalty was amended on February 4, 2009.

Various motions and oppositions to those motions were filed between February 5, 2009,
and June 9, 2011. On June 10, 2011, pursuant to negotiations, the State filed an Amended
Indictment charging Defendant with two counts of First Degree Murder (Category A Felony
— NRS 200.010, 200.030). Defendant pleaded guilty pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement
and North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160 (1970), to the charges as contained
in the Amended Indictment. Under the terms of the Guilty Plea Agreement, Defendant agreed
to withdraw his appeals in Nevada Supreme Court Case Nos. 53159 and 55759, and the parties
stipulated to a sentence of Life Without the Possibility of Parole for COUNT 1 and Life With
the Possibility of Parole for COUNT 2, concurrent with COUNT 1 but consecutive to District
Court Case Number C228755. The Guilty Plea Agreement was filed on that same day.

On June 28, 2011, Defendant filed a Motion to Withdraw Plea. The State filed an
Opposition on July 11, 2011, On July 27, 2011, this Court denied Defendant’s Motion. The
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were filed on August 23, 2011.

On August 18, 2011, Defendant was adjudged guilty and sentenced to the Nevada
Department of Corrections as follows: COUNT 1 — Life without the possibility of parole;
COUNT 2 - Life with the possibility of parole after 25 years, concurrent with COUNT 1;
sentence to run consecutive to Case Number C228755. The Judgment of Conviction was filed
on September 20, 2011.

I

2
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Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on September 20, 2011, The Nevada Supreme
Court affirmed the Judgment of Conviction on December 13, 2012. See Order of Affirmance,
Docket No. 59250, Remittitur issued on January 9, 2013.

On Qctober 17, 2013, Defendant filed a Motion for Appointment of Attorney. The
State filed a Response on November 7, 2013. On November 18, 2013, this Court appointed
Karen A. Connolly, Esq. to represent Defendant in post-conviction proceedings. On January
13, 2014, Ms. Connolly appeared before this Court and confirmed as counsel. At that same
time, the State stated that the one-year time period in which to file a post-conviction habeas
petition had lapsed. This Court stated that the matter was continued for appointment of counsel
and declared the matter stayed. The State then reserved the right to assert any applicable
procedural bars should Defendant file a post-conviction habeas petition.

On January 15, 2014, through counsel, Defendant filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State filed its Response and Motion to Dismiss on February
14, 2014. On August 21, 2014, a Stipulation and Order to Extend Briefing Schedule and
Continue Status Check Hearing was filed. On February 4, 2015, Defendant filed a Motion
Requesting an Additional 120-days to File Supplement to Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-
Conviction). This Court granted the Motion. On June 15, 2015, Defendant filed another
Motion Requesting Additional Time and was granted more time. On February 1, 2016,
Defendant filed a Motion Requesting Additional Time to File Supplemental Writ of Habeas
Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State filed its Opposition on February 3, 2016. On February
17, 2016, this Court granted the Motion and set a briefing schedule.

On February 12, 2016, Defendant filed the Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State’s Response was filed on March 24, 2016. Defendant
filed a Reply on May 2, 2016. On May 9, 2016, this Court heard arguments on the Petition,
the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order follow.

/]
i
i
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L DEFENDANT’S ATTEMPT TO INCORPORATE BY REFERENCE
?f‘glsj(lgl)ENTS FROM CASE NUMBER C228755 FAILS PURSUANT TO NRS

The Court finds that Defendant attempted to incorporate by reference arguments made
in another of his cases, Case Number C228755 despite the requircments set forth in NRS
34.735. Supplement, pp. 2-3. Specifically, NRS 34,735(5) states “{yjou must include all
grounds or claims for relief”” Therefore, the Court finds that incorporation by reference is
insufficient to present a claim and as such Defendant has waived these arguments. NRS
34.735(5); Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 647, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001).

IL. CHALLENGES TO DEFENDANT’S PLEA

The Court finds that Defendant’s allegation that the State did not comply with its
obligation under the plea negotiations to contact the Inspector General to request Defendant
be placed at Lovelock is belied by the record. Supplement, pp. 3-4; Hargrove v. State, 100
Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (“bare” and ‘“naked” allegations are not sufficient to

warrant post-conviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record). Defendant
himself included an email from Chicf Deputy District Attorney Lisa Luzaich, showing that she
complied with the negotiations. Supplement to Petition, Exhibit 7. Accordingly, the Court
finds Defendant is not entitled to post-conviction relief on this claim.

The Court also finds that Defendant’s allegation that this Court improperly interjected
itself into plea ncgotiations in violation of State and Federal law is belied by the record.
Supplement, pp. 4-8; Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 503, 686 P.2d at 225. The Nevada Supreme Court
noted on direct appeal that “[t]he record also demonstrates that Flowers entered his plea
voluntarily and was not coerced into taking the plea by counsel’s actions or statements by the
district court.” Order of Affirmance, Docket No. 59250, p. 2 (December 13, 2014) (emphasis
added). The Court further finds that Defendant attempted to challenge his plea through these
allegations when he had already attacked his plea by filing a motion to withdraw plea and on
direct appeal. The Court finds these allegations should have been raised on direct appeal, and
Defendant’s failure 10 do so resulted in these claims being waived. NRS 34.724(2)(a);
Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), disapproved on other

4
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grounds, Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999). Therefore, the Court finds that

| Defendant’s allegations are belied by the record and are also waived.

III. DEFENDANT’S PETITION IS TIME BARRED UNDER NRS 34.726
The Court finds Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is time barred. The

| pertinent part of NRS 34.726(1) states: “[u]nless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition

that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed . . . within 1 year after the
Supreme Court issues its remittitur.” Under this statute, good cause for delay exists if the
petitioner can demonstrate that the delay is not the fault of the petitioner and that dismissal of
the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

The Supreme Court of Nevada has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its
plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873-74,34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). Moreover,
the one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is
strictly applied. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Nevada

| Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed 2 days late despite evidence presented

by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the notice within

| the one-year time limit. Gonzales reiterated the importance of filing the petition within the

mandatory deadline, absent a showing of “good cause” for the delay in filing. 118 Nev. at

| 590, 53 P.3d at 902.

In the present case, the order affirming Defendant’s Judgment of Conviction was filed
on December 13, 2012, and remittitur issued on January 9, 2013. Thercfore, the Court finds
that the one-year time bar began to run from January 9, 2013. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev.
1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-34 (1998). Defendant’s petition was filed on January 15,
2014, 6 days past the mandatory onc yecar deadline. As such, the Court finds Defendant’s

claims are denied because of Defendant’s tardy filing.

IV. DEFENDANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE AND
PREJUDICE

A showing of good cause and prejudice may overcome the procedural bars. Under NRS
34.726(1), a petitioner must demonstrate: (a) “[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner”
5
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and (b) that the petitioner will be “unduly prejudice(d]” if the petition is dismissed as untimely.
Under the first requirement, “a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense
prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules.” Hathaway v.
State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (citing Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860,
886-87, 34 P.3d 519, 537 (2001); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946
(1994); Passanisi v. Director, Dep’t Prisons, 105 Nev. 63, 66, 765 P.2d 72, 74 (1989). “An
impediment external to the defense may be demonstrated by a showing ‘that the factual or
legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that some interference by
officials, made compliance impracticable.”” ]d. (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S, 478,
488, 106 S. Ct. 2639 (1986) (citations and quotations omitted)). Clearly, any delay in filing
of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a). Once a petitioner has
established cause, he must show actual prejudice resulting from the errors of which he
complains, i.c., “a petitioner must show that errors in the proceedings underlying the judgment
worked to the petitioner’s actual and substantial disadvantage.” State v. Huebler, 128 Nev.
., ,275P.3d 91, 94-95 (2012) (citing Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 95960, 860
P.2d 710, 716 (1993)).

The Court finds that Defendant failed to address his procedural default. The original
Petition erroneously contended that Defendant filed in a timely fashion. Petition, p. 3. The

Supplement is silent on the issue. This failure is construed as an admission that the procedural
bars apply. DCR 13(2); EDCR 3.20(b); Polk v. State, 126 Nev. __, _ , 233 P.3d 357, 360-
61 (2010).

The Court finds Defendant’s allegation that the State violated the plea agreement fails
as good cause. As stated above, this allegation is belied by the record. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at
503, 686 P.2d at 225. The terms of the negotiation were that the State would “make some
efforts or would at least talk to the Inspector General’s Office and ask that Defendant be placed

in Lovelock.” Transcript of Proceedings Sentencing COUNTS | & 2 Plea Status Check:

Hearing Defendant’s Pro Per Motion to Withdraw Plea, p. 38 (August 18, 2011). Defendant
himself included an email from Chief Deputy District Attorney Lisa Luzaich, showing that she

6
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complied with the negotiations. Supplement, Exhibit 7. The email clearly states that the State
“called to ask that he be housed at Lovelock.” 1d. Thus, the Court finds this allegation is
belied by the record and therefore Defendant’s claim does not establish good cause and
prejudice.

The Court also finds that Defendant’s allegation that the Court interjected itself into the
plea negotiations does not establish good cause and prejudice. First, Defendant was unable to
establish an impediment external to the defense that precluded raising this issue during the
litigation of the motion to withdraw guilty plea, direct appeal, or in a timely filed petition
Second, Defendant failed to establish prejudice since the underlying claim is meritless. As
stated above, the Nevada Supreme Court noted in Defendant’s direct appeal that “[t]he record
also demonstrates that Flowers entered his plea voluntarily and was not coerced into taking
the plea by counsel’s actions or statements by the district cowrt.” Order of Affirmance, Docket
No. 59250, p. 2 (December 13, 2014) (emphasis added). Third, the Court was merely
executing its duty to create a record that Defendant understood the information being presented
to him. Therefore Defendant’s allegation under Cripps v. State, 122 Nev. 764, 770-71, 137
P.3d 1187, 1191 (2006), is belied because the Court did not “participate in plea negotiations|.]”
This Court made it clear to Defendant that it was his privilege to decide whether or not to enter
into the offered negotiations but the Court needed to be sure that Defendant understood he was
facing the death penalty if he continued to trial. Transcript of Proceedings Calendar Call, June
10, 2011, pp. 3-4. Thus, the Court finds that Defendant is unable to establish good cause and
prejudice through this allegation,

Lastly, the Court finds that Defendant’s allegation that trial and appellate counsel were

ineffective for failing to challenge Defendant’s plea on the basis of attorney statements and
judicial involvement in the negotiations does not establish good cause and/or prejudice.
Supplement, pp. 8-10. The Court finds that Defendant cannot establish good cause because
these arguments could have been raised in a timely filed petition. Defendant did not attempt
to explain the delay in raising these claims and as such the Court finds they are defaulted.

State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker}, 121 Nev. 225, 235, 112 P.3d 1070, 1077 (2005)
7
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i (“A claim of ineffective assistance of counse]l may aiso excuse a procedural default if counsel
| was so ineffective as to violate the Sixth Amendment. However, in order to constitute
| adequate cause, the ineffective assistance of counsel claim itself must not be procedurally
defaulted. In other Words, a petitioner must demonstrate cause for raising the ineffective
| assistance of counsel claim in an untimely fashion™). Further, the Court finds Defendant is
unable to establish prejudice because the underlying claims are meritless. As stated above, the
judicial involvement claim fails, and the Nevada Supreme Court already held that the
statement by counsel was not deficient or prejudicial. Order of Affirmance, Docket No. 59250,
p. 2 (December 13, 2014). As a result, the Court finds Defendant is unable to overcome the
strict time bar. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 873-74, 34 P.3d at 528. Therefore, Defendant’s

petition is denied.
ORDER
THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief
shall be, and it is, hereby denied.

DATED this_‘“Z¢” day of June, 2016.

STEVEN B. WOLEESON
Clark Coun Districk Attorn:
Nevada Baf #001565
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that on the 1st day of June, 2016, I e-mailed a copy of the foregoing proposed

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order to:

KAREN ANN CONNOLLY, Esq.
advocate{@kconnollylawyers.com

BY

Se or the District Attorney’s Office
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1.  Attorney of Record for Appellant: Karen A. Connolly
2. Publicly-held Companies Associated: None
3.  Law Firm(s) Appearing in the Court(s) Below: Karen A. Connolly,
Ltd.
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I, STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
Defendant was convicted of First Degree Murder on August 18, 2011. On

September 20, 2011, a Judgment of Conviction was entered. Defendant filed a
Notice of Appeal on September 20, 2011, The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the
Judgment of Conviction on December 13, 2012. On October 17, 2013, Defendant
filed a Motion for Appointment of Attorney. The State filed a Response on
November 7, 2013, On November 18, 2013, this Court appointed Karen A. Connolly
to represent Defendant in post-conviction proceedings. On January 13, 2014,
undersigned appeared before this Court and confirmed as counsel. On January 15,
2014, Defendant filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The
State filed its Response and Motion to Dismiss on February 14, 2014. On February
12, 2016, Defendant filed the Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(Post-Conviction). The State's Response was filed on March 24, 2016. Defendant
filed a Reply on May 2, 2016. On May 9, 2016, this Court heard arguments on the
Petition. Notice of Entry of Finding of fact, Conclusions of Law was filed on June
30, 2016. Notice of Appeal was filed on July 27, 2016.
II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17, this case will be presumptively assigned to the court of

appeals.
11 PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue is whether or not the district court erred in denying Flower’s Petition
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of Writ of Habeas corpus (Post Conviction) and in the alternative denying Flowers
and evidentiary hearing.
1V, STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 14, 2005, NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, aka Norman Harold
Flowers was charged by way of Indictment as follows: COUNT 1 -5 Burglary
(Felony- NRS 205.060); COUNT 2- Murder (Felony- NRS 200.010, 200.030);
COUNTS 3 & 4- Sexual Assault (Felony- NRS 200.364, 200.366); COUNT 5 -
Robbery (Felony- NRS 200.380), COUNT 6- Burglary while in Possession of a
Deadly Weapon (Felony- NRS 205.060, 193.165), COUNT 7 - Murder With Use of
a Deadly Weapon (Felony- NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165); COUNTS 8 & 9-
Sexual Assault With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony -NRS 200.364, 200.366,
193.165); COUNTS 10 & 11- Unlawful Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body
(Felony - NRS 201.450); and COUNT Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon
(Felony- NRS 200.380, 193.165). Appellant was arraigned and plead not guilty on
October, 18, 2005. The State filed Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on
November 8, 2005 and an Amended Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty on
February 4, 2009. The victims in the instant case were Marillee Coote and Rena
Gonzales.

On December 26, 2006, the State sought to consolidate the instant matter with
District Court Case Number 6C228755 in which Flowers was charged with the

murder of Sheila Quarles. The motion was denied. Flowers proceeded to trial in that
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capital case and was convicted of first degree murder, sexual assault, burglary and not
guilty of robbery. He was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole on the
murder charge. He appealed that conviction. The appeal was dismissed as part and
parcel of the negotiations in the instant matter.

On June 10, 2011, pursuant to negotiations, the State filed an Amended
Indictment charging Defendant with two counts of First Degree Murder (Category
A Felony NRS 200.010, 200.030). Defendant pleaded guilty pursuant to the Guilty
Plea Agreement and North Carolina v, Alford, 400 U.S. 25,91 S. Ct. 160 (1970), to
the charges as contained in the Amended Indictment. Under the terms of the Guilty
Plea Agreement, Defendant agreed to withdraw all appeals in Nevada Supreme Court
Case Flowers v, State, Docket # 53159 (Direct appeal-Judgeent of Conviction) and
Flowers v. State, Docket# 5579 (Appeal from Denial of Request for a New Trial),
and the parties stipulated to a sentence of Life Without the Possibility of Parole for
COUNT 1 and Life With the Possibility of Parole for COUNT 2, concurrent with
COUNT 1 but consecutive to District Court Case Number C228755. The Guilty Plea
Agreement was filed on that same day.

On June 28, 2011, Defendant filed a Motion to Withdraw Plea. The State filed
an Opposition on July 11, 2011. On July 27, 2011, the district court denied the
motion. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were filed on August
23,2011. On August 18,2011, Defendant was adjudged guilty and sentenced to the
Nevada Department of Corrections as follows: COUNT 1 - Life without the
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possibility of parole; COUNT 2 - Life with the possibility of parole after 25 years,
concurrent with COUNT 1;sentence to run consecutive to Case Number C228755.
The Judgment of Conviction was filed on September 20, 2011.

Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on September 20, 2011. The Nevada
Supreme Court affirmed the Judgment of Conviction on December 13, 2012. See
Order of Affirmance, Docket No. 59250. Remittitur issued on January 9, 2013,

On October 17, 2013, Defendant filed a Motion for Appointment of Attomney.
The State filed a Response on November 7, 2013. On November 18, 2013, counsel
was appointed to represent Defendant on post-conviction proceedings. On January
13, 2014, undersigned confirmed as counsel. At that same time, the State stated that
the one-year time period in which to file a post-conviction habeas petition had lapsed.
This Court stated that the matter was continued for appointment of counsel and
declared the matter stayed. The State then reserved the right to assert any applicable
procedural bars should Defendant file a post-conviction habeas petition. On January
15, 2014, through counsel, Defendant filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
(Post-Conviction). The State filed its Response and Motion to Dismiss on February
14,2014. On February 12, 2016, Defendant filed the Supplement to Petition for Writ
of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State's Response was filed on March 24,
2016. Defendant filed a Reply on May 2, 2016. On May 9, 2016, this Court heard
arguments on the Petition. Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law

was filed on June 30, 2016. Notice of Appeal was filed on July 27, 2016.
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A% EN

1. FINDINGS AND ORDERS IN DEFENDANT'S COMPANION CASE

ARE LAW OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT TO THE INSTANT

MATTER

On December 26, 2006, the State sought to consolidate the instant matter with
District Court Case Number 6C228755 in which Defendant was charged with the
murder of Sheila Quarles. Appellant’s Appendix (hereinafter AA) II AA, 424-436.
The motion was denied. Defendant proceeded to trial in the capital case and was
convicted of first degree murder, sexual assault, burglary and not guilty of robbery.
He was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole on the murder charge. 11
AA 669-670. Defendant unsuccessfully appealed that conviction. Defendant
pursued post conviction relief in that case contemporaneously with proceedings in
this matter. The appeal from denial of post conviction relief was recently denied in
that case'. Per negotiations in the instant matter, Defendant agreed to dismiss all
appeals in that companion case. 1I AA 469-477. Since that case was disposed of in
the plea negotiations, subsequent proceedings in that matter are inextricably
intertwined with this matter. Consequently, Defendant sought to adopt and

incorporate pleadings filed in the companion case in the district court below in the

! State v, Flowers, Docket # 68140
5
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Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.? V AA 955-1098. In the Findings
of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (hereinafter FOFCL) the district court
indicated that it was denying the request citing NRS 34.735(5) and ruled that
incorporating by reference was insufficient and therefore, Defendant has waived
those arguments. VAA 1117.

Ordersin case number C228755/Docket# 68140 are law of the case and relevant
to this proceeding. Hall v, State, 91 Nev. 314, 315,535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975)

2. TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE IN

FAILING TO ADDRESS THE DISTRICT COURT’S IMPROPER

INTERFERENCE WITH PLEA NEGOTIATIONS

As aresult of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel. Defendant’s
Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process, to counsel, and to
present a defense, as well as his correlative rights under the Nevada Constitution,
article 1, section 8 were violated. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of
tnial counsel, “a defendant must demonstrate (1) that counsel's performance was
deficient and (2) that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense.”
Strickland v, Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697 (1984); McConnell v, State, 125 Nev.
243, 212 P.3d 307, 313 (2009). A defendant is entitled to relief where "counsel's

errors were so serious as to depnive the defendant of a fair tnal, a tnial whose result

2 At that time, Defendant was pursuing post conviction relief in the

companion case, it had been briefed but no rulings entered.

6
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is rehiable.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064.

The district court found that the court’s interjection into plea negotiations should
have ben addressed on direct appeal. V AA 1117. It was not due to ineffective
assistance of counsel. James Oronoz’ was appointed to represent Defendant on his
motion to withdraw his guilty plea which took place prior to sentencing. [V AA 762.
He failed to address the court’s improper intervention in plea negotiations or the
comments of counsel which added to the coerciveness of the plea. Consequently,
Defendant did not receive effective assistance of counsel on his motion to withdraw
his guilty plea in violation of his constitutional rights. Likewise, the issue was not
addressed on direct appeal due to ineffective assistance of counsel.

(A) THE DISTRICT COURT’S INTERVENTION IN PLEA

NEGOTIATIONS RENDERED THE GUILTY PLEA INVOLUNTARY

AS A MATER OF LAW

In order to be valid, a guilty plea must be voluntary and intelligent, and cannot
be the result of threats, misrepresentations, or improper promises. Hill v. Lockhart,
474 U.S. 52 (1985);, Mabry v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 504 (1984). Although the district
court entertained a motion to withdraw guilty plea, it was not addressed in the context
of the court’s improper intervention in plea negotiations which render the plea

involuntary as a matter of law. This was raised for the first time on post conviction

3 Mr. Oronoz represented Flowers in the companion case on appeal from

the denmial of post conviction relief which was recently denied by this

court. Flowers v, State, Docket # 68140
7
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relief.

The Ninth Circuit has ruled that where comments by the district court regarding
plea negotiations are all on the record, there is no factual dispute regarding their
nature and a challenge thereto is a question of law. United States v. Bruce 976 F.2d
552 (9" Cir. 1992)

At the start of the hearing which took place at calender call, the parties advised
the court they believed the case had been negotiated. According to defense counsel,
there was one small “sticking point,” Defendant wanted to speak with his mother. He
was permitted to do so. The judge left the bench, prosecutors left and Flowers spoke
with his mother privately in the court room. He did so for over an hour (8:40AM until
9:46 AM). When court resumed, defense counsel indicated that the matter was not
resolved. This promoted the district court to respond as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. Then we’ll go to Trial. You understand that you are
looking at the death penalty.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes

THE COURT: Twice. And once we walk out the door there’s no negotiation,

we’re going to trial.

THE DEFENDANT: I want it resolved, but they want me to waive my fight-

THE COURT: There won’t-

THE DEFENDANT: - my appeal on—

THE COURT: There won’t be another negotiation. Do you
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understand? No chance,

THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive-

THE COURT: None.

THE DEFENDANT: They want me to waive my right, Your Honor, on another
case.

THE COURT: You know what? That’s up to you.

MR . PATRICK: Norman, there’s no chance you’re going to get any action on
that direct appeal. Okay?

THE COURT: There is no chance that you’re going to get a better offer
than today.

THE DEFENDANT: If I'm not going to get no action on direct appeal, why do
I have to waive that right, then? It shouldn’t matter.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PATRICK: Okay

THE COURT: That’s your privilege to—I"m not-I don’t have a dog in the fight,
I don’t care one way or another, I’'m here for the next three weeks anyway. I’ve
got it set for trial. But understand, you have to take a decision that you’ made.
Do you understand ? No deals once I leave this room. III AA 479-781.
[Emphasis added]

After the colloquy between the court and Defendant, he changed his mind. II1

AA 485. The cause and affect is readily apparent: Defendant pled guilty because of
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pressure from the district court. As a matter of law, the district court improperly
pressured Defendant into taking a deal thereby rendering his guilty plea involuntary.

Under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c) the court cannot participate in
plea discussions. In federal practice there is a bright line prohibition of judicial
participation in plea negotiations. United Sates v. Bruce, 976 F.2d 552 (9" Cir. 1992).
Bruce holds that if the judge pressures the defendant into taking a deal, it is improper
judicial intervention and the defendant is entitled to have the plea set aside.

In Cripps v, State, 122 Nev. 1187, 137 P.3d 1187 (2006) the Nevada Supreme
Court adopted the federal bright-line rule prohibiting the district court from
participating in plea negotiations between the State and the defense. The single
exception carved out by the Nevada Supreme Court permits the district court to
indicate whether or not it is inclined to follow the parties' sentencing
recommendation.’ Id.

Judicial involvement in the plea negotiations may constitute harmless error.” Id.
Cripps. See also NRS 178.598 (“Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which
does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded.””). When conducting harmless
error review, the focus is on “whether the district court's [erroneous participation]
may reasonably be viewed as having been a material factor affecting the defendant’s

decision to plead guilty.” The defendant carries the burden of establishing that any

Sentencing in state and federal court differs significantly in that in
federal court, sentencing is dictated by the Federal Sentencing
Guidelines.

10
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reversible error occurred.” Id. Cnpps.

There is no doubt the district court acted improperly under Cripps. The district
court’s actions were material in Defendant’s decision to plead guilty. The court
improperly interjected itself into the negotiations warning Defendant that he was
facing the death penalty and that he had been offered the best deal he would get,’ that
there was no chance of a better deal and that there would be no further plea
negotiations even though no such representations had not been made by the State.
The district court’s intervention was matenal in Defendant’s decision to plead guilty.

But for the court’s improper interjection into plea negotiations, Defendant
would not have pled guilty. The error is not harmless because it is clear from the
record that the district court's participation was a material factor in Defendant’s
decision to plead guilty. See, Cripps, 122 Nev. at 771, 137 P.3d at 1192,

A plea agreement is a contract between the prosecutor and the defendant,
United States v, Streich, 560 F.3d 926, 929-30 (9th Cir.2009), with the district court
acting only as “a neutral arbiter of the cnminal prosecution,” United States v, Bruce,
076 F.2d 552, 557 (9th Cir.1992).

The risk of coercion is especially high where a district court pressures a
defendant for an immediate change of his or her plea. In United States v. Anderson,
993 F.2d 1435 (9* Cir. 1993), the Ninth Circuit noted:

i The offer had not yet been placed on the record so the court was not even

aware of the terms of the offer when this statement was made.

11
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The judge's opening pronouncement that he would not after [the
date of the hearing] accept a plea to fewer than all thirty counts of the
indictment and admonishment that the government was not to “make any
deals,” aside from constituting improper judicial intervention in the plea
negotiation process, ... meant that Anderson had to decide immediately
whether he wished to change the not guilty plea he had just entered to
one of guilty.... [I]t is difficult to imagine how Anderson could not have

1 L

felt pressured when confronted with the court's “now or never” tactics at
the ... hearing. Id.

This is precisely what occurred in the case at bar; the district court told
Defendant three times that there would be no other negotiation. II AA 480-481. The
court repeated this statement three times and stated “No deals once I leave this
room.”

The risk of coercion is even higher when a defendant must immediately respond
to the judge’s intervention on in plea negotiations. Uni v z-
Melchor, 648 F.3d 959, (9" Cir, 2011) The circuit court in Anderson determined that
the judge placed unreasonable restraints on Anderson’s decision making process and
that those constraints rendered his guilty plea involuntary. Likewise in the instant
matter, the distnict court’s intervention caused Defendant to plead guilty and rendered
s Alford plea involuntary. This is evident by the fact that within days of his plea,
Defendant moved to withdraw the plea. The plea was entered on June 10, 2011.
Defendant filed a motion to withdraw plea and to dismiss counsel on June 28, 2011.
[ AA 498-516.

Not only were the comments from the bench improper, likewise, the comment

from defense counsel on the merits of Defendants’ appeal in the companion case as

12
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follows were improper and added to the coercive nature of the plea:

MR. PATRICK: "Norman, there’s no chance you’re going to get any action on

the direct appeal. Okay?” III AA 481.

While the court was interjecting itself into pleanegotiations, counsel announced
that Defendant had no chance on his appeal in the companion case thereby applying
additional pressure which only worsened the already coercive situation.

Defendant attempted to withdraw his plea. The same judge who accepted the
plea canvass denied that motion. Under the circumstances, counsel was ineffective
in failing to request that a different judge hear the motion.

In the FOFCL it is stated that Defendant’s allegation that district court
improperly interfered in proceedings in this regard is belied by the record. V AA
1118. To the contrary, the record clearly and unambiguous demonstrates the court’s
improper intervention into plea negotiations.

The FOFCL also indicates that on appeal, this court found that Defendant
entered his plea knowingly and voluntanly and that it was not coerced by either
counsel’s acttons or statements by the court. V AA 1117. However, it was not
argued on appeal that the district court improperly interjected itself into plea
negotiations. Rather, the focus in term of comments by the court was the plea
colloquy.

(B) THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED THE SEPARATION OF

POWERS DOCTRINE IN DICTATING THAT THERE WOULD BE NO

13
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MORE PLEA OFFERS

Whether or not a plea is offered is the province of the State. The district court
may accept or reject a plea, but it cannot tell the State and Defense that no more pleas
will be forthcoming. The judge is obligated to consider seriously any proffered plea.
Sturrock v. State, 95 Nev. 938,941, 604 P.2d 341, 343 (1979), Sparks.v. State 104
Nev. 316,759 P.2d 180 (1988) v. Fi icial Distri I ForN
County, 113 Nev. 435,935 P.2d 1148(1997)

Whether or not a plea offer i1s extended and the type and nature of the offer is
an executive function. Sentencing is a judicial function. Separation of powers
requires that the judiciary remain independent of executive affairs.
Prosecutors--representatives of the executive branch of the government--are not mere
servants of the judiciary. The tradition of prosecutorial independence is recognized
by case law . Bordenkircher v. Haves, 434 U.S. 357(1978)

The judiciary may not invade the legitimate function of the prosecutor. Charging
decisions are primarily a matter of discretion for the prosecution, which represents
the executive branch of government. Bordenkircher v, Haves, 434 U.S. 357(1978).
In United States v. Cox, 342 F.2d 167, 171 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 381 U.S. 935, 85
S.Ct. 1767, 14 L Ed.2d 700 (1965), the court stated: It follows, as an incident of the
constitutional separation of powers, that the courts are not to interfere with the free
exercise of the discretionary powers of the attomeys of the United States in their

control over criminal prosecutions.  Article 3, section 1 of the Constitution of the
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State of Nevada also provides for similar separation of powers. The nature and type
of plea offered is a function of the executive branch - the prosecutor, not the judicial
branch-the judge. The district court violated the separation of powers doctrine and
violated Defendant’s constitutional right under United States Constitution,
Amendment X1V, and Nevada Constitution, Article 1, Sec. 8. Appellate counsel was
ineffective in failing to raise this mentorious 1ssue on appeal.

(C) THE COURT’S INTERVENTION IN PLEA NEGOTIATIONS

SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED IN THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW

GUILTY PLEA AND THE APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF SAID

MOTION

The FOFCL pointed out that the allegations should have been raised on direct
appeal and Defendant’s failure to do so constitutes a waiver. As stated, the issue was
not raised due to ineffective assistance of counsel.

Not only was counsel ineffective in failing to raise the issue before the district
court, but also in failing to raise the issue on appeal. To state a valid claim of
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate that
counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and
resulting prejudice such that any omitted issue would have had a reasonable
probability of success on appeal. Kirksey v, State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d
1102, 1113-14 (1996) Prior counsel failed to address the coercive nature of the guilty

plea in light of the district court’s impermissible intervention. Additionally, given
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the conduct of the district court, counsel should have filed a motion requesting that
the motion be heard by a different judge given the nature of the claim.

3. AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED

ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER OR NOT THE STATE HAD

COMPLIED WITH THE TERMS OF THE GUILTY PLEA

A post-conviction habeas petitioner ““is entitled to a post-conviction evidentiary
hearing when he asserts claims supported by specific factual allegations not belied
by the record that, if true, would entitle him to relief.”” McConnell v, State, 125 Nev.
Adv. Rep. 24, 212 P.3d at 314 (quoting Mann v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 353,46 P.3d
1228, 1229 (2002)) The district court erred in finding that the state had not violated
the terms of the plea agreement without first having an evidentiary hearing.

As part of the plea negotiations, the State agreed to contact the Inspector
General to request that Defendant be placed at Lovelock. V AA 1075. Defendant
does not believe that the State complied thereby violating the terms of the plea
negotiations. Therefore, he requested an evidentiary hearing which was denied.

During post conviction proceedings, Defendant obtained an ematl from the State
which addressed inquiries made by the State in regards to Flowers’ placement at
Lovelock. Notwithstanding said email, the district court should have granted an
evidentiary hearing. If the State did not contact the Inspector General’s Office to
request that Flowers be placed at Lovlelock, such failure would be a matenal

violation of the terms of plea negotiations. Flowers requested permission to conduct
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discovery in regard to the issue. V AA 964 His request was denied.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "when a plea rests in any
significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said
to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.”
Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971). When the state enters a plea
agreement, it is held to the most meticulous standards of both promise and
performance. Citti v, State, 107 Nev. 89,91, 807 P.2d 724, 726 (1991), Statz v. State,
113 Nev. 987, 944 P.2d 813 (1997). Violation of either the terms or the spirit of the
agreement requires reversal. Id.

The court erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

4. DEFENDANT PROVED GOOD CAUSE AND PREJUDICE

SUFFICIENT TO OVERCOME THE PROCEDURAL BAR

Defendant’s petition was not timely filed. The petition was six (6) days late.
Nevada's statutory post-conviction scheme places procedural limits on the filing of
a post-conviction petition for a wrnit of habeas corpus. NRS 34.726(1) provides for
dismissal of a post-conviction habeas petition if it is not filed within one year after
this court issues its remittitur from a timely direct appeal from the judgment of
conviction or, if no appeal has been prosecuted, within one year from the entry of the
judgment of conviction. To overcome statutory procedural bars, a petitioner must
demonstrate “good cause” for the default and actual prejudice. NRS 34.726(1); NRS

34.810(3). “Good cause™ has been defined as a “substantial reason ... that affords a
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legal excuse.” Hathaway v, State, 119 Nev. 248,252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) Brown
v, McDaniel, 130 Nev. Adv. Opn. 60, 331 P,3d 867 (2014).

To show good cause for delay under NRS 34.726(1), a petitioner must
demonstrate two things: “[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner” and that
the petitioner will be “unduly prejudice[d]” if the petition is dismissed as untimely.
Under the first requirement, “a petitioner must show that an impediment external to
the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default
rules.” Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248,252 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (citing Lozada
v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994)). “‘An impediment external to
the defense may be demonstrated by a showing ‘that the factual or legal basis for a
claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that some interference by officials,
made compliance impracticable.” ” Id. The district court determined that there was
not good cause to overcome the procedural bar. 1T AA 376-381

In the FFCOL it is erroneously stated that Defendant did not address the issue
of an untimely petition. This is incorrect. On October 13, 2013, Flowers filed a
motion requesting appointment of counsel to represent him on post conviction relief.
Therein Defendant made it clear and that he intended to pursue post conviction relief
and requested appointed counsel. The State opposed the request. A heaning was held
on November 13, 2014. Defendant was not present. The court in exercising its
discretionary power under NRS 34.750 determined that counsel should be appointed

and the matter case was referred to office of appointed counsel. On November 18,
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2013. The matter was continued to January 13, 2014, for appointment of counsel. V
AA 1141-1144, On that day, undersigned accepted the appointment. V AA 952-954.
The petition was filed two days later on January 15, 2014.

NRS 34.750 states in pertinent part as follows:

Appointment of counsel for indigents; pleadings supplemental to petition;

response to motion to dismiss.

1. A petition may allege that the petitioner is unable to pay the costs of

the proceedings or to employ counsel. If the court is satisfied that the

allegation of indigency i1s true and the petition is not dismissed

surnimarily, the court may appoint counsel to represent the petitioner. In
making its determination, the court may consider, among other things, the
severity of the consequences facing the petitioner and whether:

(a) The issues presented are difficult;

(b) The petitioner is unable to comprehend the proceedings; or

(c) Counsel 1s necessary to proceed with discovery.

The court determined that counsel should be appointed on November 18,2013
Counsel was not confirmed until January 13, 2014. At that same time, the State
stated that the one-year time period in which to file a post-conviction habeas petition
had lapsed. The district court stated that the matter had been continued for
appointment of counsel and declared the matter stayed. The State then reserved the
night to assert any applicable procedural bars should Defendant file a post-conviction
habeas petition. On January 15, 2014, through counsel, Defendant filed his Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State filed its Response and
Motion to Dismiss on February 14, 2014. On February 12, 2016, Defendant filed the
Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The State's

Response was filed on March 24, 2016. Therein the State argued that the petition was
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procedurally barred. Defendant addressed that argument in the Defendant filed a
Reply on May 2, 2016.

The distnct court determined that counsel should be appointed. There was a lag
in time between the court determining that counsel should be appointed and counsel
accepting the appointment. This was not a delay which can be attributed to
Defendant. Consequently, Defendant has shown good cause sufficient to overcome
the procedural bar.

Even though Defendant has proven he has good cause to overcome the
procedural bar, he must still show prejudice. Actual prejudice requires a petitioner
to show error that caused him actual and substantial disadvantage. Hogan v. Warden,
109 Nev. 952,960,860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993). As discussed herein above, Defendatn
has valid claims on which he should prevail. He was prejudiced by counsel’s failure
to raise them previously.

5. THE DISCOVERY SHOULD HAVE BEEN PERMITTED IN
REGARD TO THE ALLEGED BRADY VIOLATION

In the district court, Defendant asserted that disgraced former LVMPD crime
lab technician Kristina Paulette was involved in the DNA forensic examination of
evidence in the case. She was fired after she was caught covenng up a mistake made
during the process of analyzing DNA. V AA 964. Defendant requested permission
to conduct discovery in regard to Paulette’s involvement in the instant matter. That

Paullette was disgraced and fired for improprieties was not disputed by the State
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whose only response was that Defendant was not entitled to conduct discovery
pursuant to NRS 34.780 which states as follows.

1. The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, to the extent that they are not

inconsistent with NRS 34.360 to 34.830, inclusive, apply to proceedings

pursuant to NRS 34.720 to 34830, inclusive.

2. After the writ has been granted and a date set for the hearing, a party

may invoke any method of discovery available under the Nevada Rules

of Civil Procedure if, and to the extent that, the judge or justice for good

cause shown grants leave to do so.

3. A request for discovery which is available under the Nevada Rules of

Civil Procedure must be accompanied by a statement of the

interrogatories or requests for admission and a list of any documents

sought to be produced.

Defendant asserted that if there were issues with Paulette’s involvement in the
instant matter which were not disclosed pre-plea, the state committed a Brady
violation. The State never addressed the concemed about Paulette directly. This
failure this should be considered to be a confession of error. Polk v. State, 126 Nev.
Adv. Op. No. 19 (Nev. 2010)

United States v, Brady 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its progeny require a prosecutor
to disclose evidence favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to
guilt or to punishment. "[T]here are three components to a Brady violation: the
evidence at issue is favorable to the accused; the evidence was withheld by the state,
either intentionally or inadvertently; and prejudice ensued, i.e., the evidence was
material. To raise a claim in an untimely and/or successive post-conviction habeas

petition, the petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that

demonstrate good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural bars. Good cause
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and prejudice parallel the second and third Brady components; in other words,
proving that the State withheld the evidence generally establishes cause, and proving
that the withheld evidence was material establishes prejudice.

The State is required under Brady v, Marvland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) to disclose
material exculpatory evidence within its possession to the defense before the entry
of a guilty plea; a defendant may challenge the validity of the guilty on the basis of
the State's failure to make the required disclosure, but to succeed, the defendant must
demonstrate the three components of a Brady violation in the context of a guilty plea;
as to the materiality component, the test is whether there is a reasonable probability
that but for the State's failure to disclose the evidence the defendant would have
refused to plead guilty and would have gone to tnal. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. Adv.
Op 19(2012). Additionally, failure to tum over exculpatory evidence is good cause
for an untimely petition.

Under the circumstances, the district court erred in not permitting Defendant
to conduct discovery on this issue.

YL CONCLUSION

It is respectfully requested that this Court reverse the order of the district court
denying Defendant’s request for post conviction relief, or, in the altemnative, that the
case be remanded to the district court for an evidentiary hearing on the merits.

DATED this 28" day of February 2017.

s Karen A. Connolly
KAREN A. CONNOLLY
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Nevada Bar No. 4240
KAREN A. CONNOLLY, LTD.
6600 W. Charleston Blvd., Ste. 124
Las Vegas, NV 89146
Tel: (702) 678-6700

ERTIFI E OF RULE 28.2 COMPLIANCE

1. I hereby certify that this Appellant’s Opening Brief complies with the
formatting requirements of NRAP 32(aX4)-(6) because:

[XX] This Appellant’s Opening Brief has been prepared in a proportionally
spaced typeface using WordPerfect X8 in 14 point-Times New Roman, double-
spaced, on 8 2 by 11-inch paper with 1 inch margins on all sides and consecutively
numbered at the bottom.

2. I further certify that this Appellant’s Opening Brief complies with the
page- or type-volume limitations of NRAP 32(a)(7) because, excluding the parts of
the brief exempted by NRAP 32(a)(7)(c), it is:

[XX] Proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or more, and contains
6,810 words.

3. Finally, [recognize that pursuant to NRAP 3C, | am responsible for filing
a timely Appellant’s Opening Brief and that the Supreme Court of Nevada may
sanction any attorney for failing to file a timely Appellant’s Opening Brief, or failing
to raise matenal issues or arguments in the Appellant’s Opening Brief, or failing to

cooperate fully with appellate counsel during the course of the appeal. I therefore

certify that the information provided in this Appellant’s Opening Brief is true and
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complete to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.

DATED this 28" day of February, 2017.

s Karen A. Connolly

KAREN A. CONNOLLY

Nevada Bar No. 4240

KAREN A. CONNOLLY, LTD.
6600 W. Charleston Blvd., Ste. 124
Las Vegas, NV 89146

Tel: (702) 678-6700
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IFICATE OF VICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of KAREN A. CONNOLLY,
LTD., and on the 28" day of February 2017, I served a true and correct copy of the
above and foregoing Appellant’s Opening Brief pursuant to NRCP 5 by the method
or methods indicated below:
® by depositing the same in the U.S. Mail, First Class Mail, with postage fully

prepaid, at Las Vegas, Nevada, addressed as follows:

Steven B. Wolfson Adam Paul Laxalt
District Attorney Attorney General for
OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT the State of Nevada
ATTORNEY, CLARK COUNTY 100 N. Carson St.

200 E. Lewis Ave. Carson City, NV 89701
Las Vegas, NV 89101 Attorneys for Respondent
Attorney for Respondent

Norman K. Flowers, #39975
High Desert State Prison

PO Box 650

Indian Springs, NV 89070-0650
Appelant

® by electronic service via eFlex:

Steven B. Wolfson Adam Paul Laxalt

Clark County District Attorney Attomey General

Attorney for Respondent Attorney for Respondent
/s/ Shaeley Pilayo

An Employee of KAREN A. CONNOLLY, LTD.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS, A/K/A No. 70933
NORMAN HAROLD FLOWERS, III,

Appellant,

V8.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, - F l LED ;
Respondent. L oL12un -

WELIZABETHA BROWN
L aifnrazes

ORDER OF REVERSAL AND REMAND

This is an appeal from an order denying a postconviction
petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark
County; Douglas Smith, Judge.

Appellant Norman Flowers' January 15, 2014, petition was
untimely filed because it was filed 6 days after the one-year deadline
imposed by NRS 34.726(1). To demonstrate good cause to excuse.the
untimely petition, Flowers had to demonstrate that the delay was not his
fault and that dismissal of the petition as untimely would unduly
prejudice him. See NRS 34.726(1)(a), (b). The district court determined
that Flowers had not made the necessary showing.! We disagree.

As to the first requirement, Flowers had to demonstrate that
an impediment external to the defense prevented him from complying
with the procedural requirements. Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252,
71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003). An impediment external to the defense may be

IThe district court also found that Flowers had not addressed the
procedural time bar in his supplemental petition. However, we note that
Flowers addressed the procedural time bar in his reply and at the hearing.
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shown when the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably
available to be presented in a timely petition or when some interference by
officials made compliance impracticable. Id.

The latter circumstance, official interference, is implicated in
this case. Flowers asserts that the petition was filed 2 days after
postconviction counsel confirmed that she would represent Flowers and
that the district court had previously‘ informed counsel she had 60 days to
review the case file before confirming. The district court’s actions in
granting the request for the appointment of counsel before Flowers had
filed a petition and seemingly extending the filing deadline interfered with
the timely filing of the petition. Appointment of counsel through NRS
34.750(1) requires the filing of a petition, and the district court’s decision
to grant a request for counsel without first requiring the filing of a petition
was in error.?2 This error was compounded when at the hearing in
November, which was approximately 6 weeks before the deadline to file,
the district court informed counsel she could have 60 days to review the
file before deciding whether to confirm as counsel. The 60-day period
necessarily meant that any petition filed by counsel would be untimely.
And the district court’s statements at the November hearing ensured that
no petition would be filed before the statutory one-year deadline. Under
these circumstances, we conclude that Flowers had demonstrated that the
6-day-delay was not his fault but instead was attributable to an
impediment external to the defense.

2We note that the district court was twice informed that no petition
had been filed.




We further conclude that the district court erred in concluding
that Flowers failed to demonstrate that he would be unduly prejudiced if
the petition was dismissed as untimely. In this respect, we primarily are
concerned with Flowers' claim that his trial and appellate counsel should
have argued that the district court improperly coerced him into pleading
guilty? in violation of Cripps v. State, 122 Nev. 764, 137 P.3d 1187 (2006).
Flowers, who was facing the death penalty for the murder and sexual
assault of two victims, points to the district court's comments during a
hearing before he decided to plead guilty. At that time, the district court
indicated that Flowers would not receive a better offer and that no further
plea negotiations would be allowed after the hearing. Flowers alleges that
the district court’s statements were material to his decision to enter a
guilty plea and that but for those statements, he would not have entered a
guilty plea. He argues that trial and appellate counsel should have
challenged the guilty plea on that basis.

The district court concluded that this claim had previously
been considered and rejected on direct appeal. We disagree. We
acknowledge that the language in our decision on direct appeal regarding
the district court’s statements was confusing and made it appear as if a
Cripps violation had been considered. However, Flowers never raised a
Cripps violation in his presentence motion to withdraw the guilty plea or
the direct appeal that followed. The context of the statement from the
decision on direct appeal was in reference to the claim that trial counsel

had coerced the guilty plea. Thus, the alleged Cripps violation was not

SFlowers entered his plea pursuant to North Carolina. v. Alford, 400
U.S. 25 (1970).
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hconsidered on direct appeal and may be raised under the umbrella of
ineffective assistance of counsel.

The district court also concluded that the claim lacked merit
because the comments at issue werce only intended to create a record to
ensure Flowers understood he was facing the death penalty if he
proceeded to trial and that trial was to proceed on the next judicial
calendar day. Based upon our review of the record on appeal, we cannot
agree with the district court’s assessment. The record shows that the
district court’s statements about the plea negotiations were not simply
informative as they included a statement fairly characterized as endorsing
the plea offer, “There is no chance that you're going to get a better offer
than today,” and several statements that no plea negotiations would occur
after the hearing, “No deals once I leave this room,” “There won't be
another negotiation. Do you understand? No chance,” and “And once we
walk out the door, there’s no negotiation, we're going to trial.” These
.statements violated Cripps’ bright-line rule precluding judges from
participating in the “formulation or discussions of a potential plea
agreement.”4 122 Nev. at 770, 137 P.3d at 1191. And the statements may
reasonably be viewed as having been a material factor affecting Flowers’
decision to plead guilty considering his decision not to accept the
negotiations before the district court’s statements and the filing of a
presentence motion to withdraw the guilty plea dayas later. See id. at 771,
137 P.3d at 1192 (indicating that improper judicial participation in plea

negotiations may be harmless depending on whether the participation

4There is an exception to this bright-line rule, but it is not applicable
in this case.

App 0477



Surmeme Count
or
NEvADA,

0 t17a <Y

“may reasonably be viewed as having been a material factor affecting the
defendant’s decision to plead guilty”). Based on this record, the
ineffective-assistance claim may have merit. See Hill v. Lockhart, 474
U.8. 52, 58-59 (1985); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102,
1107 (1996). Flowers therefore has made a sufficient showing of prejudice
for purposes of NRS 34.726(1)(b). As such, the district court erred in
denying the petition as untimely.® Accordingly, we

ORDER the judgment of the district court REVERSED AND
REMAND this matter to the district court for proceedings consistent with

/la.u@ui\ .

Hardesty

this order.6

I J.

Parraguirre Stiglich

cc: Hon. Elizabeth Gonzalez, Chief Judge
Hon. Douglas Smith, District Judge
Karen A. Connolly, Ltd.
Attorney General/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney
Eighth District Court Clerk

5In light of our disposition, we decline to consider the parties’
remaining contentions, and we deny the motion to consolidate.

¢In light of the comments made by the district court, we direct that
this case be reassigned to another district court judge.
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